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CORPORATE PROFILE
ANCIIGF

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) (stock code : 1115),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 2011, is
a leading manufacturer of the high-end fast-consuming beverage in Tibet Autonomous Region (“Tibet") in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group’s principal businesses mainly include two segments, i.e. water and beer.

The Group's water business segment covers Mainland China and Hong Kong markets. Located at the Nyaingentanglha
Range at an altitude of 5,100 meters, the water source of the "Tibet 5100 Glacial Spring Water” (“5100 Glacial
Water"”) of the Group is a unique glacial spring with rich and balanced mineral content, which has not only been
recognized as a quality mineral water source in China, but was also awarded as the best mineral water at a global bottled
water congress. The Group has developed diversified packages and specifications for the 5100 series, ranging from
the Diamond Series, the Blue Cap Series to the Family Soft Barrelled Water Series equipped with innovatively-designed
vacuum water dispenser. Meanwhile, “Gesang Spring”, a brand with a state of bliss and its natural water which is also
exploited from the quality water source in Tibet, has been launched by the Group to cater for the different customer’
needs. In addition, another natural water branded “Easy Joy e Zhuoma Spring” produced by an associate jointly
established by the Group and China Petroleum & Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Sinopec”) has also been widely available in the
convenience stores of Sinopec gas stations.

The Group expanded through the acquisition of the beer business in 2013. The ” " produced
and sold by the Group is brewed using high-quality highland barley as raw materials and local pollution-free highland
spring water in Tibet with patented technology. It is also a premium and healthy beverage with Tibet characteristics.

By adhering to the most stringent quality control, we provide the healthiest specialty products with the best quality
globally. With its origin in Tibet, we are committed to being a world-class premium beverage manufacturing enterprise.
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STAKEHOLDERS INFORMATION
EEAER

FINANCIAL CALENDAR ,HJH%EI%

Announcement of 2018 final results 22 March 2019 —E-N\FrF “T-hF
%F“% —B=+=H

Annual General Meeting 2019 (“2019 AGM") 30 May 2019 —E-NERE —E-NE
BAERe([Z8—-hF EA=+A
RRAEXE])

Announcement of 2019 interim results (tentative) August 2019 NMEZE—NEPH —E-NEN\HA
E£E(ETE)

Announcement of 2019 final results (tentative) March 2020 AMEZE—NFEEF —E-FEF=A
E£E(ETE)

2019 AGM —E-NERRAEAE

The 2019 AGM will be held on Thursday, 30 May 2019. The notice of —ZT—NFREAFASHER _T—NFR

the 2019 AGM, which constitutes part of the circular to shareholders of A=+ H(EHM)&R17- —T—NLFREHE
the Company (the “Shareholders”), is sent together with this Annual iﬁA‘ﬁiﬁﬁAﬁxﬁAK AIRE(TRE]H
Report to Shareholders. This Annual Report, the circular to Shareholders, WA ZBRERAFRE —HFETR
the notice of the 2019 AGM and the proxy form are also available on the ~ % o $$$ﬁ RERRBE - —T-NERFE
Stock Exchange's website (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’'s ~ FAZBERNKRERZETRE MR A
website (http://www.twr1115.net). Bk (http://www.hkexnews.hk) J 28 2 7] 484
(http:/Avww.twr1115.net) ©

Summary of 2018 price of Summary of 2018 turnover of the
the shares of the Company shares of the Company
2018F X RARTKRE—E 2018F A RERDEAR—E
o Month High Month Low No. of shares (thousand) o Turnover (HK$ thousand)
ERES ERA&EK RHEE (FR) RREHE (FERr)
HK$
BT
4.50
4.00 3:663:cg 342 3.43 3.50 3.45 198,420 204,998
3.50 557
3.00 375327 3.17 : 44.0%
“©%3.053.06
2.50 2.89 2.86
2.00 2.30 218715
150 1.911.93
1.00
0.50 3 :
0.00 — ‘ —_
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Source: Bloomberg

BRI - 2l

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018



CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM:

STAKEHOLDERS INFORMATION
BEAER

EENERDBFECFR
REFTRRLAE T NFRRAFAGY

Re FRENER :
Latest time to lodge transfer 4:00 p.m. on 23 May 2019 RERBBE X —E-NE
documents for registration PMEZ A TA=+=H
REER s
Closure of register of members 24 May 2019 to BERERR “E-NERAZTWAEE
30 May 2019 BPELFE “Z-NFERA=1A
(both dates inclusive) (BEMABIEERN)
Record date 24 May 2019 Enpod=hai “Z-NFRAZTHEA
MAY 5H 2019
MO TU WE TH FR SA SuU
1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12
13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 @ 25 26
H 6 6 31
O Key Date EZ HEHA
HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE EREROGEZIRBFIE
Union Registrars Limited e B S ELERAR
Suites 3301-04, 33/F. EHLA
Two Chinachem Exchange Square REE3385%

338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong
Phone: +852 2849 3399
Fax: +852 2849 3319

EMRHES 2
33123301-04 F

T % ¢ +852 2849 3399
f2H : +852 2849 3319
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06 PRODUCT PROFILE
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TIBET TIANDI GREEN BEVERAGE
DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ARXZERRERERATF

FARLEY

PREMIUM TIBET STRATEGIC COOPERATION
GREEN BARLEY BEER PRODUCT LHASA BEER
Sin AR BRSFERUERE
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TIBET GLACIER MINERAL WATER CO., LTD.
PRk [BRKERA T

UNIQUENESS ¢ PURITY

PREMIUM GLACIAL HIGH QUALITY NATURAL
MINERAL WATER DRINKING WATER
k) 1R K BERARAK
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEFR

THE BOARD (THE “BOARD") OF DIRECTORS
(THE “DIRECTORS"”) OF THE COMPANY

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YUE Zhigiang

Mr. LIU Chen

Mr. WONG Hak Kun

Ms. HAN Linyou

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (Chairman)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. LIU Chen

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISORS

DLA Piper Hong Kong
Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum Solicitors

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT
Kredito PR Consultancy Limited

Suites 2602-03, Tower 1

The Harbourfront, Hunghom, Hong Kong
Phone: +852 2248 1188

Fax: +852 2248 1199
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1611-12, 16th Floor, One Island South
2 Heung Yip Road, Wong Chuk Hang
Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong

Phone: +852 2849 3399

Fax: +852 2849 3319

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

WEBSITES TO ACCESS COMPANY INFORMATION*

http://www.twr1115.net
http://www.hkexnews.hk

STOCK CODE ON MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
1115

* contents of the websites do not form part of this Annual Report

CORPORATE INFORMATION
ARER

AMREE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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&
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e EHFERERAR
HALA

HE2E 3385
EMRHES 2
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Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

NAEREF AU *
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http://www.hkexnews.hk
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IFEHRESE

0
=

ON BEHALF OF
THE GROUP, | AM
PLEASED TO PRESENT
THE GROUP’S ANNUAL
REPORT FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(THE "REPORTING PERIOD").

EANERRETEBRARE

BEZZE-\F+ZA=+-—

AEFE ([REHF]) 22
FERE-

BUSINESS REVIEW XEOE

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group was RMB881 million, — RIREHRE @ KREBHNLERAARES 81

representing a decrease of 5% compared with RMB932 million of the same 870 REFRBARBK932BL - TH

period last year. Profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB318 5% o RNA R #A AELFEARE3. 1862

million, representing an increase of 1% compared with RMB315 million — J© @ BEFREBAEEFEARE3 15ET

of the same period last year. Earnings per share was RMB12.68 cents (31 EH1% - BRAEFIAR®K12.685 (=%

December 2017: RMB12.32 cents). —tE+_A=+—8: BREMARSE
12.329)
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China’s gross domestic product rose by 6.6% from a year earlier in 2018,
its slowest pace in 28 years. The fast-moving consumer goods sector
maintained a steady but moderately slower growth, seeing an increase of
4.3% in sales revenue in 2018. Against the backdrop of a complicated
and volatile economic environment, in which in particular higher priced
premium product has suffered, we have managed to consolidate our core
business by leveraging on the brand strength of “5100 Glacial Water”,
our flagship product, and strategically engaged in the development of the
natural drinking water industry in Tibet in order to be well-positioned for a
broader industrial layout and more long-term business development.

PROSPECT

Under the Planning of the Development of Natural Drinking Water Industry
in Tibet Autonomous Region 2015-2025, Tibet will become an important
source of natural drinking water in China. The Tibetan natural drinking
water industry has been one of the pillar industries which is strongly
supported by the Tibet government. The Group, with its already very
strong position as the leading water group in Tibet, is very well positioned
to benefit from this national development. The Group has been and will
continue to actively involve in the strategic planning and development of
the industry as promoted by the Tibet Government. This includes a further
strengthening of the Group's existing business as well as seeking alliances
with major players in China for the sale and distribution of Tibetan natural
drinking water throughout the country as well as cooperation in other
matters.

Furthermore, like many markets throughout the world the fast-moving
consumer goods market in China is experiencing an increasing demand
from consumers for product innovation, products of a high quality and
products with health benefits. Today nearly half of the revenue from retail
sales of fast-moving consumer goods comes from new product innovations,
products with health benefits including products which are relatively
expensive. It is clear that the Chinese consumer is prepared to pay a higher
price for high quality products but will also, always be looking for “good
value” products, i.e. products of high quality and reasonably priced.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRBES

The Group is in an excellent position to respond to such market trends by
offering premium and high-quality products, all characterized by “purity
and natural” in different price segments including the Group's beer
portfolio which is produced using local Tibetan ingredients. Our premium
5100 Glacial Water, Gesang Spring as well as Easy Joy Zhuoma Spring, in
cooperation with Sinopec together with our beer portfolio are all premium
and high-quality products representing “purity and natural” from the roof
of the world and will continue to be the leading brands of the Group and
drive the Group's future development.

ADVOCATE RESOURCE CONSERVATION AND GIVE BACK TO LOCAL
COMMUNITY

Abiding by a strict quality control system, we attach great importance to
water resource conservation and environment protection and advocate a
"“conservative, environmentally-friendly, natural and healthy” lifestyle. We
provide support to the development of local education services in Tibet
with our “5100 Tibet Education Development Specialty Grant”. Our case
of “industry targeted poverty alleviation” was recorded in a book titled
“Targeted Poverty Alleviation, Chinese Solution” which was considered
and referenced by China’s government departments responsible for lifting
poverty, in recognition of our efforts in poverty alleviation. This marked
another encouraging milestone for us after being featured in the United
Nations Development Programme (UNDP) “2016 China National Human
Development Report”. We have and will always be committed to the “Aid-
Tibet” program by means of industry-driving poverty-alleviation to improve
the living standard of the Tibet people and further develop the economy
and culture in the surrounding areas of Tibet.

STRENGTHEN INTERNAL CONTROL AND FOCUS ON RISK
PREVENTION

The Group will keep strict control over risks and strengthen internal control
to drive the development of the Company in a sustainable and healthy

manner.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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CONCLUSION

During 2018, the Group has had both internal and external challenges
which have resulted in a slowing pace of growth or even growth having
come to a halt. For internal challenges, these have been identified and are
currently being addressed. For external challenges, looking to 2019 and
beyond, China’s economy is expected to develop in a stable and positive
manner and from fast-growing pattern to steady-growing pattern. The
transition to lower growth would have a short-term negative impact on
consumption, especially for higher priced products, however now the
“favorable factor” is gradually coming back and consumers are ready
to follow the above-mentioned trend of “upscaling” to higher quality
products. With its strong and diversified portfolio of water and beer
products, the Group is well positioned to benefit from this development
and is expected to deliver healthy growth in the future.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BHRRE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2018
—E-N\F
Revenue (RMB million) WAANREBET) 881 932 | 5%
Profit attributable to owners RRAGERAEEFE
of the Company (RMB million) (AR¥BET) 318 315 1%
Farnings per share BB
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EAREEARED) 12.68 12.32 3%
Sales Volume (in tonnes) fHES (1) 125,379 128,616 | 3%
Gross profit margin EME 55% 59% | 4% points
BOE
Average selling price per tonne THEWEER
(RMB’000) (AR®TT) 6.2 6.4 3%
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H
2018 2017
—B-N\f —E—tF
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(ARBBEET) JUNEE-Y
Total assets BELE 4,912 4,549 8%
Equity attributable
to owners of the Company ARRIEE AELERE 3,459 3,174 19%
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SERVE THE BEST QUALITY
OUR MISSION WATER TO THE WORLD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018, we continued our endeavors in supplying high-quality products
and premium services to our customers.

In 2018, the market continued to be characterized by strong competition
and a challenging economic environment, which had a general impact
on premium products. The total sales volume and revenue of the Group
slightly decreased by 3% and 5%, respectively, year on year in 2018.

OUR WATER BUSINESS SEGMENT

With fluctuation in the current consumer products market, the revenue of
our water business segment, including 5100 Glacial Water and “Gesang
Spring” products decreased by 5%, in comparison with 2017; however,
the sales volume showed a satisfactory increase of 2%. The co-branding
product,
Natural Water Limited (“Highland Natural Water”), saw a continuing

“Easy Joy ® Zhuoma Spring”, sold by our associate, Tibet Highland
increase in popularity at Easy Joy convenience stores at Sinopec gas
stations throughout China. However, in 2018, due to the increase in the
cost of raw materials and the decrease in government grants income, the
Group's share of net-tax profits of Highland Natural Water decreased by
approximately 25% compared with the same period of last year.

Retail distributors and institutional clients remained our major customer
base. As at 31 December 2018, our water products have been sold
throughout Mainland China and Hong Kong. In Mainland China, we
have been building a relationship with the well-known domestic cinemas,
high end international and domestic chain hotels, e-commerce platforms
represented by Jingdong and Tmall, airlines, large enterprise customers and
home users; in Hong Kong, our products have covered major retailers and
are widely distributed in high-end hotels and tourist and entertainment

venues.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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OUR BEER BUSINESS SEGMENT

Due to the strong competition in the relatively limited market in Tibet, the
sales volume and revenue of our beer products decreased by 8% and 6%,
respectively, in comparison with 2017; however, the gross profit margin
maintained the same satisfactory level as in 2017. In 2018, our beer
products were sold in Tibet mainly through supermarkets, convenience
stores, restaurants and entertainment outlets. Since the second half of
the year, our beer products have begun to be sold outside Tibet through
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”) gas stations. The proportion
of revenue of our beer products within and outside Tibet to the total
revenue of our beer products was 94% and 6%, respectively.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

The total sales of the Group amounted to RMB881 million, representing a
slight decrease of RMB51 million or 5% in comparison with 2017.

The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB540
million, representing a slight decrease of 5% in comparison with 2017.
Among the water products, the revenue of our “5100 Glacial Water”
for 2018 decreased by 9% in comparison with 2017 due to change of
customer mix whereas the revenue of “Gesang Spring” products, despite
the strong competition in the lower priced segment, increased by 3% in
comparison with 2017.

The revenue generated from our beer business segment was RMB341
million, representing a decrease of 6% in comparison with 2017.

SALES VOLUME

The total sales volume of the Group amounted to 125,379 tonnes (2017:
128,616 tonnes) which consisted of 73,412 tonnes (2017: 71,990 tonnes)
from our water products and 51,967 tonnes (2017: 56,626 tonnes) from
our beer products.

The overall sales volume of our water products increased by 2% in
comparison with that of 2017. Sales volume of our “5100 Glacial Water”
for 2018 increased by 3% in comparison with 2017. Sales volume of our
“Gesang Spring” products slightly decreased by 1% in comparison with
2017.

The sales volume of our beer products decreased by 8% in comparison
with that of 2017.

AVERAGE SELLING PRICE

The average selling price fluctuated along with the change in our products
mix. In 2018 and 2017, the average selling price of our water products was
RMB5,852 per tonne and RMB6,463 per tonne, respectively; the average
selling price of our beer products was RMB6,565 per tonne and RMB6,393
per tonne, respectively.
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GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The gross profit margin of the water business segment was 58%, in
comparison with 65% in 2017. Such decrease was mainly attributable to
the increase in the cost of raw materials and the change in clients and
products mix. The gross profit margin of the beer business segment was
49%, which was the same as in 2017. The overall gross profit margin of
the Group was 55%, representing a decrease of 4 percentage points in
comparison with 59% in 2017 but still at a very satisfactory level.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2018, the selling and distribution costs decreased by approximately 3%
to RMB116 million from RMB120 million in 2017, in line with the revenue
fluctuation. The administrative expenses increased by 6% from RMB85
million in 2017 to RMB90 million in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

m

OTHER NET GAINS L fth 7 F 15

Other net gains mainly included gain on disposal of financial assets at i FNSEEIEBRERENAAEEFEER

fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), fair value changes on FVPL and HEHt ABENeREE([UDAEERT

government grants. EEHSHTABENEREE ] Nl -
UARBEFEAEZESFABENSHE
ENAABEZS RBUFHBIBA

\|

Since 1 January 2018, the Group has adopted the updated IFRS 9. The BEZE-\F-A—B& ~EEKAEN
structured financial products and equity investment in GT Express (Beijing) ~ BHBEBRHEREEDF N KNEEBEE
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“GT Express”) purchased by the Group  HIAZEUHSREMMUERERER)E
were accounted for as available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS”) in the past ~ BRMARAR([ERER ORERE
and are now changed to being accounted for as “FVPL", and the gains HBENERATHEESREE(THE
on disposal of FVPL during this period decreased from RMB20 million in  E&BMEE )%E  EFEAIUAAEBE
2017 to RMB18 million in 2018. Fair value gains of the structured financial ;2B EEHH ABZNEMEE |RE -
products and the fair value gain from equity investment in GT Express  MAHIREBUAARBEFEBEEES T AIE
based on the fair value implied by the latest fundraising of GT Express from  #HHEREEMELNFER T — &R
the external investors were RMB9 million in total. In 2017, the changes in AR®200BTTREZT-N\FHAR
the fair value of the structured financial products and equity investments  #1,800B 7T - ZEHELRER AN BEWR
were presented as other comprehensive income in the consolidated HEHEBEENRERENAALEBERK
statement of comprehensive income. =(RESRFNERERLEIINRREEES
BeHE ) HARKIEL £2F
—tF  ZEBESREQNESRRENA
ABEZBUEMEGE WS RELRE2E
Wk o

In 2018, the government grants were RMB41 million (in 2017: RMB25 # - T—N\F KF#HEHRABARE
million). 41008 (EZT—+F: AR¥25008
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SHARE OF NET-TAX PROFITS OF INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR
USING THE EQUITY METHOD

The share of net-tax profits of investments accounted for using the equity
method mainly included the share of net-tax profit of Highland Natural
Water whose ultimate controlling shareholder is Sinopec. In 2018, the
Group acquired further 3.981% equity interests of Highland Natural Water
from its other shareholders thereby increasing the Group’s ownership
proportion in Highland Natural Water to 43.981%. In 2018, the Group's
43.981% equity interests in Highland Natural Water has generated a share
of the net-tax profits of an associate in the amount of RMB21 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 25% in comparison with 2017
due to the above-mentioned reasons in the “Business Review" section.

In 2018, the sales volume of Highland Natural Water was 189,209 tonnes,
representing a decrease of 15% compared with 2017. Revenue was
RMB461 million, same as in the last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

FINANCE NET COSTS B ERFEEHE

In 2018, the Group incurred finance costs of RMB42 million and gained ~ ZA=ZT—/\& KREBTH T AR4,200
finance income of RMB32 million. Compared with 2017, finance costs in ~ BTHBERLER T/\Eﬁ% 200?%77:51
2018 increased by RMB4 million mainly due to (i) the decrease of RMB5 Uiz - BT —+FHE  —T— \FH
million in exchange gains; and (i) the increase of RMB1 million in interest Eﬂ%éﬁﬁﬁiEEDT/\EMZLOO%ﬁ CEEE()
costs on borrowings from banks, which were offset by (i) the decrease  BEHWzRD T ARES00&E T : A (i) ]R1T
of RMB1 million in interest costs on the convertible bond issued by the  EFHFEEREMT AREI1008T I
Company; and (i) the increase of RMB1 million in amount capitalised — BE() AR R FTHATRBESFVFISERR
in assets under construction. Finance income increased by RMB4 million ~ DT ARB100&8L : h()EEIREES
mainly due to the increase of RMB6 million in interest income from AL T AR 1008 K - B 5=
interest-bearing loans to third parties, offset by the decrease of RMB2 AT ARK400&8 T TEmNMEFE=

million in bank interest income. FBERBFENFBBAENT ARE6008
g BEETFBRARL T ARKE 2008 T
FRIE o

INCOME TAX EXPENSE FEHRER

In 2018, the income tax expense was RMB35 million which was decreased rF= /\¢ FERERAAR3,500

by RMB6 million when compared to RMB41 million in 2017, due to the Fﬁ,ﬁ H-T-—t+FHARK4, 100?%731‘@
change of expected income tax rate from 15% to 9% for the years from Lt BT ARB600E L AR EH =

2018 to 2021, resulting in the reversal of deferred income tax which —N\FEZE-—FHEHHEER15% Fj
amounted to RMB5 million. The effective tax rate in 2018 was 10%, the 9% ABERELEMSHAEARES0E
same as in the last year. T ZE-N\FHARMER10% - HEF
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The profit for the year moderately decreased by RMB50 million or 14%
from RMB368 million for 2017 to RMB318 million for 2018. Despite other
net gains increased by RMB23 million compared with 2017, the decrease
in total revenue and the increase in the cost of raw materials led to the
decrease in gross profit of RMB71 million and net impairment losses on
financial assets of RMB2 million, resulting in a decrease in operating profit
of RMB51 million, and a decrease in the profit for the year.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Profit attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately
RMB3 million from RMB315 million for 2017 to RMB318 million for 2018.
The increase was mainly attributable to the Group's acquisition of 35%
interest in Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage Development Co., Ltd. ("Tiandi
Green"”) on 21 December 2017, which then became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2018, investments accounted for using the equity
method amounted to RMB1,575 million, compared to 1,326 million as
at 31 December 2017. The increase was attributable to (i) the Group's
acquisition of 3.981% equity interests of Highland Natural Water with
consideration of RMB119 million; (ii) the Group's acquisition of 25% equity
interests of Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage Packaging Ltd. (“Fudi Packaging”)
from an independent third party with consideration of RMB188 million; (iii)
the share of profits of investments accounted for using the equity method
recognised RMB20 million this year, (iv) dividend payment of RMB32
million of Highland Natural Water; and (v) our associate company, Tibet
5100 Mineral Water Co., Ltd. ("5100 Mineral Water"”, formerly known
as Moutai Group Tibet 5100 Mineral Water Co., Ltd.), since its another
shareholder withdrew from the investment in 2018, this company became
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and was not accounted for
investments accounted for using the equity method, resulting in a decrease
of RMB46 million.

As at 31 December 2018, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB290 million compared to RMB235 million as at 31 December 2017.
The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in trade receivables
from some of the institutional clients.
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The Group maintained regular contact with our major debtors through
meetings and telephone conversations to understand the status of their
operations, their continuing business needs and the ways in which the
Group can improve its services. During such meetings and conversations,
the Group was not aware of any material circumstances indicating any
problem in recovering its trade receivables from its major debtors. In 2018,
the Group recognised an additional provision for impairment loss of trade
receivables of RMB1.80 million (2017: nil) and did not write off provision
recognised in the prior year (2017: wrote off approximately RMB1.96
million provision).

As at 31 December 2018, inventories of the Group amounted to RMB99
million compared to RMB76 million as at 31 December 2017. The increase
was mainly attributable to an increase in raw materials inventories.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

As at 31 December 2018, other receivables and other assets of the
Group amounted to RMB641 million compared to RMB175 million as at
31 December 2017. As at 31 December 2018, other receivables mainly
included the amounts due from third parties amounted to RMB576 million,
the government grants receivables amounted to RMB38 million, and the
amounts due from an associate amounted to RMB23 million. Up to 22
March 2019, the amounts due from third parties of RMB468 million had
been further collected, resulting in a reduction in our other receivables.

Since 1 January 2018, the Group has adopted updated IFRS 9. Structured
financial products and equity investments originally classified as “AFS”
are now classified and accounted for as “FVPL" and “financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income” (“FVOCI”). As at 31
December 2018, FVPL (including both current and non-current) of the
Group amounted to RMB191 million, FVOCI (non-current) amounted to
RMB232 million and as at 31 December 2017, AFS was RMB241 million. As
at 31 December 2018, there was a new addition to FVOCI, since the Group
acquired 9% equity interests of Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.
(“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”).
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As at 31 December 2018, cash and cash equivalents of the Group
decreased by RMB554 million, which was mainly attributable to the cash
outflows for investing activities of approximately RMB744 million and
the cash outflows for financing activities of RMB24 million, offset by
cash inflows from operating activities of RMB212 million and exchange
translation gains on cash and cash equivalents of RMB2 million. The
cash outflows for investing activities of approximately RMB744 million in
2018 mainly included (i) the payment for associates of RMB298 million;
(i) the net cash outflows for purchases and disposals of FVPL and FVOCI
of RMB155 million; (iii) the net cash outflows for loan and repayments
of loans granted to third parties and a related party of RMB396 million;
and (iv) the purchase of property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") of
RMB16 million, offset by (i) the net cash inflows from third parties and a
related party of RMB41 million; (ii) dividend received from an associate of
RMB32 million; (iii) the net cash inflow from the merger of a subsidiary of
RMB46 million; and (iv) cash received from government grants related to
fixed assets of RMB2 million. The cash outflows for financing activities of
RMB24 million in 2018 mainly included (i) cash outflow for the purchase of
minority equity interests of a subsidiary of RMB239 million, (ii) payment of
interest for the convertible bond of RMB27 million; and (iii) payments for
shares purchased for the share award scheme of RMB14 million, offset by
net cash inflows from bank borrowings of RMB256 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

As at 31 December 2018, trade and notes payables of the Group amounted
to RMB79 million compared to RMB93 million as at 31 December 2017.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in the payables for
transportation costs and advertising fees incurred.

As at 31 December 2018, the current portion of deferred revenue and
advances received from customers, and contract liabilities of the Group
amounted to RMB2 million and RMB21 million, respectively, and as at 31
December 2017 were RMB27 million and nil, respectively. Mainly due to
the adoption of IFRS 15, sales of water cards and advances from customers
of the Group, which was accounted for as “Deferred revenue and advances
received from customers” in the past, are now accounted for as “Contract
liabilities"”.

As at 31 December 2018, deferred income tax liabilities of the Group
amounted to RMB15 million compared to RMB19 million as at 31 December
2017. The decrease was mainly due to the change in expected income
tax rate from 15% to 9% for the years from 2018 to 2021, resulting in
reversal of deferred income tax liabilities.

As at 31 December 2018, accrual and other payables of the Group
decreased by RMB193 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) the
settling of the payables for investing in a subsidiary of RMB239 million;
(i) the decrease in salary payables and welfare payables of RMB9 million;
(iii) the decrease in payables for value-added tax and other taxes of
RMB16 million; (iv) net decrease in other accruals and other payables of
approximately RMB1 million; offset by (i) the increase in amounts received
from a third party of RMB49 million; (ii) the increase in payables for
the acquisition of equity shares in an associate of RMB9 million; (iii) the
increase in payables for purchasing of equipment of RMB9 million; and (iv)
the increase in accrued operating expense of RMB5 million.

As at 31 December 2018, the bank borrowings of the Group increased
by RMB270 million, which was mainly attributable to bank borrowings of
the principal loan amounting to RMB706 million and offset by repayment
of bank borrowings of the principal loan amounting to RMB436 million in
2018.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2018, the total number of employees of the Group
was 458 compared to 452 as at 31 December 2017. Relevant staff cost
was RMB83 million in 2018, compared to RMB75 million in 2017. The
fluctuation in staff cost was mainly attributable to the improvement of
business and human resources structure during 2018.

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to
other benefits including social insurance contribution, employee provident
fund schemes and discretionary incentive.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including borrowings and
convertible bond) divided by total capital. The total capital is calculated
as "equity” as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings
(including borrowings and convertible bond). As at 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017, the gearing ratios of the Group were 25.09% and
21.38%, respectively.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 16 December 2015, the Company granted share options to China
Distribution and Logistics Company Ltd. (“China Distribution”), an
independent customer. Under the option agreement, China Distribution
has the right to subscribe up to 25,200,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at a price of HKD3.00 per share within 10 years from 1 January
2016, conditional upon the achievement of the prescribed sale and
performance targets by China Distribution within three years commencing
from 1 January 2016. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash. The Company determined that the
above share option scheme was a sales incentive to its customer — China
Distribution.
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As at 31 December 2018, China Distribution did not meet the vesting
conditions. Accordingly, none of the share options was exercisable and
no debit of revenue was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: nil) relating to the sales incentive under the above share option

scheme.

MERGER AND ACQUISITION

In 2018, the Group acquired 3.981% equity interests of Highland Natural
Water for a cash consideration of RMB119 million, for details please refer
to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements; the Group acquired
25% equity interests of Fudi Packaging for a cash consideration of
RMB188 million; and the Group acquired 9% equity interests of Shannan
Yalaxiangbu for a cash consideration of RMB178 million. Based on the
share purchase agreement, if Shannan Yalaxiangbu could not meet certain
conditions in 2019, the Group has the option to sell the equity shares to
the original shareholder at the same price considering charging reasonable
interests; if such conditions are met, the Group has the option to purchase
additional shares of Shannan Yalaxiangbu based on the same equity price.
These options are treated as derivative financial products by the Group
and recorded as FVPL on the balance sheet. As at 31 December 2018, the
amount of FVPL in relation to the above options was RMB4 million. The
balance of the cash consideration paid amounting to RMB174 million was
treated as FVOCI. The Group acquired 35% equity interests in Tiandi Green
on 21 December 2017 at a cost of RMB536 million (including the relevant
transaction costs of RMB2 million). Upon completion of the transaction,
the Group held 100% equity interests of Tiandi Green and Tiandi Green
became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

In 2018, the Group did not have any disposal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS BEAKRE

In 2018, the Group invested RMB3.6 million in Zhuhai Guangyuan EZZT—N\F AEEKRETAR®3608
Huijin Equity Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) (“Zhuhai TRKEAEESREREES(BRER)
Guangyuan”), which is an equity investment fund and limited ([BRBXE]) EMEAEBEREEHIMAE
partnership in nature. The maximum amount the Group intended to KEHEE - REBBRKRERKENENTRS
invest in Zhuhai Guangyuan is RMB180 million. As at 31 December REAARK180ET R-T—N\F+=
2018, the uninvested portion has been included in the committed A=Z+—H SRREENBPELEBERE
equity investment mentioned in the section “Capital Commitments”  Filt[ B | Z AR K H Ak IR 1%
below. In 2018, the Group acquired PP&E of approximately RMB29  BFh - E_T—)\F AEFBESME -
million (for 2017: approximately RMB42 million). Regarding the future  FERBEHNAARE29008T(ZT—+
development and outlook of the Group, please refer to the section 4 : AR 4,20087T) - BRAEE KK
headed “Outlook” in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section. MERMRE  FEALHANEREN®
HEAMN INEE R RE I EE o

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS =N

As at 31 December 2018, the Group is committed to purchasing PP&E of R-ZT—N\E+-F=+—0 KEBED&A
approximately RMB73 million (31 December 2017: RMB117 million), and  #EBEWY  HELRELAARK7,300
the equity investment of RMB198 million (31 December 2017: RMB13 En(ZE—+tH&+-A=1t—"H: AR
million). TI7TETT) U RAHKRERE AR 1.98
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CHARGES

As at 31 December 2018, a loan with the principal amount of RMB290
million (31 December 2017: nil) of the Group was pledged by 35% of a
subsidiary’s equity interests; a loan with the principal amount of RMB100
million (31 December 2017: nil) of the Group was pledged by 5% of an
associate’s equity interests; a loan with the principal amount of RMB66
million (31 December 2017: RMB66 million) of the Group was secured by
its factory plant with a net book value of RMB31 million (31 December
2017: RMB33 million) and land use rights with a net book value of RMB1
million (31 December 2017: RMB1 million). As at 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017, the convertible bond was secured by the entire issued
shares of Wealth Keeper Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES HREE

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group did not have ~R-ZE—N\FE+-_/F=+—-HBN-_ZT—+F
contingent liabilities. +ZA=+—8 " FEERAEXAREE -
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK HNEE B B

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk REBRPFEFTERR S RIEH AR -
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business AEBETFBHEHELE  KABONEHER
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to SENAREBHAEEN - EAKENRS
foreign exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which ~ EXXZTBUEEHE - AN S BE Y
are primarily denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange  EEK - AHEERFEHHTE  KEFE
rate fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure  EFf REREIMNER R - £-F— )\ FH
to foreign exchange risk. During 2018, management of the Group did not i AEBEBIRERAEA VBT E Y
consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in order to X FUUREIMNERE - B AEASTINER
reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk, because the exposure, after B EERBEBERERBRTK

netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchange risk, was

not significant.
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VALUATION OF PROPERTIES

For the purpose of listing of the Company's shares on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 30 June 2011, a valuation was conducted on the
property interests held by the Group. However, those property interests
were still carried at historical costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any, on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

With reference to the property valuation set out in Note 4 of Appendix II-A
to the Company’s prospectus dated 20 June 2011, a revaluation surplus
of approximately RMB3,947,000 was identified in respect of the property
interests of the Group as at 31 March 2011. If the properties of the Group
were accounted for at that valuation, the depreciation charge per annum
would increase by approximately RMB130,000.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

The annual water production capacity and annual beer production capacity
for the year ended 31 December 2018 are approximately 300,000 tonnes
and 200,000 tonnes, same as for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The Group will assess its production capacity periodically and consider to
increase production capacity to meet the demands of future development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the
continuous compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the “SFO"), the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, (the “Listing Rules”) and
other rules and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also,
as the Group's major subsidiaries are located in PRC, relevant regulatory
requirements on the Group include PRC government policies and
regulations towards the mineral water industry, PRC laws and regulations
on environmental protection, PRC laws on regulation of manufacture and
sales of general food products, PRC taxes, regulation of foreign currency
exchange and dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC laws and
regulations. During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, as far as
the Board is aware, the Group has complied in all material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

The Group continues its commitment to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to
prevent any potential contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities.
We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance
and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or
disposal. The Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the
environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere
to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction,
energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in
the way we operate.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably
remunerated with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies
in accordance with the industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of the employees. Other fringe benefits, training, employee
provident fund and share options, if applicable, are provided by the Group
to solicit/retain loyal employees with the aim to form a professional and
united staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher
levels of achievements.

The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of
our products, and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone
calls to the regular distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is
any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and
immediate remedial action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such
complaint will be studied, analysed and evaluated, and recommendations
will be made for future improvement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERR A

The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
some which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group
operates as well as others that are common to most businesses. The
Board has established a procedure to ensure that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver on its
strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are
identified, reported, monitored and managed on a continuous basis.
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Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely impact consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and a
decline in the market share of our products.

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and
we expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product
from those of our competitors by providing higher quality products
and services at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes
and preferences. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, may have substantially greater financial and other resources
and may be better established in certain markets.

Risks relating to our Business

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that
source are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding
geological environment or contamination of the water source. In
order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers
around our water source and also adhere to a strict quality control
system over all our operations.

As a premium products provider, we rely heavily on the product’s
brand names and our reputation to generate sales. Any event that
generates negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on
the product’s brand names and our reputation, which in turn would
affect our ability to market and sell our products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our
beer products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may
be interrupted or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is
affected, and thus resulting in negative impact on our ability to
transport adequate raw materials to our production facilities and the
transportation of our products from Tibet.

Financial risks

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. Details are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

HPIE K E @R PR ORBUK SR,
10 2 1P9 Y MR 22 T A AR R 1T A
E-WAMKBEGXIFE &ﬁ
MEBARKTH X EMTE -

%%ﬁﬁ@%i%ﬁﬁﬂiiﬁﬁé
UERARBHERNENERBE

%Y
e

B mEE

AEEREEDEES EWWHA'
ﬁ%ﬂﬁ(&%f%ﬂ * _;E//ILE&
AREENZRR)  FERRIRE
HER - AEENERE Eﬁaﬁ.ﬁr%w
SRR RTSH A ERE

K H A EBHM B REE ET%‘JW
ERERE - FBRARGEAPBERE
PHEE3 -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR AT

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING REZRBENFTESREFERE

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock ~ ARARBHR-ZT——FAA=FTHEHX
Exchange on 30 June 2011 with net proceeds from the global offering of ~ FTEiR L™ » REZHREENEREFE
approximately HKD1,472 million (including proceeds from the exercise of  #)&14.72 {88 T (BRI T{F BERE RELH
the over-allotment option and after deducting underwriting commissions ~ BRE#EFEEMABER) R T — =4
and related expenses). On 10 April 2013, the Company resolved to change ~ A+ B ARBERZEREZHREESHER
the usage of the net proceeds from the global offering. Please refer to the — HFHEA®R  FBEAHLHARAIR -_T—=
Company’s announcement dated 10 April 2013 for details. The revised ~ FHA+HZ Q% - BERNFAERIEFE
usage of the net proceeds has been allocated in the following manner: EPREATRE

As at 31 As at 31

December 2018 December 2018

utilized unutilized

net proceeds net proceeds

Revised usage R=ZT—-N\F RZZE-N\F

of net proceeds +=A=+—H +=A=+-—-H
ERENFRE Z2ERAN KERH
REFEREZ SREFE FERETHE
HKD 'Million HKD 'Million HKD 'Million

B &8 B &8 B2
Expand our production capacity by FER R ATIEME K
constructing additional facilities and BRERIMEERR
purchasing additional production equipment DR EERE 133 133 —
Expand our distribution network and REBAZHAEE R
toward promotional activities EEEREE 206 33 173
Mergers and acquisitions that complement ~ FB{FEER AR MINA XK
our existing business MG ff ek 1,092 1,092 —
Working capital and other general REgBE e REM—#
corporate purpose tERE 41 a1 _

1,472 1,299 173
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has utilized net proceeds amounting
to HKD133 million, HKD33 million, HKD 1,092 million and HKD41 million (i)
for expanding our production capacity; (ii) for expanding our distribution
network and toward promotional activities; (iii) for mergers and acquisitions
that complement our existing business; and (iv) as working capital and for
other general corporate purposes, respectively. The remaining net proceeds
were deposited in reputable financial institutions and are intended to be
applied towards expanding distribution network and towards promotional
activities in the coming financial years. The net proceeds were applied and
are to be applied according to the intentions disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 10 April 2013.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2018 (2017:
nil).

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue its diversification strategy on product portfolio,
market-oriented business strategy, internationalization strategy and
further enhance strategic sales channel cooperation in future along with
continuing brand development through a range of marketing activities
for both water and beer products. Additionally, the Group will implement
more innovative and flexible ways to reach the customers, in order to
attract more and more corporate and family customers with an innovative
platform.

Up to now, the natural drinking water industry in Tibet is a pillar industry
strongly supported by the Tibetan government. Our “5100 Glacial Water”,
“Gesang Spring”, and “Easy joy ® Zhuoma Spring” from the cooperation
between our Group and Sinopec have been the leading brands in Tibet's
natural drinking water industry. With more and more big groups getting
involved in selling natural drinking water from Tibet throughout China, it is
expected that such an industry will develop positively. During the reporting
period, the Group has put significant resources into such area, involved in
the integration of the industry chain of the natural drinking water industry,
cooperated with more big groups for the expansion of natural drinking
water industry and will continue to do so in the foreseeable future.
This, combined with consumers’ increasing appetite for high quality and
healthy products makes the Group well positioned to benefit from such
development.
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According to the “Development Plan for Natural Drinking Water Industry
of Tibet Autonomous Region (2015-2025)" formulated by the Tibet
Autonomous Regional Government, the development goal of Tibet's
aquaculture industry is: By 2020, the design capacity of natural drinking
water in the region will reach 5 million tonnes or more, and 10 million
tonnes by 2025. We, as the only overseas listed company in Tibet
Autonomous Region and the leading representative of Tibet's aquatic
industry, the company will usher in stronger support under the great
development policy of Tibet's aquaculture industry, and will shoulder a
greater responsibility. In response to national and government guidelines
and plans, the Group will seize the opportunity to participate in the
development of new water sources and participate in the aquatic product
packaging related industries. In the next few years, with the leadership and
support of the Tibet Autonomous Regional Government, the Group will
further strengthen and consolidate the leading position of Tibet's aquatic
industry and make important contributions to the realization of Tibet's
aquatic industry development plan.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 18 February 2019, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water Co., Ltd. ("Tibet
Glacier Mineral Water”), a subsidiary of the Group, entered into a share
purchase agreement with Tibet Everest Water Cube Co., Ltd ("Tibet
Everest”) to purchase 70% equity shares of Tibet Yuanzheng Packaging
Co. Ltd. (“Tibet Yuanzheng”) at the price of RMB117,600,000. After
the transaction, Tibet Yuanzheng became a subsidiary of the Group. Tibet
Yuanzheng is in the business of manufacturing and distribution of packing
materials, such as cartons and paper boxes. It is a major supplier for the
Group.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 53, was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 29 May 2017 and further appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 18 August 2017. Mr. Wang graduated with
a bachelor of laws degree at Xinjiang University. He obtained a master
degree in engineering at Wuhan University and an EMBA degree at the
South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior
economist of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and
a practitioner of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016.
He also received the "Qualification as an independent director of listed
companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.

From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang has worked in the case management
department of the headquarters and the regional branch office of
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited. During the aforesaid
period, he served as the department head of the case management
department of the headquarters, general manager of the legal affairs
department of the provincial branch office, general manager of the risk
management department of the provincial branch office, general manager
of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the regional
urban finance society and regional banking industry association. In August
2012, Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance department
at the headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank and a member of the law
committee of the Banking Association of Guangdong. From September
2016 to August 2018, Mr. Wang was the director and chief executive
officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund Management Co.,
Ltd.,.

Mr. YUE Zhigiang, aged 54, is an executive Director of our Company
and was appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011. Mr. Yue has over
30 years of experience in mechanical engineering and manufacturing
plant operation, and is the chairman of our major subsidiary company,
Tibet Glacier Mineral Water. Mr. Yue studied at Shandong University of
Technology (LU T2 AZ) (now combined into Shandong University (LI
AE)) in Machinery Production and obtained a bachelor degree. Mr. Yue
was appointed as the director of Tiandi Green on 25 December 2012.
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Mr. LIU Chen, aged 35, is an executive Director and authorized
representative of our Company and was appointed to the Board on 1
March 2011. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liu gained experience in the
areas of law and accounting. Mr. Liu graduated from York University,
Canada, with a bachelor of arts degree. Mr. Liu also studied full-time at
McMaster University, Canada, and obtained a master degree in Business
Administration. Mr. Liu also serves as a director of certain subsidiary
companies of the Group.

Mr. WONG Hak Kun, aged 63, is an executive Director of our Company
and was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2014. He worked for
Carlsberg Brewery prior to joining the Company. He was the Chairman of
Carlsberg China from September 2011 to March 2014. He served as the
chief executive officer of Carlsberg Greater China from March 2007 to
September 2011, and as the deputy managing director of Carlsberg China
from January 2006 to February 2007. During the period between 2002
and 2006, in his capacity as business development director of Carlsberg
China, he led the merger and acquisition team in expanding the company's
production bases in the PRC.

Mr. Wong has more than 35 years of working experience in the fast-
moving consumer goods industry, of which more than 30 years were in
the PRC beverage market. During the said period, he held various senior
management positions in top international beer companies including
Carlsberg and Bass Brewers.

Mr. Wong is currently an adjunct professor of the School of Business of
the Hong Kong Baptist University and the Department of Marketing of
The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong, and an adjunct professor of the
Institute of Public Affairs and Social Innovation of Feng Chia University,
Taiwan.

Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Baptist College (now known
as Hong Kong Baptist University) in 1978 with a Diploma in Business
Management and received a Master of Business Administration degree (full
time) from Bath University, United Kingdom in 2001.
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Ms. HAN Linyou, aged 38, joined the Group as the assistant to the chief
executive officer and legal director of the Company in April 2013, and
was promoted as senior vice president in 2015. Ms. Han was appointed as
executive director of the Company on 29 May 2017 and further appointed
as chairwoman of the risk management committee of the Board on
18 August 2017. Ms. Han currently also serves as a director of certain
subsidiary companies of the Group and the supervisor of Highland Natural
Water, an associate of the Company.

Ms. Han graduated from Peking University in 2002 with a bachelor degree
in laws. She obtained the PRC Legal Professional Qualification Certificate in
2008. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Han worked at Jingtian & Gongcheng
Attorneys at Law from 2002 to 2013 and became a partner of the firm in
2009. Between May 2008 and May 2009, she had seconded as a PRC legal
consultant to Chiu & Partners in Hong Kong. She also served as the PRC
legal counsel for the Group's initial public offering in 2011.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 61, is a non-executive Director of our
Company and was appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011. Ms. Jiang
is also the legal representative of our major subsidiary company, Tibet
Glacier Mineral Water Co. Ltd., and is responsible for the operation,
quality control, equipment and production site management. She has over
31 years of experience in operational management. She graduated from
Xinjiang Vocational University (¥T588% T AX2) with a diploma in Economic
Management, then from Jiangnan University (TEIAZ) (formerly known as
Wuxi University of Light Industry (##5% T X&) with a diploma of Brewery
Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (¥738A2) with a diploma of
Analytical Chemistry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN, aged 65, joined our Group and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of our Company on
1 March 2011. He is the chairman of the nomination committee and also
a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of our
Company. Mr. Madsen was appointed as chairman of the Board on 7 July
2015.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

MWL L 385 RZE—=FMAM
AREE - EETBREIERARRER
BE YR _T-AFHATASRAEE -
BUITR _E—tFRA-tTNBEZRA
KRAGHTEE  TRAZE—+FNATN
AREFESSRRERZESEE - BL
THTETAEERLHBEARNESERA
NEIREE R BRRRAKES -

BUTHR-_TZE_FEENILRKRE  BX
BELEN - FR_ZZTN\FEETHEZAM
BEEEREE - MMAXEER - BZLR
CETCE T -—FRBRBROMEM
BB RRZZEZNERAZEBMER
A RZBEZENFRAZ-_ZTNFRAH
A BIMEAIEBE TR EMER
BT EEFEDEEBB - BART——F
EEAEEERRHEE cPBEEER -

FHTES

ZRULT 615 ARAFRITES
RIE——F=A—HMAESg - 2L
MRARRE 2T BB A B FRK) R
BRARMEERRA  BEEE HERZ
Bl REEREESMERE - REFBBINF
LEEELR REXNNBRIAS &
RGEEIEER - RENTAAZ (A&
HETARE) BERBETIRE: RME
KRB BEDMLEIE -

BIFHTES

BT E 655 R-E——&F=Zf—
HMAKREEWEZEAAR BB IERNIT
EE -FAARAREZESER  NTAE
BEEGURFMEEENE - BEERZ
E-hHF+AtHEZIAEESER -



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERAREEERE

Mr. Madsen worked with the Carlsberg A/S Group for over 22 years. He — ZZEfE %4 B 5= +{A% B (Carlsberg A/
held the positions as the vice president responsible for overseas investments S Group) T B 81822 & » & LB L £ BT
and markets, general manager and managing director of Carlsberg Brewery R t{AEBHELER A rBEH(ASTE
Hong Kong Ltd and Chief Operating Officer of Carlsberg Asia Pte Ltd.  MEERTH) BEEREEHKE - U
Mr. Madsen was the senior vice president of Carlsberg Breweries A/S with Kz +HBEIMNILABRZAE (Carlsberg Asia
responsibility for Asia, among other markets. Mr. Madsen was during  Pte Ltd.)W&EBH - BERELECL A
his tenure as the said senior president also a non-executive chairman, 1AM & AR 2 al(Carlsberg Breweries
non-executive vice chairman or non-executive director in a number of  A/S)SMBNEH  BEEMEREMTS - B
Carlsberg’s subsidiaries in Asia. Mr. Madsen obtained a master degree  HE/(EBLHEIR @ B2 LA NMAERZ TAEPR M
in Law from Copenhagen University, Denmark and later studied Scottish/ ~ BZMFRRIETIENITERE « kT8I E
English Law at the University of Edinburgh, Scotland. FBHFERTES - BRPEEERNETA
IBIRAKEMESET 20 - HERBKERE
TERSBIEEHER,EEER -

Mr. Madsen currently also serves as an independent non-executive director — ZE5LAIRE JRE(E D&O Green Technologies
of D&0O Green Technologies Berhad (stock code: 7204) and Mega First  Berhad (f% 13 X §% : 7204) A Mega First
Corporation Berhad (stock code: 3069), both are companies listed on the Corporation Berhad (% 3 (X 5% : 3069)(#9

Main Board of Bursa Malaysia. RAEEBREREXSGAERLET)OEL
FHMITES -

Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai, aged 64, joined our Group and was appointed ~ ZE&E LA 64 R-_T——F=ZA—
as an independent non-executive Director of our Company on 1 March BMARS B EZERBARRELIERTT
2011. He is the chairman of the remuneration committee and also a EF - HAXARAFWNEZESEFE  NTAS
member of the audit committee and nomination committee of our HZEBENIRLZZEEKE - THAENBE
Company. Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young for many years and ~ ZE ALK SHMAEEMEAEA  REEZ
held key leadership positions in the development of such a firm in China.  {THHEEBETTENBERM - L4
Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England ~ AREEEEBHSFSTMAEE8 R
and Wales, the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, the AFERFABRETSMACSEE - HE
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of ~ HFHF et AEE€E FA A E LR
Certified Public Accountants and the Macau Society of Certified Practising  FIfI @I G €8 - TALBENRH
Accountants. Mr. Lee received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business < BT K2 (Kingston University) (B8 & 5

Studies from Kingston University (formerly known as Kingston Polytechnic) 15 32 T 2z (Kingston Polytechnic)) + & #

in London and further obtained his postgraduate diploma in Business from HEVELEN > TERBNEEREAS

Curtin University of Technology in Australia. (Curtin University of Technology) &7 ¥
AR o
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Mr. Lee currently serves as an independent non-executive director of the — FHEABRBEEZRHRIEEENHE LH

following companies listed in Hong Kong and China: B RAIE B IEITES - 1A -
Name of Listed Company Stock Code Place of Listing
Bl NG R R L E
Chaowei Power Holdings Limited 951 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
BEBNERBRAF] BAEBZAER
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. 1117 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
FERAHRIERER AR BAEBZAER
China Rundong Auto Group Limited 1365 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
FEHRAERERRAR BAEBZAER
GCL New Energy Holdings Limited 451 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
HEMERERARA BAEBZAER
GOME Reta|l Holdmgs leited 493 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
EETEERER AR BAEBZAER
Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd. 2611 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
BERELEFRNARLA BAEBZAER
601211 Shanghai Stock Exchange

FBERR S
NVC Lighting Holding Limited 2222 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
ETRAZKRAR AR BB R ER
West China Cement Limited 2233 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
B E KR AR AR BAEBZAER
WH Group Limited 288 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
BMNEBRARLDA BAEBZAER
Yashili International HoIdings Ltd 1230 Main Board of the Stock Exchange
HENBERZERARA BAEBZAER

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI, aged 51, joined our Group and was appointed  FI A 51 R-_ZE——F=A—H
as an independent non-executive Director of our Company on 1 March  JIAREBEVEZTARRBBYIERNTE
2011. He is the chairman of the audit committee and also a member of $ o ?&ﬁ$@7$ﬁ§§@ir - AR E
Bg REZESREABERZEGK

the remuneration committee, nomination committee and risk management

o W/

°

committee of our Company.

\
A
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Mr. Wei is currently a managing partner of a corporate finance advisory
firm. Mr. Wei served as the chief financial officer from December 2007
to September 2013 of IFM Investments Limited which is a real estate
services company headquartered in Beijing. From 2006 to 2007, Mr. Wei
served as the chief financial officer of a Chinese solar company listed on
Nasdag. From 1999 to 2005, Mr. Wei worked in the internal audit and risk
management functions with the Asia Pacific regional or global coverage
for multinational companies including LG Philips Displays International Ltd.
(2003 to 2005) headquartered in Hong Kong. From 1991 to 1999, Mr.
Wei worked with KPMG LLP and Deloitte Touche LLP in various audit and
consulting roles between the United States of America and China. Mr. Wei
graduated from Central Washington University in 1991, where he received
his bachelor’s degree (cum laude) with a double major in accounting and
business administration. He is also a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. Wei currently also serves as an independent non-executive director of
Nexteer Automotive Group Limited (stock code: 1316), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and as an independent director
of Alpha Peak Leisure Inc., a company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange
(TSX-V: AAP) in Canada. On 15 February 2018, Mr. Wei had resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Wisdom Sports Group (Stock code:
1661), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

So far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors have any
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) with each other.

ESNEREERER

BEEBRA AV BHABRARNESS
BA BAENB-_ZTLFT_AREC
E-=FNAET—FRIERAILROEH
ERMBEARIFM Investments Limited #9817
BE RN _TEREFE_TTLEM B
EREF-—ARRITER EMATE KGR
NAMBBBE - R—NWANFEZTTH
i BREEITEREAMELEEEIK

HBIER 7] -

AERNHZELERERE B

REDENELBNES » RFBETITER

BRAF(LG

Philips Displays International

W) ZEE=FEZ=-FTFTHFMH) RN
—NN—FE-NNNER BFEERE
X Bl AKPMG LLP & Deloitte Touche
LLPEE TR M ELT RERIE - FEER
—NN—FEERZEPREZEARE - L
BEREDSELIBNEIBEHRIEE

B RARAXREMEFMEEEs -

SRR

BEARREIME IEZAEEERA
A(RHORR 1316)NBUFRTEER
Alpha Peak Leisure Inc. (TSX-V: AAP) By ¥& 12
BEE  ZMERRRRG D RIES BB M
ITRETRNEREREEZXSHFTEIER
tH o BEER T \F_AT+HBHT
REREFEB(REAMAERLED - &
MRS 1661) B IERITES ©

BRBIFTA

EXEeNEZHNETEEM

iR BREVE X% RKBRHLEXR/

AR RE R

BEHEKERERLAT | £ 2018




TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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The Board now presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year under review.,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices to enhance Shareholders’ value and
safequard Shareholders’ interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered
carefully the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code"”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and as described
below, has taken actions to further enhance corporate transparency and
accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is one of the critical factors
for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize on the importance of a quality Board
and its accountability to Shareholders. The Board regularly reviews the
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the principles
and code provisions as set out from time to time in the CG Code and strive
to maintain the long-term healthy development of the Company.

According to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules, independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors should also attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. However, Ms. JIANG
Xiaohong (being a non-executive director) was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 8 June 2018 as she was obliged to be away for
the Group's other matters. Save for the above deviation, the Company had
complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code in
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and supervises the overall direction and development
of the Group’s business and affairs, with the objective of enhancing
Shareholders’ value including making and approving the Company's
strategic implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group’s financial performance and developing and reviewing the
Group's policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors
are responsible for, and has also delegated to the chief executive officer
the authority and responsibility to oversee the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises of nine Directors, comprising five executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Group's affairs. The Board
has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and diversity of perspectives
to meet the requirements of the Group's business.

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YUE Zhigiang

Mr. LIU Chen

Mr. WONG Hak Kun

Ms. HAN Linyou

Non-executive Director
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (Chairman)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI
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There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides
the constituents of each of the committees.

o NREME

Audit Remuneration Nomination = Management

Committee Committee Committee Committee

ENEEE FHzEE REZEE EREEZES

Mr. WANG Dong FREE — Member Member —
g8 g8

Mr. LIU Chen ZREE — — — Member

28

Ms. HAN Linyou B L — — —  Chairwoman

IE

Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN EXNE KL Member Member Chairman —
g8 g8 B

Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai THEBRE Member Chairman Member —
28 IE g8

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI BIRK 4 Chairman Member Member Member

TE g8 g8 g8

The list of Directors and their role and function is available at the
Company's and the Stock Exchange’s websites. Their profiles are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is
in this Annual Report on pages 46 to 53.

The Company had nine Directors, of which three were independent non-
executive Directors, which is in compliance with the requirements under
Rules 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in 2013 which sets out
the approach to diversify the Board. Under the Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
and recommends the appointment of a new Director when necessary.
In suggestion of the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee
considers a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will
also consider factors based on the Group's business model and specific
needs from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the
Board.
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The profile of our Board members are as follows:

Designation

;22
Executive %Lr%cgg w i‘ i‘ i‘ *

Male
B
73
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive of the Company are separate and are assumed by Mr. Jesper
Bjoern Madsen and Mr. Wang Dong, respectively. The Chairman’s primary
responsibilities include deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda,
formulating Board policies, ensuring Board effectiveness, promoting the
Company and upholding the Company's corporate governance standards.
The Chief Executive has delegated authority from, and is responsible for, the
Board for managing the Group’s business, including the implementation of
the strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board.

Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business
of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-
executive Director and independent non-executive Directors) have been
consulted on major and material matters of the Group.
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The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work
in the Shareholders’ meeting, implementing the Shareholders’ resolutions,
determining the Group's business plans and strategies, formulating the
Group's annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred
to it by the Articles of Association of the Company. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets and communicates regularly and acts in
good faith, with due diligence and care.

The Board meets regularly to review financial statements, material
investments in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury
policies and changes in accounting policies. All Directors have access to
Board papers and related materials which are provided in a timely manner.
Directors have access to the advice and services provided by the company
secretary of the Company (the "Company Secretary”) with a view to
ensure that the procedures applicable to Board meetings, and all applicable
rules and regulations, are followed. Draft and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted in sufficient
detail by the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated to the
Directors for their comments and record. Originals of such minutes, being
kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time upon
a reasonable notice period given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board, the matters of which the Board determines to be material, the
relevant Director will abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution
in which he/she or any of his/her associates have a material interest and
that he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at the Board
meeting.
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Under the respective appointment letters, all the current non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
period of three years from 1 March 2017 unless terminated in accordance
with the terms of the appointment letters. Their appointment may be
terminated either by the Company or by the Director by giving three
months’ written notice to the other party. All the current non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the coming annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.
The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of its independent non-executive
Directors independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

The Board believes that the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safeqguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group.
The non-executive Directors provide the Group with diversified knowledge,
expertise and experience. Their views and participation in Board and
committee meetings bring independent judgement and advice on issues
relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of interest and
management process, and ensure that the interests of all Shareholders
are taken into account. Two of the independent non-executive Directors
possess the appropriate professional accounting qualifications or related
financial management expertise, which exceeds the requirements under
the Listing Rules. The opinions raised by the independent non-executive
Directors in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures of the
Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors are regularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies, independent auditors and/or chambers in
Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to
develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also
coordinates, organises and arranges seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to assist them
in discharging their duties. During the year, seminar materials, articles and
updates relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to Directors. An in-
house seminar has been conducted by our independent external auditor,
Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, covering the topic of “IFRS2 : Share-
based payment”.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.
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According to the information provided by Directors and records
maintained by the Company, the Directors have each received training
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the year:
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Types of training

Y

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. WANG Dong FTREE
Mr. YUE Zhigiang EEmksE
Mr. LIU Chen =3
Mr. WONG Hak Kun TrHiE
Ms. HAN Linyou B+
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. JJANG Xiaohong ZET L+
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN BRMExAE
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai FHELEE
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI BIR S 4

A: attending in-house training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading seminar handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news
and updates relating to the ongoing compliance obligations, corporate governance
and other related topics, etc

Delegation by the Board

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its consideration and delegation. The Board has given clear directions
to management as to matters that must be approved by the Board before
decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.
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To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective

management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the

Board to the Audit Committee (the

“Audit Committee”), Nomination

Committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and Remuneration Committee

(the

“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company which were

established with written terms of references in compliance with the Listing

Rules. The adopted terms of references comply with the code provisions as

set out from time to time in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore,

the Board have also set up a Risk Management Committee (the “Risk

Management Committee”) for the main purpose of formulating policies

and making recommendations to improve the Company's internal control

and risk management systems.

Each board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions

and recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is also

provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to

independent professional advice at the Company’s expense according to

the Company’s policy, if necessary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its

terms of reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, to handle any questions relating to the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard,;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and
the Company’s annual report, interim report and related financial
results (if prepared for publication), and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management system.
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All the three Audit Committee members are independent non-executive
Directors. The Chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the relevant
financial management expertise and experience. The committee members,
together with our external auditor, met three times during 2018 and
discharged their principal responsibilities by:

a)  reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by
the Board and reviewing the external auditor’s report and findings
relating to the work that has been performed;

b)  reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of engagement
for the work performed,;

c) reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor,
and the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

d) reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group including financial control, operational control, compliance
control and risk management.

Nomination Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a reqgular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes;

b) to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors;

c)  to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for
them to make decisions regarding the selection of Board members;
and

d) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.
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All Board appointment will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
the diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience and qualifications, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s own
business model and specific needs from time to time. Taking into account
the Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future, the Nomination Committee
is comfortable with the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board.

One meeting has been held by the Nomination Committee during 2018
and the following work has been satisfactorily concluded:

a)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,;
and

b) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

Remuneration Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

b)  review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss of office or appointment to ensure
that such compensation is consistent with the contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

c)  to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time.
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During 2018, the Remuneration Committee has met one time and

considered,

reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the

existing remuneration package of all the Directors and senior management.

Risk Management Committee

Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify,
measure, manage and/or control risks;

to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to maintain an effective risk
management system;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management's
response to these findings; and

to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company's internal control and risk management systems.

During 2018, the Risk Management Committee has met twice to

consider and review the existing internal control system. Management's

recommendations on financial management and production function were

discussed, considered and adopted to improve the effectiveness of the

internal control and risk management systems.
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The composition of the Board and the Board members’ respective HE-ZT—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE &
attendance in Board meetings, general meeting, the Audit Committee  FEMEARNFELSARETSE S WE
meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings, the Remuneration A ERLZECE  REZECLE
Committee meetings and the Risk Management Committee meetings MEZESEMEREEZESSHENEFER
during the year ended 31 December 2018 were as follows: LUl

No. of meetings attended/held
BiiE/#re88A

Risk
Management
General Audit  Nomination Remuneration ~ Committee

Meeting ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ARER

kA&  EHZEE€  RAZEE  FMZEE Z8¢

Executive Directors BIES

Mr. WANG Dong Ifks 718 N - 1" N —
Mr. YUE Zhigiang EFutE 48 0/ — — - —
Mr. LIU Chen AREE 8/8 1 — - - 2
Mr. WONG Hak Kun IRgkk 8/8 17 - - — -
Ms. HAN Linyou gt 8/8 il - - - 0
Non-executive Director FUTES

Ms. JANG Xiaohong ZEILL 318 0/ - — - -
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors

Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN vy 78 /1 33 " /1 —
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai FRELE 58 /1 33 11 17 -
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI RS 518 /1 33 /1 11 22
Average attendance rate FHOLRE 76.4% 77.7% 100% 100% 100% 100%

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Company has held a ~ REEEE  ARTTELHFIEETIEH
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence TEEBRIT-RREHRTESHENSE -
of the executive Directors. Mr. Yue Zhigiang and Ms. Jiang Xiaohong were EEREAREBRT AT REREAS -
absent from the General Meeting as he/she was obliged to be away for the A hEEEEAEENEMBEE -
Group's other matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place
to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, developed a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitored the Company's legal and
regulatory compliance, organised training and continuing professional
development for Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group. Our internal control system includes
a well-defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed for the achievement of business objectives, safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring proper maintenance
of books and records for the provision of reliable and timely financial
information for internal use or publication, and ensuring compliance with
relevant legislations and regulations. In addition, the Group has established
risk management procedures to identify and prioritise risks for the business
to be addressed by management. During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Board has supervised a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system and is satisfied with the scope of review and the
effectiveness of the system.

The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, business risk; to help safeguard the Group’s assets against
fraud and other irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
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During the year, the Board worked with the Audit Committee, the Risk
Management Committee, the independent external auditor and the
internal audit staff to review all material internal controls, including
financial, operational and compliance control and risk management
function in respect of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system, adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Company's accounting and financial reporting function, and is satisfied
that they were effective and in compliance with our policies.

During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial
position and overall operations.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets reqularly to review and
discuss with the executive Directors on day-to-day operational matters,
financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that
the management is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-
determined by the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the requirements set out in the Model Code for
the year ended 31 December 2018. Specific employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished inside information relating to the Group
have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code. No
incident of non-compliance of specific employees has been noted by the
Company.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts
for each financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial
year/period and the profit and loss for the year/period. The Directors
have adopted applicable International Financial Reporting Standards in
all material respects, selected appropriate accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that
they believe to be fair and reasonable. The Directors use a going concern
basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation
of financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of
Shareholders in the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company's
financial position and prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and
interim results are published within three and two months after the end of
the relevant financial year/period, respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 106 to 112 of
this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses
and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance
policy is reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate covers on potential
legal action against its Directors and officers arising from the performance
of their duties and to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. During
the year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the
Company.
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Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided
that the indemnity shall not be extended to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or
officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for effective
communication with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the Board Committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other
management members will be made available to answer questions at the
general meetings.

Extensive information about the Group's activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders in
a timely manner and are made available on the Company’s website (www.
twr1115.net). Our website serves as a communication platform where
company information including corporate profile, corporate governance
materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial reports
are made available to the public. All Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the business
of the Group from the Directors and senior management in the general
meeting.

The members of the Board will meet and communicate with Shareholders
in the coming 2019 AGM which will be held on Thursday, 30 May 2019.
The notice of the 2019 AGM will be dispatched to all Shareholders not
less than twenty clear business days beforehand. At the 2019 AGM, the
Chairman of the Board will demand for a poll and the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar will be appointed as the scrutineer for the
vote-taking.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by such Shareholders, provided that
such Shareholders held at the date of deposit of the written requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the
date of deposit which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting,
the Shareholders themselves may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as those meetings which may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders
as a result of the failure of the Directors in convening the said meeting
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph. As regards
the nomination of a person as a Director, please refer to the procedures
available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit 1611-12, 16th Floor, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip
Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 31 December 2018, the Board has approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future business development.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there had been no change to the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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COMPANY SECRETARY DNEWE
Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of EARGEALEREBBFUZAESNERS
Chartered Secretaries and was appointed on a full-time basis as the & WEZTAZBARNE -HE_-ZT

Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 December 2018, Mr. Chow  —N\F+-A=+—HAILFE BELED
has taken not less than 15 hours of appropriate professional training to ~ 2MAD RIS/ NEBEHERER MHNE
update his skills and knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing  ¥53| > WHA ETRAIE3I296MBTE -
Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the Group Chairman on Board governance LA REZEEAREETANEETEESR
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board policies and procedures ~ WEBEBRRZESHRE RZEFGAEBT - fT
are followed. All Board members have access to his advice and services. BEZENEBHIEGRARIMENE R MR
He arranges the comprehensive and tailored induction program for new %o lt9h - RRAIMESHETESHE T -
Directors prior to their appointment and provides timely updates to the —~ AHEZH2EMFROMABEHETE W@
Directors on relevant new legislation or regulatory requirements. Director B AZEEEHMABENTEREIRREERT
training has been organized on a regular basis by the Company Secretary ~ KX - ARIMEC AESLH T HNE
to assist Directors’ continuous professional development. g AR ES BEEEEE -

EXTERNAL AUDITOR SNEEAZ BHED

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the independence ~ BFXZESEREREBAIZEZEMNEE
of the external auditor to ensure objectivity and the effectiveness of the — ZEEIR B UERBBIETEHB
audit process of the financial statements in accordance with applicable  HEXMEHEMERARIE - EZZEEKER
standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the view that the A& ARFINERHME LR KESE
Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is independent and ~ HABBVAL TAEZSEHEZ R
recommended to the Board to re-appoint it as the Company's external ~ —T—NERREFFAS FEERAKXAA
auditor at the 2019 AGM. For the year, the fees paid/payable to the — SMEZEIAD - &R - KRB FIMNEIZ B
Company's external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services — AEBREZEZRIIFEZREHCH &

provided to the Group are set out below: Mz EREINMT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F el
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMTF T ARETTT

Audit services BEZIRG 6,586 6,586

Non-audit services BRI
Review and other reporting services 00 R H o R R AR = 800
6,586 7,386

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018



INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is pro-active in its investor relations initiatives. Our executive
Directors, our Chief Financial Officer and the investor relations officers
communicate with research analysts and institutional investors on an on-
going basis and meet with research analysts/investors after our results
announcements, attend major investors’ conferences and participate in
non-deal roadshows to communicate the Company’s financial performance
and business strategy.

During the year, our executive Directors, our Chief Financial Officer and the
investor relations officers have met with a number of research analysts and
investors, attended conferences as well as non-deal roadshows as follows:

Month
R

Event
=15

March/April 2018 Attended 4 post results non-deal

roadshows/Investors conference calls
HEBMEERRHERE
REEMNEEZCZL4S

—E-N\FE=/MA

August/September 2018 Attended 3 post results non-deal

roadshows/Investors conference calls
HEEMEEIERHERS
BREEMNEELZL3S

“E-NEN/NA

Other period of the year
2018
—E-\FHHHE

Attended over 10 analysts or investors
meetings and conferences/Conference calls

HEBBI105A MR EEeR Mg

SR EEeE

Disclaimer

The contents of this section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and should not
be regarded as legal or other professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other professional advice as
to their rights as Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred
by its Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed “Shareholders’
Rights”.
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Organizer

B

Investor relations consultant

REEBEBER

Investor relations consultant

REZEBEBER

Investor relations consultant
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiE - HERERERE

The board (the “"Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Tibet Water
Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) present the environmental, social and governance report for the
year 2018. The Group is committed to running our business sustainably
and for the well-being of employees, business partners, other stakeholders
and the environment. For these purposes, as the premier Tibetan water and
beer products producer, we ensure that we meet all relevant national and
local laws and regulations as well as industry standards and are committed
to conducting our business operations as a responsible, ethical and
sustainable corporate.

We strive to offer the best quality products to the world and have built our
production plants at highland areas at an altitude of about 4,800 meters
and 3,600 meters. We continue to improve our ethical and environmental
conditions in accordance with international trends.

This report provides information related to the business activities of
the production plants and facilities directly controlled by the Group, its
headquarters and principal place of business in Hong Kong. Data from our
customers or suppliers are not included as such data are difficult to verify
with available resources.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION:

Emissions and wastes

Our production facilities generate and discharge wastes during production
activities, which mainly include wastewater, plastics, papers and air
pollutants. We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost
importance and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling
and disposal. The Group aims to minimize the impact of our activities
on the environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle.
We adhere to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission
reduction, energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly
approach in the way we operate.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The solid wastes (non-hazardous) produced in the production process
(waste preforms, waste bottles, waste caps, waste film, waste paper
boxes) and domestic garbage in the plant area are all reclaimed with an
agreement signed by a qualified contractor and classified according to
the relevant national regulations. According to the production shift, it will
be collected for recycling twice a day, stored in a government approved
storage place for storage, and domestic garbage will be transported to
the county landfill. Our production process does not directly involve in the
production of hazardous emissions and wastes.

Our water processing process, which includes water collection, inspection,
aeration, sedimentation and filtration, utilizes an open and accessible
technology and is environmentally-friendly. No chemical raw materials or
additive is involved during the water processing process. We employ two
filtration technologies, namely, media filtration and membrane technology.
Media filtration uses filtering materials such as activated carbon, sand and
special granules for prefiltration to remove excessive iron, manganese,
arsenic or uranium substances from the water. Membrane technology
uses polyethersulfone ultrafiltration to remove bacteria, viruses and all
undissolved substances from the water without changing its core mineral
content. We have also integrated stretch blow-molding into bottling,
bottle labelling and water filling into one unit to minimize contamination
and maintain the purity and original taste of our water. We observe strict
hygiene standards at our production facilities.

Our beer products are brewed using a process based on individual
formulas. The typical brewing process involves mashing, lautering, boiling,
fermenting, conditioning, filtering, filling, labelling and packaging. The
production of our beer products follows the same brewery procedures as
other beer producers in the market.

Within our operating boundaries, the Group actively advocates energy
conservation and emission reduction and reduced emissions by continuously
increasing investment in environmental protection. Through the use of
green electricity in our production facilities and other measures, the Group
reduces the generation of exhaust pollutants from the source to avoid
environmental pollution. Our business operation or manufacturing process
does not produce significant exhaust gas.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERES

To the best of our knowledge, there were no identified violation of
relevant environmental laws and regulations by the Group during the
reporting period.

As green electricity is strictly applied in the Group's production facilities/
process, the Group does not directly involve in significant emissions
and waste production (both hazardous and non-hazardous). Therefore,
there is no specific disclosure made in respect of the general disclosure
requirement of the key performance index under the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Reporting Guide”) under the
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The measures to mitigate emissions and

wastes handling are mentioned above.

Use of resources

The Group’s main energy consumption includes water and electricity used
in production lines. We advocate green initiatives and adopt measures to
conserve resources and reduce their consumption.

Green electricity is used in full-scale in our production plant at the altitude
of 4,800 meters. Furthermore, advanced energy saving contiform filler
block and voice control LED lighting system are installed in the production
plant. We pile up most of the production in spring, summer and autumn.
Major maintenance works on production lines and employees’ annual
vacations are scheduled in the winter time. During the intensely cold
period, the production plants will put to semi or almost hibernated
condition as higher energy consumption is needed to keep the production
plants in full function. We actively implement energy conservation and
environmental protection policies in our production plants and office.
For instance, electrical devices must be completely shut down to prevent
leaving devices on stand-by mode during non-operating hours. We also
continue to operate an in-house telephone and video conferencing system
to reduce travelling needs of our management.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environment and natural resources

Our water source is self-draining springs, but the use of water in pipelines
does not require exploitation. Diversion of water through pipelines will not
affect the local environment and the surrounding environment. Therefore,
according to the actual situation, the water-saving measures should start
from the beginning and be adapted to local conditions in order to eliminate
any leakage. The assessment of wasteful phenomenon has enhanced the
employees’ awareness of water-saving.

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our water products, we have
maintained a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to

prevent any potential contamination of our water source.

A 3-stage protection zone, including protection zone, limitation zone and
monitoring zone, is set up for our water source. A 24-hour closed circuit
television system is installed to monitor the trail from the water source
to the plant. Our water source is rich in content but the extraction rate is
relatively low. The remaining flow of spring water follows the mountain
slope and fills the wetland which breeds and protects the local ecology.

Regular maintenance of valves and piping, and leaking pipelines must be
promptly replaced and repaired. We also phased out existing inefficient
electrical equipment and adopt energy efficient electrical equipment.

SOCIAL:

Employment

We regard employees as the most valuable asset for the Group. Talent
is the Group's key to achieving its economic, environmental and social
goals. We believe that the establishment of a sense of belonging to the
work environment can lead to more effective implementation of our
corporate values of sustainable development. Therefore, we strive to create
a pleasant working environment, so that every employee can play their
strengths. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had hired a total of 458
full-time employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERES

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group is committed to providing
equal opportunities in recruitment and promotion, regardless of age,
gender, race, skin colour, religion, nationality, marital status, disability
or sexual orientation. The management review and adjust the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the manpower of the Group on a timely
basis and make every effort to ensure that there is no harassment in the
workplace.

Number of employees by gender, employment type, age group and region:

EZ2BRRUARL - FAEEEERAEHE
REEMBEZ— MANEREIXFER
HREER AKEBNRAEREATE
RETSHE - TwFlk o MR ER B
& REEN - BE  BRAR - BRI
BE - BEBERRSMETARENAN
R RE EARRETLE XENBRET
ESMATFHEERRETS -

RIS BEEAL - FERAR KRS D
EBEAES:

Number of

employees

EERE

By gender: BURIE S
- Male -5
— Female —x it
By employment type: HEBENES
— Full-time -2
~ Part-time — FRE
By age group: BERERE D
->35 —>35
- <35 —<35
By region: EHRE D
- Mainland China —FhE A
- Hong Kong &R

The Group ensures staff are reasonably remunerated with regular reviews
on compensations and benefits policies in accordance with the industry
benchmark as well as the individual performance of the employees. Other
fringe benefits, training, employee provident fund and share options, if
applicable, are provided by the Group to solicit/retain loyal employees with
the aim to form a professional and united staff and management team that
can bring higher levels of achievements to the Group. Our staff turnover
rate continues to be rather stable and not high.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Health and safety

The Group follows a people-oriented philosophy by demonstrating care
about the mental and physical health of employees and striving to create
a comfortable working environment for our employees. We educate
employees on health and safety risks that may exist in work, in order to
equip them with the relevant knowledge and ability to safequard personal
and production safety.

We have posted operation safety procedures and instructions in a
conspicuous and appropriate place of our production plants and remind our
employees from time to time of the safety practices. We also implement
appropriate protection measures, including but not limited to technical
training, for employees who work in positions with relatively high safety
risks to reduce the occurrences of occupational accidents and injuries.

No accident relating to serious injuries or death or property damage
has been reported to our management during the reporting period.
Furthermore, during the reporting period, we were not subject to any
claim arising from any serious accident involving personal injury or death
or property damage that had a material adverse effect on our business,
operation or financial position.

Development and training

The Group believes that employees’ growth and development are essential
to the sustainable growth and development of the Group. We highly value
lifelong learning and training to improve the level of education and ability
of employees, and explore potential talent therefrom for our future.

We provide diversified on-the-job training in our production plants based
on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the employees.
We also encourage our management staff to participate in continuous
professional development trainings which are relevant to their professions.
Apart from induction training, the Company provides updates to the
Directors and senior management on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure their compliance with and to enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices. These include attending in-house
training, seminars, reading handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group's
news, industry news, etc. Apart from this, on-the-job trainings are provided
to the working staff in the production plants on a timely basis.
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Labour standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour. We
only employ employees aged over 18 years and never force employees
to work overtime in order to foster a working environment that respects
human rights. We do not allow any kind of discrimination or potential

discrimination in our workplace.

In accordance with the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC") (PEAREMBELEEERE) , employers and
employees shall enter into written employment contracts to establish their
employment relationships. Employers are required to inform the employees
about their job duties, working conditions, occupational hazards,
manufacturing safety conditions, remuneration and other matters with
which employees may be concerned. Employers shall pay remuneration to
employees on time and in full in accordance with the commitments set
forth in the employment contracts and the PRC laws and regulations.

Under applicable regulations, including the Interim Regulations
Concerning the Levy of Social Insurance Fees (L &RBEMBETIE
f51) and the Administrative Regulation on Housing Fund (EREAES
EFE1%M]) , employers in the PRC shall make contributions to the basic
pension insurance fund, basic medical insurance fund, occupational injury
insurance, unemployment insurance fund, maternity insurance fund and
housing fund for their employees.

To the best of our knowledge, there were no identified violation of
relevant employment laws and regulations by the Group during the
reporting period.

Supply chain management
The Group maintains long-term relationships with its suppliers to ensure a
stable supply of materials for production.

We also require our suppliers to improve their sustainability performance,
act responsibly and adhere to our environmental protection and product
safety strategies.
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Product responsibility

The Group has put quality as its priority to ensure customer satisfaction in
terms of our products and services. Pursuant to the Product Quality Law
of the PRC (HEARAMBERGE5) , a manufacturer shall establish
a comprehensive internal management system for product quality, and
implement internal policies of quality, responsibility and assessment. We
have been awarded several certifications attesting to our outstanding
quality control systems over our products.

Our environmental management system in the production and sales of
our water products has been certified to comply with ISA 14001:2004
and GB/T 24001-2004 by the China Quality Certification Center since
2008. Our quality control system in the production and sales of our water
products has been certified to comply with ISO 9001:2008 and G/T 19001-
2008 by the China Quality Certification Center since 2008. Our production
process of water business has been certified to comply with CAC/RCP1-
1969, Rev4(2003) Guidelines for the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point
("HACCP"), which is an internationally recognized standard for food
safety, since 2008.

Our environmental management system in the production and sales of
our beer products has been certified to comply with ISA 14001:2004 and
GB/T 24001- 2004 by the China Quality Certification Center since 2010.
Our production process of beer business has been certified to comply
with CAC/RCP1-1969, Rev4(2003) Guidelines for the HACCP, which is an
internationally-recognized standard for food safety, since 2010.

To the best of our knowledge, there were no identified violation of
relevant laws and regulations on product responsibility and data privacy by
the Group during the reporting period.

BE  HERERES

EmEE
ASERFEEE— BREPHELMN
EmMRS - RE(PEARKMBERE

B%E)

TEMARERDERILES N

BEALG BEnEE BEENFEORNIR
K-BMERERZERE  ERAMAERSE

BMERDEEHIRL

BAEERHEKERNREEERRE =
ZTN\FEETHEERETLRENA
ISA 14001:2004 % GB/T 24001-2004 = %
MEERHERERNESEHARE-F
FNFRETHEERIFFLRENTAISO
9001:2008 & G/T 19001-2008 » ¥ {7k %
BOEERREE _TTN\FRESFRE
BTEEDMEREHIH(THACCP)ERE
5| CAC/RCP1-1969, Rev4(2003) (Bl 32 7

RBLERE) -

RMEE R ERBERNRAEREAS
~F-TAERTAEERETORENA
ISA 14001:2004 } GB/T 24001-2004 °
GENES LS IRt S L0 4

/8 2 i
=R

wty A

+ B 5FHACCP JE A 45 5| CAC/RCP1-

1969, Rev4(2003)(EIER AR R ME 2 1RE) °

BRAMM PRSP ERRAEES
ERMBE R A EMBURAL AR KR
KR °

BEHEKERERLAT | £ 2018




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERES

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to doing business with integrity and will not
tolerate any bribery or other misconduct. We have implemented internal
policies and guidelines to comply with applicable laws in the PRC on anti-
bribery and anti-corruption. Whistleblower policies and procedures are
in place and disseminated to all employees. These measures are subject
to regular review and update to ensure their effectiveness to strengthen
the internal controls and compliance regime of the Group. No complaints
or suspected cases were received via the whistleblower channel or other
channels in 2018.

In addition to the anti-bribery and anti-corruption policies of the Group's
staff handbook, the Group has also prepared relevant external reporting
procedures and regularly reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control system. The Board is responsible for efficiency monitoring,
standardizing various business management decision-making activities
of the Group, unifying internal and external inspection of pipelines and
strengthening internal and external supervision systems to effectively
prevent employees from performing their duties and performing work
incorrectly at all levels.

Community investment

We act as a responsible member of society and are dedicated to
contributing to the well-being of our environment and to providing help
to those who are in need. The Group continued to hire about 95% of
its employees at the production plant at Dangxiong, Tibet, from local
Tibetan farmers and herdsmen, and the Group provided them with relevant
education and on-the-job training. As a result, these local people attained
an average annual income of about RMB50,000 per capita, a significant
increase from the previous baseline of below RMB2,000 per household
before 2005.
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By promoting opportunities and capabilities using a human development ~ AEBUASEREHHESERBRESN © A
approach, the Group has educated farmers in the countryside in Tibet  FEENMEREBHINTEREHE X
with new industry skills, improved their access to knowledge and learning,  ZMHMESMELEENRT - ARt
and provided them with opportunities to leave defunct industries.  BERIBETEMNKS - BB ARREEH
By introducing them to modern production methods, operations and I & REERKLE  FEENBENEMH
management skills, local farmers and herdsmen in rural areas of China EWRTEMESMHNIREE e TR
gained not only knowledge and skills, but also the understanding of the — R#t& o AN 4EFKFARIRES - £FH
modern society. Their living standards have substantially improved, and RAREERE -

their ways of living have been changed rapidly.

The Group continued to develop the local economy in Tibet and promote  ANEEEE AR E A EERERERKE
the unique local water industry. It emphasized the benefits of providing ~ ®E@EH N BRARZEHERE[HMK ]
development oriented aid to underdeveloped regions in Tibet instead of — HKEBmE[EMN JEHRMERE -

merely handing out one-off relief measures.

Supporting education and helping to create a more productive community X EHEREPEETFEELENNLRE
are the main drivers of the Group’s community investment strategy. The — EAEEHERRERENTIZHEEHH - A&
donations made by “Tibet 5100 Education Fund (FE51004E#EEE  EBEREUNEZES[ABSI00HEEREE
H4)", the charity fund established by the Group, continued to provide — H& |EE(EHEE AEHERKELE
support to local basic education and healthcare providers and assist in  BREREEREIHIHHHKE  Hb
poverty alleviation, examples include school meals and education facilities — ERFAREHZENE SRR HERBE R

provided to local schools at Dangxiong, Tibet. BB o

In 2018, the Group actively participated in the “Haizi Project” through the 720184 @ KN&E BB B[ A E 51004 5 %
“Tibet 5100 Education Fund”. It is a pure education project focusing on ~ ERHBES |BHLEZAE 718 £
basic education and physical and psychological quality of students in the — — BRI FTRBERBBME LR DEX
west. This project has four teaching points in Tibet, Qinghai and Sichuan ~ EH4XHIER - ZFEERE - 55T
Tibetan areas. Our active participation is to bring counseling to children in  JIIBE R4 EZHE - RANEBL2EA
basic subjects and sports. The concept of Haizi's plan is love, knowledge  HFHAEEMENNEEFENGHEE
and health. We hope that through the one month of teaching, we can By - B F:tEIHNERRE  MEBMEE - &
give students the best way to share learning methods, love education and — PIHALBEB—EANIH @ seMUARERZ
effective physical training, and sports knowledge. To teach and to cultivate ~ K FELBEHZENDZ  ENHBENEX
their hearts to pass it on. HEBREDIMAE R HE - HEB L - HAME
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In November 2018, with the cooperation of the Tibet 5100 Education Fund,
today the “Samarangi Football Time - Samsung Football Classroom” project
was entered into the Dangxiong Middle School, which has the highest and
most beautiful football field in the world. The four coaches from Shanghai
gave a lively football training course to Dangxiong students who were
suffering from severe altitude sickness. The children are still in the mood,
and the teacher also warmly welcomes. At the campus of 4,700 meters
above sea level, we have rounded out the children’s football dreams.

In November 2018, we led 23 outstanding teachers and students from
Nagni Nima County in Tibet to set off for Shanghai. The theme of the
event was “Looking for the footprints, feeling the development of the

motherland and experiencing the Olympic spirit”.

——201 RN PE Fane
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Shareholders

We strive to maximize long-term value and return for our shareholders.

Our commitment towards our stakeholders provides us with guidance in
respect of our corporate responsibility policy which we strive to ensure that
the values of our social and environmental responsibilities are integrated
into our daily operations and business code of conduct.

Customers and business partners

Our main goal is to satisfy our customers and provide them with world-
class Tibetan water and beer products. We regard each distributor and
supplier as our long-term business partner and conduct all businesses with
integrity and in a responsible manner.

In terms of privacy, the Group's customer information system only allows
authorized staff to visit. The staff of other departments of the Group
strictly apply, accept and provide information when they request for
information retrieval.

The Group seeks to maintain good relationships with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve our end customers,
and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone calls to the
distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is any complaint from
customers, it will be reported to the management and immediate remedial
action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such complaint will be
studied, analyzed and evaluated, and recommendations will be made for
future improvements.

The Group also seeks to maintain good relationships with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERS

The Directors are delighted to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 121 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion & Analysis” on pages 10 to 13 and pages 16
to 45 of this Annual Report respectively. Description of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced by the Company are set out in the “Management
Discussion & Analysis” section and note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 40 to 42 and pages 161 to 171 of this Annual Report,

respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 116 to 117 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year 2018.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 260 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E
of the Group are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively on pages 183 to 186 of this Annual Report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 216 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018 are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 231 to 235 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 September
2012. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board, at
its discretion, to grant options to selected eligible participants to motivate
them and to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of
the Group.

The Board may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors), the Company's subsidiaries, employees of the Group and other
persons the Board considers have contributed or will contribute to the
Group. In general, the maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company, unless
otherwise approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules. The maximum number
of shares available in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme reduced to 231,689,300 shares after the Company's
grant of 25,200,000 share options on 16 December 2015. The subscription
price of a share in respect of a particular option shall be not less than the
highest of (a) the official closing price of the shares on the daily quotation
sheet of the Stock Exchange; (b) the average official closing price of the
shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal
value of a share. The Share Option Scheme shall remain effective within a
period of 10 years from that date.
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The Company granted 25,200,000 share options for the subscription of
25,200,000 shares of the Company to a distributor of the Group on 16
December 2015, representing 0.98% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of this Annual Report. The exercise price
of the options granted is HKD3.00 and the exercise period is ten years from
the date of the offer for the grant. However, as such a distributor had not
achieved the prescribed sale and performance targets within three years
from 1 January 2016, the granted 25,200,000 share options had lapsed on
31 December 2018.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme to each
eligible participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the date of grant, unless with the
prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders and with such participants
and his associates abstaining from voting. Options granted to any Director
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors. Where any option granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to such person in the 12
month period, (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue at the date of such grant; and (i) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the shares, in excess of HKD5 million, such grant of
options shall be subject to prior approval of the Company’s Shareholders in
general meeting by way of poll.
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An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall  RIEEREFEIREBRENEHERE A
remain open for acceptance for 30 days from the date of grant. Upon  Ef#E:t30B RAJHEM - NEMNEBER
acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HKD1 to the Company by  #E » AR ABRAR LN 1B TIEAR
way of consideration for the grant. Options may be exercised in accordance ~ HR (B - BRER R BEREAEIETER
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time from the date of B HIEEERTE  EZBAZBRFTFE
grant until the expiry of ten years from such date. The subscription price W RBEEHESS2RBBEET AR
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, and in any  ERER TASEAUAT=ZENERSE ()
event shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares R H B EIEE XS HRERARN
as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the — ITi{E : (i) BERE A AL £ B EY
date of grant, (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the — XFTEBREXRMBHOMBKMGWHEFHE
daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days (i) D E{E - BRI RIEEREZ
immediately preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of a ~ HVEFREBREEIECRETEENE B
share. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the  MEZ BB T EHAT R T6E - B
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the option is ~ BEAI{TENHHHESS 2 ERIEET
deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of ten years — MANESHBBRLEREES BETHF - VB
from that date. The period during which an option may be exercised will Bt EZEH EERE(BI—E——F LA
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option ~ + H)+T&HEETER HERE - BRIEARQT
may be exercised more than ten years after it has been granted. No option ~ RREASHEREESIRALL - THE
may be granted more than ten years after the date of approval of the Wi FEIERMNBHETFERNER LA
Share Option Scheme (ie. 7 September 2012). Subject to earlier termination 7

by the Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option

Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years from the date

of adoption.

Movements during the year of the options granted under the Share Option ~ FRBEAQBIEREFERTFLREALH
Scheme of the Company to the participants were as follows: ERENZHEINT

Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding
Outstanding as at
as at 31 December

1 January 2018 Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled 2018
RZE-N§ during during during during R=Z—/\F Exercise Price Exercisable
—-A—H the year the year the year the year T=A=1t—H per Share Date of Grant Period
I RATE FREH FRTHRE FREX FREVH HATHE ~— BROEE RupH d

HK$

BT
25,200,000 - — 25,200,000 — - 3.00 16/12/2015  1/1/2016 -
31/12/2025
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Note:

The vesting of the share option is conditional, subject to the achievement of the
prescribed sales and performance targets by the grantee within three years commencing
from 1 January 2016.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December
2018, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the
share award scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s place of
incorporation.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the accumulated deficits of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB85 million (31 December 2017: RMB43
million). As at 31 December 2018, the share premium of the Company,
amounted to approximately RMB1,207 million (31 December 2017:
RMB1,207 million), is distributable to Shareholders subject to the solvency
test and the sanction of an ordinary resolution.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

In 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme. In January 2018, the
Group purchased 5,000,000 shares (a total consideration of approximately
RMB14,169,000) of the Company through Bank of Communications
Trustee Limited for this purpose. As at 31 December 2018, no share has
been granted by the Company to any parties under the share award
scheme.

Besides, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YUE Zhigiang

Mr. LIU Chen

Mr. WONG Hak Kun

Ms. HAN Linyou

Non-executive Director
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (Chairman)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI

In accordance with the provision of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. YUE Zhigiang, Mr. WONG Hak Kun, Ms. JIANG Xiachong and Mr.
Kevin Cheng WEI shall retire at the forthcoming 2019 AGM and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors.

DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 46 to 53 of this Annual
Report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2019 AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which are required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

=2
REANMBEAREAS  ARFEER

HITES
EREL(TTHAAR)
ESBRLE
ARELE
InHrt
2N o

FHTES
EEat

BYFHTES
REWRE(TE)
FRERE
R E

REARARNABSRANEN - EER
R ERPELE  ZROLETREKRLE
BREE—Z - NFRRAFREHRIE
THERERETRES

EEERE
EEEEHENAFHRFLI6E53H °

EENRBEN
HNEE_Z-NFRRAFAELEEN
EERETAAKENTRN —FEEEMNR
M LR RB & A CRERERIN) -

EERFERTHRAEBRKROPHOES

RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—H BEEER
ARASEBREZE(ERLEFRPE K
Bl XvER) Bt - HERDREFHESR
HRERBRIEE 7 NS 5P 352 (KA
RRAZEXFrEE M - REIEETRIZA
HEADE LB NEMEDSIRE -

BEHEKERERLAT | £ 2018



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE REEFRPEFRIBRRNETIRERE
SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE %

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons had an interest or short ~RZ-ZE—N\F+-_A=+—H THALR
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were  RIEZEHMHIEEHIFE 336 1EBEERAD
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section @77 & #) & iE M ac 8k M A2 7] A0 S AE A A%

336 of the SFO: AR EERSRAR
Number of Approximate
Long/short Capacity/Nature shares/  percentage of
position of interest underlying shares shareholding
HE/ %R 5/ REEtE B/ HERONHE RESHEIL
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited Long position Beneficial owner 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
(Note 1) Short position Beneficial owner 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited ~ #f& ERBEEA 462,400,740/ i 17 18.00%
(BEE1) KRB ERBEAA 462,400,740R% i 13 18.00%
Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Long position Interest of 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
Investment Fund Limited Partnership controlled
(Note 2) Short position corporation 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
Interest of
controlled
corporation
ERRORL—REXZREES =y TEEERER 462,400,740 % (5 18.00%
BRABEE (FHE2) KR REEERER 462,400,740 R 5 18.00%
MIESRIREABR 2R (Note 2) Long position Interest of 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
controlled
Short position corporation 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
Interest of
controlled
corporation
nRETRREERAR (ME2) ite REEERER 462,400,740 R 5 18.00%
8=} REEEMER 462,400,740 (% 18.00%
FRATREAREARBNREEE Long position Interest of 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
EBEBEES® (Note 2) controlled
Short position corporation 462,400,740 shares 18.00%
Interest of
controlled
corporation
NEEEREARARRTREEE 1E REEERER 462,400,740 810 18.00%
ERERZEE (M:F2) KB TEEERER  462,400,7408 %15 18.00%
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HEXLEEREESEEARAR
(Note 2)

HEXLEEREELEEAR AR
(Mt3E2)

RERREERNARAR (Note 3)

HELREBBROHERAR (ME3)

PRESREERETARAF (Note 3)

FRESREERETERAA
(MH3E3)

Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 4)
FRKERER AR (H7E4)

Maple Essence Investments Limited
(Note 5)

MEREAR AR (ES)

True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 6)

True Asset Holdings Limited (Ff¥6)

Long/short

position
#E/ %R

Long position

Short position

Long position

Short position

ot

i

Long position

Short position

1R
KRB

Long position
30

Long position

30

Long position

e

Capacity/Nature
of interest

8%/ BHtE

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Interest of
controlled
corporation

R EEHER

Ry rENER

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Interest of
controlled
corporation

ZEEENER

LB ER

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Interest of
controlled
corporation

XEEERER

XEEERER

Beneficial owner
ExnBEAA

Interest of
controlled
corporation

R LB RS

Interest of
controlled
corporation

REEERER

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Number of
I
underlying shares

R/ HERGHEE

462,400,740 shares

462,400,740 shares

462,400,740
462,400,740 8%

462,400,740 shares

462,400,740 shares

462,400,7400% P51
462,400, 7400% P& 1p

462,400,740 shares

462,400,740 shares

462,400,7400% 1% %
462,400,740 % B 15

324,094,960 shares
324,094,960% f% 19

324,094,960 shares

324,094,960/ i 7

324,094,960 shares

324,094,960/ %A

EXEHS

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
REBOED

18.00%

18.00%

18.00%
18.00%

18.00%

18.00%

18.00%
18.00%

18.00%

18.00%

18.00%
18.00%

12.61%
12.61%

12.61%

12.61%

12.61%

12.61%
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Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as
Mr. WANG lJian Peter) (Note 6 & 7)

TEEL(FIE6 &7)

Tyee Capital Funds SPC—

Tyee Capital Tibet Fund SP (Note 8)
Tyee Capital Funds SPC—

Tyee Capital Tibet Fund SP (Fff3E8)

Tyee Capital Funds SPC (Note 9)

Tyee Capital Funds SPC (F3£9)

Tyee Capital Management (Cayman)
Limited (Note 9)

Tyee Capital Management (Cayman)
Limited (Ffiz£9)

Tyee Capital Group Limited (BVI)
(Note 9)

Tyee Capital Group Limited (BVI)
(B35 9)

Tian Yee Capital Holdings Limited (BVI)

(Note 9)
Tian Yee Capital Holdings Limited (BVI)
(MtEE9)

Jiang Jun (Note 10)

%8 (10

Long/short

position
8/ %R

Long position

30

Long position

e

Long position

e

Long position

Long position

Long position
1R
e

Long position
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Capacity/Nature
of interest

8%/ BiHtE

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Xy rENER

Investment
manager
REKE

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Ry rENER

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Ry rENER

Interest of
controlled
corporation

XEEERER

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Beneficial owner

XEEER R

EnBEAA

Interest of
controlled
corporation

Xy rENER

Number of
shares/
underlying shares

R/ RERGHEE

324,094,960 shares

324,094,960 8% I 1n

145,714,285 shares

145,714,285 iR 15

145,714,285 shares

145,714,285 8 B n

145,714,285 shares

145,714,285 8 B n

145,714,285 shares

145,714,285 AX 17

145,714,285 shares

18,060,714 shares
145,714,285 8 1% n
18,060,714 B 1n

163,774,999 shares

163,774,999 AX 17

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
RESNE DL

12.61%

12.61%

5.67%

5.67%

5.67%

5.67%

5.67%

5.67%

5.67%

5.67%

5.67%

0.70%
5.67%
0.70%

6.38%

6.38%



Notes:

Tianshan Industry Investment Limited is 100% held by Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership, which is in turn held as to 46.36%
by MBERIZTEAARAF, which is in turn 100% held by ¥ELZHERE
ARBIEEEEEEEHELZEE. Tianshan Industry Investment Limited holds
462,400,740 shares in the Company.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds
100% equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company in which
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited is interested in. Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is owned by ¥B&@EEER L
Al as to 46.36%. Therefore, HBEEIXEBR LA is deemed to be interested in
462,400,740 shares in the Company. MERTMEAEARRTEREELERE
EZEE holds 46.36% equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited
through #7528 AHEE AR AE and Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment
Fund Limited Partnership. Therefore, MB#ER AR ARBNESEELESER
Z B g is deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited. Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment
Fund Limited Partnership is 0.66% held by and is accustomed to act in accordance
with the directions of ¥TEBRIUEXKRAZEEBRABRADF, which is therefore
deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is owned
by HERREERMNERRAE as to 33.11%. Therefore, HEERREERMNERR
Al is deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company. R E &%
BEREMAERAT holds 61.67% equity interest in BEBLEREBBRBERAF.
hRESHEARETAR AT holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan
No. 1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership through the control of &
RREERMDERADF. Therefore, FRESKEFREEERAT is deemed to
be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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Tianshan Industry Investment Limited 52 &
RERL-REXRAEZCERAELER
B100%  ERRBRL—REXREES
BERAECEATBERBREARRAFS
46.36% * MBS RMREER AR AMBRS
RERARRNAEEELEEEREE S
# % 100% ° Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited #5872 7] 462,400,740 &A% 5 ©

EBRRNARAL-—REXREESERSE
% & % 45 B Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited100% A% # - (& 1t 4% 18 /5 7 Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited Fff # & #) & 2
71462,400,740 Rk R R - FTED
BEREBRARNBEAEARTRL—HE
ERBEECHBRABDE46.36%  FALH
18 AW AR AR 462,400,740 R AR 0 1 A 12
o MBHREMEARARBNBEEEE
ERERZEGARVESRREARA
AREBRTRL-—REXEREESER
BB EH A Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited46.36% A% - B L4 4R AR Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited P& R A A7)
462,400,740k i E Az o BRI
A—REXREESHERAVLEHNE
AEXREESERBRRAAFHE0.66%
RERREEENESTE BRMEX
LWEXREEZSERERAABEERR
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited FT#EA
(N2 E] 462,400,740 R 13 R A #ER

RELRESERNERARFZEFERRNX
W—REXBREECERABLE3311% -
A b 4518 B 7 AN A 5 462,400,740 A5 AR 15
BEED TRESKEERETERAA
HERBEZREERNARATE1.67%K
EohRESKREERETARAFBERE
HEERREERNERATFEERBRE
AU—REXBREESEREBEE3Z 1%
f& # - A U % 8 & R Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited BT # & # & B &K 2 7
462,400,740 B A% 17 R I A 72
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet
Water Resources Limited holds 324,094,960 shares in the Company.

Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 324,094,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested
in. Maple Essence Investments Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings
Limited.

True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Maple Essence
Investments Limited, which in turn wholly-owns Tibet Water Resources Limited.
Therefore, True Asset Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in 324,094,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested in.

True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore,
Mr. WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 324,094,960 shares in the
Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested. For the purpose of
the SFO, the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is taken to have a duty of disclosure
in relation to the said 324,094,960 shares in the Company. The interest disclosed
by the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is that of Mr. WANG Peter Jian which
is deemed to be attributed to her pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes.
Nevertheless, she has no interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the

Company.

Tyee Capital Funds SPC — Tyee Capital Tibet Fund SP holds the 6% convertible
bonds with a principal amount of HK$510,000,000 due in 2019. Upon full exercise
of the conversion rights, Tyee Capital Funds SPC - Tyee Capital Tibet Fund SP will
hold 145,714,285 shares in the Company.

Tian Yee Capital Holdings Limited (BVI) controls 95% equity interest in Tyee
Capital Group Limited (BVI), which in turn controls 100% equity interest in Tyee
Capital Management (Cayman) Limited. Tyee Capital Management (Cayman)
Limited controls 100% equity interest in Tyee Capital Funds SPC, which controls
100% equity interest in Tyee Capital Funds SPC - Tyee Capital Tibet Fund SP and
Tyee Capital Funds SPC - Tyee Capital China Fund SP. Therefore, Tian Yee Capital
Holdings Limited (BVI), Tyee Capital Group Limited (BVI), Tyee Capital Management
(Cayman) Limited and Tyee Capital Funds SPC are deemed to be interested in Tyee
Capital Funds SPC - Tyee Capital Tibet Fund SP’s derivative interest in 145,714,285
shares in the Company.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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F100%  HEREFRAFMTrue Asset
Holdings Limited 2 &# A - ARE/KERER
AR HEARRARF 324,094,960 Pz (7 o

MEREERRTFAABEKEARERAR
100% M - EUL R AR ARKERERA
)P A 4 5 MY AR 1 7] 324,094,960 8% B 15
AR - MEREBRATIHTrue Asset
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True Asset Holdings Limited & @ il £ 1% &
ARAFRHEEBKERAERRF100% K
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(10) Tian Yee Capital Holdings Limited (BVI) directly holds 18,060,714 shares in the
Company. Together with the interest deemed to be interested by Tian Yee Capital
Holdings Limited (BVI) through its indirect interest in Tyee Capital Funds SPC —
Tyee Capital Tibet Fund SP, Tian Yee Capital Holdings Limited (BVI) is deemed to
be interested in an aggregate of 163,774,999 shares in the Company.

(11) Tian Yee Capital Holdings Limited (BVI) is owned as 90% by Jiang Jun. Therefore,
Jiang Jun is deemed to be interested in a total of 163,774,999 shares in the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year has
been/was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one
of whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC,
the Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the
Group's employees.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
40.38% and 78.46% of the total sales and total purchases for the year,
respectively. The Group's largest customer and supplier accounted for
approximately 11.87% and 66.53% of the total sales and total purchases
for the financial year, respectively.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close
associates, or (ii) any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital),
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The utilisation status of the net proceeds from the Company's initial public
offering is set out on page 43 of this Annual Report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its Shares in the hands of
the public in accordance with the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable
date of the issue of this Annual Report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately RMB1.40 million (2017: RMB1.3 million).

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the Company had reviewed the Group’s annual

results for the year ended 31 December 2018 and provided advice and
comments thereon.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming 2019 AGM and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company. The Company
has not changed its auditor in any of the preceding three years.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions summarized in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 did not
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board

Jesper Bjoern MADSEN
Chairman

22 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B RBE RS

i
pwc B 5% Rk i

To the shareholders of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. BARKERERATRR
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RASHESIMKIOHBRARF)
OPINION 2R

What we have audited HEPEFETHAL

The consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (the FENE113E 259 BEFR/KERER DA
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 113 to ~ (A THEEIEAF ) REWBE AR (A TEH

259, which comprise: HEKE])NEEVBERE  EFREE:
e the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018; e RIE-NE+ZA=1—HBHHESL
BEREBR:
*  the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended:; s HEZBILFENGKEBHRE:
e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year s HERAUFENGARZENGEX
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then s HEZBILFENGREEREEHE

ended;
* the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended:; s HEZHIFENGARERER:
and N

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a s RAUBWMEWT BEFEZEHK

summary of significant accounting policies. KRR -
Our opinion EFHER

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair ~ &R A ZEEHP KRR BB
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December & E8|([ M EREER HEEMF
2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated ~ SRBEEERN T \E+_-_F=1+—
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International ARGEa B R KREBEZA LFER
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in ~ GAFBRBLEGEATERE VO ERE
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies (R MGG BB R T L AEE -
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

* Impairment of goodwill and investment in an associate

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BUBRRENRE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

E & E S
Impairment of goodwill and investment in an associate

Refer to Note 4, Note 10 and Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements

As at 31 December 2018, goodwill recognised in relation
to the acquisition of Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage
Development Co., Ltd. (“Tiandi Green”), a subsidiary
of the Group, amounted to RMB721 million; and the
investment in an associate that arose from the acquisition
of Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited (“Highland
Natural Water”) amounted to RMB1,387 million (with
goodwill relating to this associate amounting to RMB1,153
million). No impairment loss was provided based on
management’s impairment analysis.

We focused on the impairment of these areas due to the
followings:

—  the size of the goodwill/investment in an associate
balances;

— the management adopted “value-in-use” of related
cash generating units to determine the recoverable
amount of goodwill/investment in associate. Such
“value-in-use” determination involved significant
judgements made by management about the
future results of the business and the discount
rates applied to future cash flow forecasts. As the
assessment involved consideration of future events
and uncertainty, there was a risk that the judgement
was inappropriate.

AERERRBE ARINKE
F2HEEPBMKRMTS - HEE10 RHTEE12

RZZ-N\F+-_A=1+—H FHELEFEENELRA
BANSZERRERARAR([RERE])BANBESA
RE7.216T RMEUERRSRANKERAF([HRARA
KDEENNBERANKRERARE 13.87 B x(BZHE
AEEBNHEAARE11.53ET) - EREEENRESD
i REEHRREBRRES -

AR TIEBRRER - M INZFFHNRE -
- BE/MBERTREEHROMRE

- CHERAERRCELSBUNCREEIEENE/
REFERARENFATNE 5 - Z[EREEIEES R
B [E RTS8 MR RN & R B TR A FE R B0 B
REELNERAE - ARFHES REBRREH R
B wEEABIEORR -
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BRANENMAEERRETER

We discussed and evaluated the model used by
management in determining the recoverable amount for
the impairment analysis and verified the mathematical
accuracy of the cash flow model used to estimate value-
in-use.

We evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts
for Tiandi Green and Highland Natural Water, including
the reasonableness of the forecasts in the context of
historical results of the businesses and production
capacity, and comparing the parameters used with
independently obtained market data. We also assessed
the appropriateness of the discount rates and long-term
growth rates used and considered that they fell within our
range of independently obtained market data.

We obtained and evaluated management’s sensitivity
analysis to ascertain the impact of reasonably possible
changes and we performed re-calculation independently
for the downside changes in management’s sensitivity
analysis model, focusing on the most sensitive
assumptions, including annual revenue growth rate, long
term revenue growth rate, gross margin, discount rate
and government subsidy income.

We satisfied ourselves that management’s impairment
analysis was supported by evidence obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYLHMRE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHMBE RS M RRARNER

RANER  RUBBGAMBRERIET
FERNRFRERMEHOEMERHR
RABMGAREFRE  XHABRRMABEEN
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i I IR AR B B 5 kA BR RO B8 SRR v 1
RIEEK °

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

ERBEBREEIETETBREY R
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We @B TEIELIE - RIS TREZRAERE -
also: BT

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional

W\

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the .

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYLHMRE

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chong Heng Hon.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
GeEEAEBX

As at 31 December

Rt=-A=t+—-H

2018 2017
Restated*
—E-N\F —T—tF
feE
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B aE AR¥TR ARBETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Land use rights T b fsF FR#E 7 29,245 29,969
Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E") #1% - HiE &
(% BERRE]) 8 578,997 606,723
Intangible assets BEE 9 88,521 110,466
Goodwill BE 10 721,139 721,139
Investments accounted for using the FERAEREARNRE
equity method 12 1,574,938 1,326,300
Deferred tax assets EENIEEE 25 2,838 2,895
Prepayments SEENE O] 16 38,613 43,937
Financial assets at fair value through UARBEEBEEEHTA
other comprehensive income Hitira MR emEE
("FvoCl”) (U2 AEEFEEHSEHIA
HiimahBZmemEE)) 20 231,881 —
Financial asset at fair value through UARBENELHEEEH; ABR
profit or loss (“FVPL") HemEE(NAAEEFER
HeBHABRNEREE]) 19 11,517 —
Available-for-sale financial assets (“"AFS") AJ#tHE SR EE
((AftLELmEE]) — 65,297
Total non-current assets FERBEEHARE 3,277,689 2,906,726
* See Note 2.3 for details about restatement for changes in accounting policies.

* FRRSHBREDMERERNFE - AMF23-
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REEESER
As at 31 December
Rt+t=A=+-—H
2018 2017
Restated*
—E-N\F —T—tF
fE i *
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B &E AR¥TR ARBETT
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables [ E 55K 13 289,885 235,139
Prepayments FERIA 16 141,552 143,178
Prepaid enterprise income tax B EMEH 6,358 6,705
Other receivables and other assets Hi U kA& E 17 641,117 175,022
Inventories rE 18 99,160 75,613
Financial assets at fair value through UAnBEEEHEZEH; ABERE
profit or loss (“FVPL") HemEE([UAREETER
HEBHABZNEREE]) 19 179,278 —
Available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS") AIfEHESRMEE
((AftLEsmERE]) — 175,884
Cash and cash equivalents RekBR2EED 21 277,152 830,773
Total current assets REEEALH 1,634,502 1,642,314
Total assets wmEE 4,912,191 4,549,040
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of ERAHEEABGES
the Company
Share capital PR 22 21,363 21,363
Share premium B m B 22 1,206,829 1,206,829
Shares held for share award scheme AR R EIF B NG 23 (173,037) (158,868)
Other reserves Hib GG 24 177,924 186,037
Retained earnings BiF i 2,226,217 1,919,027
Total equity attributable to owners of AN R HE ABLESEHE
the Company 3,459,296 3,174,388
Non-controlling interests R 40 —
Total equity FERBE 3,459,336 3,174,388
* See Note 2.3 for details about restatement for changes in accounting policies.

* FHRESIHREDMEREROFE - AME23-
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
RERERER

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=t-H
2018 2017

Restated*
—EBE-N\F
AE L *
Note RMB'000 RMB‘000
Bt ARET T ARBET T
LIABILITIES =l
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank borrowings RITE 30 240,000 —
Deferred revenue WA 27 20,942 22,333
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHIBEE 25 15,255 18,572
Convertible bond - liability component A% EH— B EHD 31 — 432,340
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEER 276,197 473,245
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and notes payables ENESHENEE 28 78,721 92,841
Deferred revenue and advances received EIEUWA RIEWEFE K
from customers 27 2,373 27,498
Contract liabilities ERAE 26 21,225 —
Enterprise income tax payable e T PTG M 25,974 27,302
Accruals and other payables AR B AR EMENT 29 129,692 322,766
Bank borrowings RITIER 30 461,000 431,000
Convertible bond - liability component  A[# & EA — BEHH 31 457,673 —
Total current liabilities REEEAE 1,176,658 901,407
Total liabilities BEAE 1,452,855 1,374,652
Total equity and liabilities ERREEHEE 4,912,191 4,549,040
* See Note 2.3 for details about restatements for changes in accounting policies. * EHRASHHREMEUEIANFE B

fifFr2.3

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with — Filt4z & & E & & & & B BE KT KT 5= — 66 B3
the accompanying notes. Eo

The financial statements on pages 113 to 259 were approved by the Board ~ EH€0R_Z—hWF=ZA -+ _-HitEE

of Directors on 22 March 2019 and were signed on its behalf. REINZE29 BN BRELKEET o
WANG Dong £R LIU Chen 28
Director €% Director £%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SRBEER

Year ended 31 December

BE+t=-A=+-HLEE
2018 2017

gz [ R
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE ARETRT ARETT
Revenue from contracts with customers BEERKA 6 880,657 931,887
Cost of sales HEM AR 33 (400,528) (380,429)
Gross profit EF 480,129 551,458
Selling and distribution costs HENDHEER 33 (115,664) (120,336)
Administrative expenses THER 33 (89,631) (84,936)
Net impairment losses on financial assets SRMEERBERXFHE 33 (1,795) —
Other gains, net HAibFIG - F5E 32 69,009 46,497
Operating profit BERE 342,048 392,683
Finance income 2yl ey 31,855 27,957
Finance costs % E (42,105) (38,202)
Finance costs, net MER  F5 35 (10,250) (10,245)
Share of net profit of associates accounted  JE{L AR E AR
for using the equity method BN RIAEFEE 12 20,436 26,089
Profit before income tax B AT B 856 A1 7 352,234 408,527
Income tax expense TS &R 36 (34,702) (40,853)
Profit for the year FEEFE 317,532 367,674
Profit attributable to: 4GRS
- Owners of the Company —AREEBA 317,532 315,174
- Non-controlling interests — IR R S — 52,500
317,532 367,674
Earnings per share for profit attributable N2 F)#HA AL
to owners of the Company FHSRER
- Earnings per share (basic and diluted) -EREF(EXAREE)
(RMB cents per share) (BERAR%S) 37 12.68 12.32

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEREBER

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t+-HLFE
2018 2017

—E-N\E T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B sE AR¥T T AREFIT
Profit for the year FERNE 317,532 367,674
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hit2E(FR) W
Item that will not be reclassified BT RERET 7R
subsequently to profit or loss By EH
Currency translation differences SN EER 24 (18,455) 7,662
Items that may be reclassified subsequently — AIRBIEHWEFH L EE
to profit or loss BmfEH
Change in fair value of AFS AN ESREE
NREEEZS = (346)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for FEHEMtZE(BE) Wi
the year, net of tax MERHLE (18,455) 7,316
Total comprehensive income for the year FE&A2EKE 299,077 374,990
Attributable to: HER
- Owners of the Company —ARAHEBA 299,077 323,822
- Non-controlling interests e i — 51,168
Total comprehensive income for the year FE#ZEYE 299,077 374,990

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be b4 4 % 4 25 2% & £ BE BT BT 5F — 61

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. & e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MERRBHR

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARRARG
Shares held Non-
Share Share for share Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium  award scheme reserves eannings Total interests equity
Akt
kmitdl
Rx  BREEE  &ENRG  ReRE  GRME gt FERER  RE4E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00
ARBTT RETT  ARETT ARETT  ARMTT  ARETT  ARETR
Balance at 31 December 2017 MZE-tE+ZB=1-R
as originally presented W&8 - RELE5) 21363 1206829 (158868 191921 1913143 3174388 — 3174388
Change in accounting policy eHREEB(L3)
(Note 2.3) - - - (5,884) 5,884 - - -
Restated total equity as at RZZ-tEr=A=t-8
31 December 2017 fERfERaE 21,363 1,206,829 (158,368) 186,037 1919,027 3,174,388 - 3,174,388
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZ-NE-A-RiGR 21363 1206829 (158,868) 186,037 1919007 3174388 - 3174388
Profit for the year ERHIE - - - - 31752 31750 - 31752
Currency tranglation differences B - - - (18,455) - (18,455) - (18,455)
Total comprehensive income ERB2ENE
for the year - - - (18,455 317532 299,077 - 299,017
Appropriations to statutory RETARNES (W)
surplus reserve (Note 24) - - - 10382 (10342) - - -
Non-controling interests on WENBLRE N ARER
acquisition of subsidiary - - - - - - 4 40
Acquisition of shares under share ~ BERHEBHIRERR I 23)
award scheme (Note 23) - - (14,169) - - (14,169) - (14,169)
Balance at 31 December 2018 WoB-NETZR=t-BhHER 21,363 1,206,829 (173,037) 177,924 2,226,217 3,459,296 40 3,459,336
Balance at 1 January 2017 H-Z-tE-R-AlES 21363 120689 - 9200 1615205 3,122,599 7965 3,494,564
Profit for the year ERHE - - - - 315,174 315,174 52,500 367,674
Currency ransaton differences ~ JI¥AEEE = - - 7,662 - 7,662 - 7,662
Change n fair value of AFS THHELREELAERRY - - - 986 - 986 (1,332) (346)
Total comprehensive income EEGAAhE
for the year = = = 8,648 315,174 33822 51,168 374,990
Appropriations to statutory IR RBLES (W)
surplus reserve (Note 24) - - - 17,236 (17,236) - - -
Acquisiion of shares under share ~ RERGRBEEERA (M 23)
award scheme (Note 23) - - (158,868) - - (158,368) = (158,368)
Transaction with non-controlling &3 ARER 245
interests = = = (113,165) = (113165 (423,133)  (536,298)
Balance at 31 December 2017 RZZ-tErZA=t-RiER 21363 1,206,829 (158,868) 191,921 1913143 3174388 — 3174388

Ll R A i ak B B K R SRR B Y R — D

conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERESRER

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t+-BHLHFE

2018 2017

—E-N\E —T—+F
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
ik AR®T T ARETFTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETFHRER
Cash generated from operations REEHELENR S 39 247,365 518,761
Interest received BEUFIE 3,261 5,575
Interest paid [SAREESE (106) (202)
Income taxes paid BT FEE (38,963) (42,114)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHELNRERETE 211,557 482,020
Cash flows from investing activities REZHRER
Purchases of PP&E BEME  BELK (16,015) (17,955)
Cash received from government grants related EWEETEERBH
to fixed assets HF#EEIR S 1,641 —
Purchases of FVOC| BENAABENEEEES
ARG EBRNEREE (173,881) —
Purchases of FVPL (2017: AFS) BEUAAEBENEER
HEH A BRNeREE
(Z2—LF : e
SREE) (684,319) (600,600)
Proceeds from disposal of FVPL (2017: AFS) BEUNAABEFERE
BERABRNEREE
EFE(ZE—t5
AfHESREE) 703,475 591,315
Loans granted to third parties BYE=FRE (709,534) (438,201)
Repayments received from loans to third parties BRE=HER 336,016 469,571
Amounts advanced to third parties BENEZABHK (408,257) (110,450)
Payments received from third parties BWE=Hz0E 211,339 117,491
Loans granted to a related party & T Rak 7 308 (22,000) —
Amounts paid to a related party BB 208 (170,000) (30,000)
Amounts received from related parties B YR 5B 407,704 54,821
Cash acquired from acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WE—FHBAIESHNE S 45,751 —
Investment in associates RECERRINRE (297,500) —
Dividends received from an associate ELAUNGIRE ¢ 5 12 32,364 —
Net cash flows (used in)/from REZEH(FA)/EENBEER
investing activities B (743,216) 35,992
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+-BHLFE
2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note RMB'000 RMB‘000
ik AR®T T AREFT
Cash flows from financing activities METHRER

Proceeds from bank borrowings BITERETEHIE 706,000 186,000
Repayments of bank borrowings and interests ~ {EEHEITER LTI (450,108) (413,861)
Payments for shares bought back R B E R (14,169) (158,868)

Coupon interest payments relating to BARREFNRENK
convertible bond 31, 39 (26,882) (26,835)
Transaction with non-controlling interests BIFERER IR S (239,044) (297,254)
Capital injections from non-controlling interests  JE{RfRiEZS T & 40 —
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEFEMANELRETFE (24,163) (710,818)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HE&RBEESZEYNH FE (555,822) (192,806)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#R& KIREEEY 830,773 1,042,398
Exchange gains/(losses) 0B 5 Uizt (E18) 2,201 (18,819)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRESRESEEY 21 277,152 830,773

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LR &R E T 2 K 8 SRR M T — 1R
conjunction with the accompanying notes. & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
engaged in production and sales of water products and beer products
in PRC. The Group also provides lending services to third parties in
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC (“Hong
Kong”) with relevant license.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB"), unless
otherwise stated. These financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on 22 March 2019.

e MBRRME

—REH
ARARZZE-ZE+-—ANEAR
BRBERHEEEIMRLAE
HEBRDA) - MR FENBI R
Cricket Square * Hutchins Drive - P.O.
Box 2681 Grand Cayman ' KY1-
1111 » Cayman Islands ©

ARER—HRERKRIA - AEE
ERENEEEREEKERLEH
Eme AEBTRHPBEEESNTR
R(IEBDEERE =7REERR
BeERER -

ARAEBNE —T——F<A
RSP L o

_I_

BRIESBME  BRAZSWBHREN
ARB(TAR¥DEY -EF8ER
—E-NEFZAZ+-BHETIEZ
S BWE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Key events

In January 2018, the Company (through Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Shenzhen
Guangyuan Investment Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) entered into a partnership agreement (the “Partnership
Agreement”) to establish a fund named Zhuhai Guangyuan. Zhuhai
Guangyuan is a fund to invest in culture, entertainment, consumer
product, retail business and other related industries. Based on
the Partnership Agreement, Zhuhai Guangyuan is considered as a
subsidiary of the Company and it has been consolidated into the
Group's financial statements. As at 31 December 2018, total equity
contribution to Zhuhai Guangyuan by the Group is RMB3,600,000.
No investment activity has been carried out by Zhuhai Guangyuan as
at 31 December 2018.

On 6 December 2018, the Group acquired 25% of equity interests
of Fudi Packaging for a cash consideration of RMB187,500,000.
Fudi Packaging is a company specialising in the manufacturing and
distribution of bottle preforms and caps. No significant transaction
costs were incurred in the above acquisition. Given the equity
interests the Group acquired and the articles of association of Fudi
Packaging, the Group has right to participate in Fudi Packaging's
operational decision-making process. Accordingly, Fudi Packaging is
treated as an associate of the Group and the investment is accounted
for using the equity method.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

—RER(E)

EEEE

EZZE—NE—H ARF(BBA
BANBRK KRR —H2EHEB
AENERYTHEREEERAE D
X(ERER ) EREEHETEDR
BEl) UBUFTHESEZAKS
KE HKENBER-BHREE - R
2. HBL TEERHEMAETE
MES BEAEHE  HKELER
BARRBMKBLRR  YEAHA
AEBNPBERR - RZZT—N\F
+ZA=+—H £AEEHKELE
MEMLEBERAR3,600000
TeRZE-—NE+=-A=+—8"
FERRENRETEMBREED -

RZZB-NE+ZARE ~EE%K
BROBR2S%ED REKER
A K #187,500,0007C - @i B E R
—REMBERDHERERREN A
Ale P BIRELEBAZIFNK
Ko ERAKEMIKBED kB
BENERERMA XAEEFEZ
HEMBEENEERKRESF  BHit-
BHERFEERASENBEARA
A EAEDEANR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Key events (continued)

On 10 December 2018, the Group acquired 9% of the equity
interests of Shannan Yalaxiangbu for a cash consideration of
RMB178,200,000. Shannan Yalaxiangbu is a company specialising in
the manufacturing and distribution of water products. No significant
transaction costs were incurred in the above acquisition.

Based on the share purchase agreement, if Shannan Yalaxiangbu
could not meet certain conditions in 2019, the Group has the option
to sell the equity shares to the original shareholder; if such conditions
are met, the Group has the option to purchase additional shares
of Shannan Yalaxiangbu. These options are treated as derivative
financial products by the Group and recorded as FVPL on the balance
sheet. As at 31 December 2018, the amount of FVPL in relation to
the above options was RMB4,319,000.

The balance of the cash consideration paid amounting to
RMB173,881,000 was treated as FVOCI. Based on the equity interests
the Group acquired and the articles of association of Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, the Group has no control or significant influence
on Shannan Yalaxiangbu's operational decision-making process.
Management views the investment as long-term strategic investment.

FEMBHRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs and requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the revaluation of FVPL and FVOCI, which
are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2

TESHHRBE
RAZSEAUBRRFEANTR
SHHEREIMT - KRB BHEIN
ZEBRE—BUERARMEIINE
BREEE o

2.1 RUEE
ARRFEMBERERDRIEREER
BIfR 5 A R BB D BRDI(S
622F)MRERE  RERAREE
NEMUAREBEFELEZSHFA
BENTREENMARREBENER
HEFH ARG ANENEREE
BREELETAN  GRMBEHRERTS
R SL AN e ©

12 58 B % B 75 3 5 2 R A B S SRk
FREEAETERGHE - TEX
EEEBAERAAREMNSTBREE
HHE - B RB S A REREE R
BEIBELEFHEAVERRE
BANBBAMTANE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
2.2.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for
the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2018:

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (a)

. IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (b)

e (lassification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions — Amendments to IFRS 2

*  Annual Improvements 2014-2016 cycle

e Transfers to Investment Property — Amendments to IAS 40

* Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

The impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 is disclosed in
Note 2.3 and the new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.13
and 2.25. The other amendments and interpretations did not have
any impact on the Group's accounting policies and did not require
retrospective adjustments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

2.2.2 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2019 and have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. None of these is expected to have
a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group, except the following as set out below:

(i)  IFRS 16 Leasing

I[FRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised on the
balance sheet, as the distinction between operating and finance
leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use
the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised.
The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. The
accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption
date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the
year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets for property leases
will be measured on transition as if the new rules had always been
applied. All other right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount
of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued
lease expenses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
2.2.2 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)
(i) IFRS 16 Leasing (continued)

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group's
operating leases. As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of RMB578,000 (Note 40).

The Group's activities as a lessor are not material and hence the
Group does not expect any significant impact on the financial
statements. However, some additional disclosures will be required
from next year. Some of the commitments may be covered by
the exemption for short-term and low-value leases and some
commitments may relate to arrangements that will not qualify as
leases under IFRS 16.

Given the insignificant amount of operating lease involved,
management does not expect the adoption of IFRS 16 will have
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that
would be expected to have a material impact on the Group in
the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

2.3 Impact on the financial statements

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on
the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 IFEEHBEHMEE)

2.3 Impact on the financial statements (continued) 23 HUBRRNTEE)

As a result of the changes in the Group's accounting policies, prior HRAEEG R EEEE B
year financial statements have been restated. The following table EEEM%%&?EELTT@M° TR
shows the adjustments recognised for each individual line item. Line HREEBEEBANFE - TEFA
items that were not affected by the changes have not been included. IREHYENIER - EHEABET
The adjustments are explained in more detail by the notes below. NP E AR o

31 December

2017 31 December 1 January
As originally 2017 2018
presented IFRS 9 Restated IFRS 9 IFRS 15 Restated

“E-tF ERMR CE-EE ERME O ERME  —R-0F
tZR=t-B  HERM t-A=t-B BEREA BERY 0 -A-H
BRR25 £9% A&l #9% F15% AER

Note ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

Balance Sheet (extract) BEERER(ER) i ARBTE  ARMTRT AR%Trn AE%Tn ARETn  ARET:x
Non-Current assets ERBEE
FVPL AR BEGEEEEGHA
BREMEREE (a), (b) - - - 7,297 - 7,297
FvOC AR BEGEEEEGHA
HGARENLREE () - - - 58,000 - 58,000
AFS ARHESRAE 65,297 - - (65,297) — —
Current assets HBEE
FVPL WAL EE:EBEEEHA
BREMSREE B) - - - 175,884 - 175,884
AFS ARHESRHAE 175,384 - - (175,884) — —
241,181 - - - - 241,181
Current liabilities hBaE
Deferred revenue and advances EREUARBEUZEEH
received from customers 27,498 — - - (25,250) 2,248
Contract liabilities AREE (© - - - - 25,250 25,250
27,498 - - - - 27,498
Reserves i (a) 191,921 (5,884) 186,037 - - 186,037
Retained earnings Eedven 1,913,143 5884 1,919,027 - — 1,919,027
2,105,064 — 2,105,064 - — 2,105,064
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Impact on the financial statements (continued)
(a) Reclassification from AFS to FVPL

Investments in structured financial products were reclassified from
AFS to FVPL (RMB175,884,000 as at 1 January 2018 restated).
They do not meet the IFRS 9 criteria for classification at amortised
cost, because their cash flows do not represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Related fair value gains of RMB5,884,000
were transferred from the AFS reserve to retained earnings on 1
January 2018. For the year ended 31 December 2018, net fair value
gains of RMB4,959,000 (Note 32) relating to these investments were
recognised in profit or loss.

(b)  Equity investment previously classified as AFS

Investment in GT Express and China Railway Express Co., Ltd.
("CRE") that were previously classified as AFS, were reclassified to
FVPL and FVOCI as designated by the management. Fair value gains
of RMB4,220,000 (Note 32) was recognised in profit or loss from
investment in GT Express in the year ended 31 December 2018. The
management did not expect any significant change in fair value from
the investment in CRE for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Impact on the financial statements (continued)

(c) Reclassification from deferred revenue and advances received
from customers to contract liabilities

Contract liabilities for sales of water cards were previously presented

as deferred revenue. Contract liabilities for sales of water and beer

products were previously presented as advances received from

customers.

Reclassifications were made as at 1 January 2018 to be consistent
with the terminology used under IFRS 15. Contract liabilities for
progress billing were recognised in relation to the sales of products
that were previously presented as deferred revenue and advances
received from customers.

2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

2.4.1 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.5).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

TESTHHRBEE)

23 HUBBREROTEE)

(© HEEZUARBUEFFEHND
HERRERE

HEKFNERABELAKEINRE

A - HEKERREEERNA

REELARENABEREPR -

EHNBIR-_E-\F—HA—8#f
o AR BRI S 2RI S 1558 7R
THAREH - SHEEMER
MEERENARABELARZINNA
BEWARTERE P

24 EHRAIREZETER
24.1 WEBAA

B A Rl iE AN B A 1 il i Y

(BREGEEE)  WAKEH2 M
BHEB TG 20 mAERR K
R RENEAHZEBNED
FEZZOR AASEHZEER
BEGE - WBARBHEHRER
EAEEEARAFAR - TRES
BRIFE AREUEA AR -

==
=

Job m§ R

AEBERUBEEREL A KT
R (2RI 2.5)

ARAARR S - EH L EE A RR
RGPHARBHENE - HTUAEH - R
BREBITTUEE  EZRFER
BRRCEREELRBERR -
MEBLRMEHREERFTERE
HAE UEREAEEMRAEE
BERE—H



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)
2.4.2 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised
at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee
after the date of acquisition. The Group's investments in associates
include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)
2.4.2 Associates (continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to “share of
profit/(loss) of an associate” in the statement of profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed
to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of
profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

2.6 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive Directors that makes strategic
decisions for the Group.

2.8 Foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Group's presentation currency. The functional
currency of the operational entities located in the PRC is RMB, and
the Company's functional currency is Hong Kong dollar ("HKD").

(b)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings, payables
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss within “finance income, net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Useful lives
Buildings 12 to 40 years
Machinery 51015 years
Vehicles 3 to 8 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years
Others 10 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress (“CIP") represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction or pending installation and is stated
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the
costs of construction and acquisition and capitalised borrowing costs.
No provision for depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with
the policy as stated above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Intangible assets

2.10.1 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the
excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s interest in
net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the
entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

2.10.2 Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade
name over their estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Intangible assets (continued)

2.10.3 Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a
finite useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the distribution network.

2.11 Land use rights

All land in the PRC is state-owned and no individual land ownership
right exists. The Group acquired the rights to use certain land and the
premiums paid for such rights are recorded as land use rights, which
are stated at cost and amortised over the use terms of 50 years using
the straight-line method.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows CGUs. Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets

() Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through
other comprehensive income or through profit or loss), and

J those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income (“OCl"). For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

(i) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

(iii)  Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing assets and the cash flow
characteristics of assets. The Group applies the measurement shown
below to classify its debt instruments.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/
(losses), together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

(iii)  Measurement (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OClI,
except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss
and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

(iii)  Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised
in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

(iv)  Impairment

The Group's financial assets that are subject to the expected credit
loss model is trade receivables for sales of inventories. The Group
applies the IFRS9 simplified approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before 31 December
2018 or 1 January 2018 respectively and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macro-economic factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. The Group has identified the GDP and the
unemployment rate of the Mainland China to be the most relevant
factors given all sales customers of the Group are in Mainland China.
Accordingly, the Group adjusts the historical loss rates based on
expected changes in these factors.

The loss allowances determined on the above basis as at 31
December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was
insignificant given the Group did not have material credit loss arising
from trade and notes receivables historically and there is no such
forward-looking factors which will result in significant credit loss for
the Group based on management’s analysis.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than
2 years past due. Impairment losses on trade and notes receivables
are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

(iv)  Impairment (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9. The Group did not and is not expected
to have impairment from cash and cash equivalents because the
Group only transacts with reputable provincial banks and financial
institutions and listed in China mainland and Hong Kong and hence
the adoption of the new standard does not affect the determination
of allowance for cash and cash equivalents.

(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, but has elected not
to restate comparative information. As a result, the comparative
information provided continues to be accounted for in accordance
with the Group's previous accounting policy.

a.  Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
loans and receivables and AFS. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than
12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified
as non-current assets. The Group's receivables comprise “trade
receivables”, “other receivables”, “cash and cash equivalents” in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 (continued)

b.  Recognition and derecognition and Measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

C. Measurement

AFS is non-derivative that is either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless the investment matures or management intends
to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
AFS are subsequently carried at fair value. Changes in the fair value
of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-
for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the
accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included
in the statement of profit or loss as “other gains, net”. Interest on
available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as part of
other gains.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 (continued)

d.  Impairment

Loans and receivables

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and
where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017 (continued)

d.  Impairment (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as
an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

AFS

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists the cumulative loss
- measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss - is reclassified from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value
of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss
is reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the
assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists the cumulative loss
- measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss - is reclassified from equity
and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on equity instruments are not
reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Group or the counterparty.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets. See Note 2.13 and 3.1-(b) for further information
about group’s accounting for trade receivables and other receivables
and for a description of the Group's impairment policies.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

2.18 Share capital and shares held for share option scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the company's shares are acquired from the market by the
Bank of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market (including
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for
share award scheme.

2.19 Trade and notes payables

Trade and notes payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and notes payable are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade and notes payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Convertible bond (the “Bond”) issued by the Company that contain
both a liability and equity components are classified separately into
these respective items on initial recognition. The fair value of the
liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market
interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or maturity of the Bonds. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. The conversion option
is classified as equity since the Group has no contractual obligation
to deliver cash or another financial asset nor to deliver a variable
number of shares to settle the option. It is recognised and included in
shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the
entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part
of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss, which is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the
equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in
the countries where the Group operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is
realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences
arising from investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the
Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference
for associates. Only where there is an agreement in place that
gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference not recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.23 Employee benefits

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus,
allowances and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the
employee services. All employee benefit obligations are recognised
during the period when the services are provided, and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or included in the cost of the
related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits (continued)

(a)  Pension obligations - defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

(b)  Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.25 Revenue recognition

(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and
beer products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells bottle
preforms and caps. Sales are recognised when control of the
products has transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customers, the customers have full discretion over the channel
and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location; the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers are
made in form of water cards (“Water Cards Sales Arrangement”).
Under the Water Cards Sales Arrangement with the distributors, the
distributors sell the water cards to the end customers and use the
logistics network, which is designed by the Group with the Group's
long-term cooperative logistics suppliers, to deliver water products to
the designated locations at the request of the end customers when
the water cards are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant
logistics expenses are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has
ultimate obligations towards the card holders. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are recognised when the water
cards are redeemed by the end customers and the water products are
delivered, or when the water cards are expired, whichever is earlier.

(c) Interest income

The Group provides lending services to third parties in Hong Kong
with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related interest
income is recognised in a time proportion basis using effective
interest method.

(d) Rental income

Rental income from leasing of a production line is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Interest income recorded as finance income

Interest income arising from group entities that are not in the
business of providing lending services to third parties is presented
as finance income. Such interest income is arising from financial
assets that are held for cash management purposes. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities as deferred revenue and are
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases as lessee (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease. Rental received under operating leases as lessor (net of
any incentives given to the lessee) is recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.

2.29 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity,
on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at
the end of the reporting period.

2.30 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan, under which the entity receives services as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. For equity-settled share-
based payment transactions, the Group measures the goods or
services received, and the corresponding increase in equity, directly,
at the fair value of the goods or services received, unless that fair
value cannot be estimated reliably. If the Group cannot estimate
reliably the fair value of the goods or services received, the Group
shall measure their value, and the corresponding increase in equity,
indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is charged to the statement of profit or loss
when the services are received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.30 Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement
of profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. When
the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (and share premium).

2.31 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

* Dby the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(i) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

e the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that
would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how
these risks could affect the Group's future financial performance.
Current year profit and loss information has been included where
relevant to add further context.

3.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However,
the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from its cash
exchange transactions, which are primarily denominated in HKD.

To mitigate the impact of exchange rate fluctuations, the Group
continually assesses and monitors its exposure to foreign exchange
risk. During the year ended 31 December 2018, management did
not consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in
order to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk, because the
exposure, after netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign
exchange risk, is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net
assets of the Group would have been approximately RMB57,140,000
(2017: RMB61,244,000) higher/lower respectively, mainly as a result
of foreign exchange translation of the financial statements for the
Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose functional currency is
HKD; the post-tax profit for the year would have been RMB3,065,000
(2017: RMB2,490,000) higher/lower.

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held
at variable rates. During 2018 and 2017, the Group's borrowings
at variable rates were all denominated in RMB. At 31 December
2018, if interest rates on RMB-denominated floating-rate borrowings
had been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been RMB386,000 (2017:
RMB382,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating-rate borrowings.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

3

B RBERE)

3.1 MERBRERE)

(a) HHEEREGE)

() SMNEESR(E)
RZZE-NE+-A=+—0" BE
ARESBLRE,/FES%  MAT
EEMABRERETE  A&EF
BEBBEHAEM BRIHARE
57,140,000 (ZE—+F: AR®
61,244,0007C) * TEHBEARARE R
ENgeERABTNEENBARN
B BRENINEFE - FAREFE
#m,/ m AR 3,0650007 (=%
—+ &+ AR¥2,490,0007T) °

(i) HERERANEEFEELR
AEERFBE %E’U%%ﬂ/\$‘iﬁﬁ
RIS MAERRE - M D HIR)
Pﬁhmfﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ RZE— \$&
T—+F AEEHNZESEFIN
ARBEHEBE - R_Z—NF+=A
=t+—H WARBZEEFRHFE
EH/TH5%  MEMAAATERER
RETE  FAHBEFERLD B
MARE386,0007c(ZE—tF : A
R#382,0007T) * TEZHNEEE
HEFIBFAZEM B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

At 31 December 2018, the Group has bank borrowings amounting
to RMB296,000,000 (2017: RMB136,000,000) and convertible bond
of RMB457,673,000 (2017: RMB432,340,000) at fixed interest rates
and these expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at 31
December 2018, the carrying amounts of bank borrowings with fixed
interest rates approximated their fair value due to their short tenures
and the influence of fair value interest rate risk is marginal. If market
interest rate for the convertible bond had been 5% higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the fair value of the convertible
bond would have been RMB759,000 (2017 RMB2,141,000) lower/
higher. There was no impact on the Group’s post-tax profits or net
assets given the liability portion of the convertible bond is carried at
amortised cost.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables. The
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and
other receivables, represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to those financial assets.

Substantially all of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are held
in major financial institutions located in the PRC including the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, which management believes are
of high credit quality. There was no recent history of default of cash
and cash equivalents from such financial institutions/authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

The Group's trade receivables due from three single external
customers are approximately RMB131,890,000, representing 45%
of the balance of the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 December
2018 (2017: three single external customers; RMB95,049,000, 40%).
In view of the history of business dealings made with these three
customers and the sound financial position and reputation of these
three customers, management believes that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivables balance
due from these three customers. The Group’s other trade receivables
are due from other third parties. The Group performs ongoing
credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers/debtors
on an individual basis, taking into account their financial position,
past experience and other factors, and generally does not require
collateral from the customers/debtors on the outstanding balances.
Based on the expected realisation and timing for collection of the
outstanding balances, the Group maintains its provision for doubtful
accounts and actual losses incurred have been within management’s
expectation, and management believes that there is no material credit
risk inherent in the Group's outstanding trade receivables balances.
In the event that the Group fails to collect the outstanding trade
receivables due from the three single external customers, the Group's
financial position and operating results will be adversely affected.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has other receivables of
RMB641,117,000 (2017: RMB175,022,000) which are mainly loans
to several independent third parties amounting to RMB576,421,000
(2017: RMB140,194,000) and loan to associates amounting to
RMB22,877,000 (2017: RMB30,000,000). Management performed
credit evaluations of the financial conditions of the counter parties
and considered that these loans and cash advances will be repaid
on time with no collectability risks; management concluded that no
impairment provision was necessary accordingly. In the event that
the counter parties could not make payments on time or default their
payments, the Group's financial position and operating results will be
adversely affected.

There was no other financial asset carrying a significant exposure to
credit risk.

See Note 2.13 and Note 4-(c) for detailed disclosure on impairment
of financial assets.

See Note 15 for further disclosure on credit risk.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group's treasury function allows flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
position based on the expected cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HBEBREEE)
3.1 Finandial risk factors (continued) 31 HEREBRRZEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () FiEttEpEE)
(i) Financing arrangements () BEZH
The Group has no undrawn bank borrowing facilities as at 31 RZE-NFRZZT—tF+ZA
December 2018 and 2017. =t+—H AEETEHRERNR

TR -

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (i) THEEFHH

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities in relevant TERAMEEEBZA NI B A F
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance HRE DR BB AR A EE
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in MemBE RPABRENEESR
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. ERNTENARTRRERE ©

Less than

1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years

—FHUR —EWF MEZF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBET R AR®T R

Group TEH
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NF+=ZA=+—H
Bank borrowings RITER 473,300 108,810 158,820
Convertible bond i ES 473,345 — —
Trade and notes payables ERE SR RENRE

(Note 28) (Pf5E 28) 78,721 — —
Other financial liabilities Hihe@maE 111,198 — —
At 31 December 2017 R-Z2-tH+=ZA=1+-H
Bank borrowings RITIER 438,254 — —
Convertible bond AR ES 26,331 451,574 —
Trade payables (Note 28) FERE SR (KizE28) 92,841 — —
Other financial liabilities HinemBaE 279,926 — —
The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and RZE-NFRZZT—tF+ZA
2017. =t—RB AEETEIREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group’s capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings
from banks for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings
divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 UBEREEE)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 32 EXREREEE)
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: RZE-NFRZZT—tF+ZA
ST-HWBEEABLEMT :
As at 31 December
W+=A=+-H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —TtF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AR®ETT
Bank borrowings (Note 30) RITEHK(PHEE30) 701,000 431,000
Convertible bond-liability component AaikES - aEB M (ME31)

(Note 31) 457,673 432,340
Total equity =B 3,459,336 3,174,388
Total capital BB 4,618,009 4,037,728
Gearing ratio BEEABILE 25.09% 21.38%
3.3 Fair value estimation 33 DAREEMGE
This section explains the judgements and estimates made in AEBMETRAABERTB®RE
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are NERLENERIANRAAEBE
recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements. B P VR ) B R (5t
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (a) ALAEEER
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in ABHEEAAEBEMAHAZED
determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments AEREER AEERESER
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An HEMESRIAEDAZE - TER
explanation of each level follows underneath the table. ZEEIRMT
The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured TREINAEER-_ZT-NFR_F
and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2018 and 2017 on a —tFT AT HEREEEEN
recurring basis: RABEFELEANEHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HMERBRERE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 QAREEME)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) AREEERE)
Level 3
B3IE
RMB'000
Recurring fair value measurements REMDNAEETE ARBT R
At 31 December 2018 R-Z2-N\E+=-A=+—H
Financial Assets SHEE
AR BEEEEZHTABEN
FVPL STREE
— Investments in structured financial products —RENERMEEYER 19 174,959
— Investment in GT Express - RENBERER 19 11,517
— Embedded derivative asset —BARITEEE 19 4,319
190,795
UARBEEAEZEH T ALME
FVOC| eRENEREE
— Investment in CRE —RENPHEIRE 20 58,000
— Investments in Shannan Yalaxiangbu —EBERUERLER 20 173,881
231,881
Total financial assets BEREE 422,676
Recurring fair value measurements REMDAEETE
At 31 December 2017 R-E—t&+=-A=+—AH
AFS AtEHESREE
— Investments in structured financial products —RERERBEEMER 175,884
— Investment in CRE — R ERPERE 58,000
— Investment in GT Express —RENRERER 7,297
Total financial assets MEBMEE 241,181
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The table above analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted (unadjusted) market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted marked price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the—counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 UBEREEE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 33 DAEEMGEE)
(b) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable b) FEHEAFTHEBALEZ L
inputs (level 3) REEFTE(EIE)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for TREINBE-_Z-\RZZE—+F
the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017: TZA=+—BIEFEEIBTANE
&) :
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-—H
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFT
Opening balance F&EE 241,181 186,230
Additions NE 858,200 625,297
Disposals HE (703,475) (589,604)
Net gains recognised upon disposal HERERN K FEMF19%32)
(Note19 & 32) 17,591 19,604
Fair value changes recorded in SARMAEHRABER
other gains (Note19 & 32) (MEE19 % 32) 9,179 —
Fair value changes recorded in OCI FARMERE RSN AN EEE S = (346)
Closing balance FREH 422,676 241,181

(c)  Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department performs the valuation of the
financial assets for financial reporting process, including Level 3 fair
value. Management engages external valuation experts to facilitate
the fair value evaluation as and when necessary. The valuation
considers the equity investment business performance in comparison
with competitors in the same industry, as well as the valuation report.
Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties (including assumptions
about credit default rates) are derived from credit risk ratings
determined by the Group’s internal credit risk management group.
Discussion of valuation process and results are held between chief
financial officer and the finance team member that is responsible for
the valuation.

() KEzZiBEEF
AEEVBHPIRMBERBETH
MEEETHEBEEIEAAE
1#) - %ﬁﬁﬁf\\ﬁa@‘?ﬁ% 2 BB INED
EEREARABETMG -HEZE
?'J@ilﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ?hh@Z%ﬁé&;ﬁ
EBRERBUARGERSE - RHEFH
HERBAZ(BEEBERROXN
R HAEERNBEARRER )
HETHERARREREGL - EFEH
i‘%?@%éﬁiﬁ,\ﬁfﬁﬁ’lﬁﬁkl KB g
HILERF RERETR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Depreciation and amortisation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual residual value and useful lives of plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where residual value or useful lives are less than previous estimates,
or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. The current estimated
useful lives are stated in Note 2.9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.

Dividends derived from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
5%-10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out
of its subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has
been provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are
expected to be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

() Impairment review

(i) Goodwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary — Tiandi Green
(Note 10)

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any

impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note

2.10.1.

based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use

The recoverable amounts of CGU have been determined

of estimates.

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the
goodwill impairment review and the impacts to the value-in-use
calculations upon unfavourable movements of the key assumptions:

Assumptions used

P R

Compound annual revenue growth rate 4.7%~10.4%
EEFRARRE
Long-term growth rate
REERE

Gross margin

EHE

Pre-tax discount rate
TATBE IR &

Government subsidy income

4.0%

46.1%~47.0%

15.2%

Continued government
subsidy income from
2019 onwards
EGEEEETON BZZ-hE
BRI A

Based on management’s analysis, the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green will not suffer impairment loss upon
happening of any one of the above mentioned changes of key

assumptions.
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Movement of
key assumptions
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Decrease by 1%
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Decrease of
value-in-use

(RMB'000)
EREERS
(AR®F )

53,604

1%

Decrease to 3%

76,615

THRE3%

Decrease by 5%

191,481

5%

Increase to 16.2%

114,064

EINE16.2%

Discontinued government

26,105

subsidy income from
2019 onwards
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

() Impairment review (continued)

(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water

The Group engaged an independent valuer to perform impairment
analysis for investment in Highland Natural Water when there is any
indicator for impairment noted in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.6 and Note 2.12. The recoverable amounts of
CGU have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These

calculations require the use of estimates.

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the
impairment review for investment in Highland Natural Water and the
impacts to the value-in-use calculations upon unfavourable changes

of the key assumptions:

Compound annual revenue
growth rate

BAFRAERE

Long-term growth rate
REERX

Gross margin

EFE

Pre-tax discount rate
BRI B &

Government subsidy income

ZGFRETHTON

Assumptions used

Fr R BR

24.0%~28.1% from
2019 to 2021;

7.3% ~ 24.6% from
2022 to 2026
—E-NEFETF
24.0%~28.1% :

R CFETCRF
7.3%~ 24.6%

3.0%

55.4%~58.5%

12.5%

Continued government
subsidy income from
2019 onwards

B NFie
HERAHAKRA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

4 BESHETRHEE)

(0)

BEER ()

(i) RBELET-BREAAKGRE

BREHE26 MM E2.128 5 K
EAREERHETRE - K35 A8
VA AR R RRAKNREETR
BN - ReELEUNAT KD SR
RREREENENAET - ARG

BRERfhE -

Movement of
key assumptions

IRRRED

Decrease by 1%

TE1%

Decrease to 2%
TREZE2%
Decrease by 5%
TFE5%

Increase to 13.5%
EINE13.5%

Discontinued government

subsidy income from
2019 onwards

B NFi
CIINEGEEEET I ON

TREARBRRAKNRE R RE
EHRANEIERRLTIERR
BANEHRHEREEHENTE

Decrease of
value-in-use

(RMB’'000)
ERAEERD
(AR®T )

236,327

89,614

340,184

172,928

11,744
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

Based on management’s analysis, the negative movements of the
key assumptions in the table above are unlikely to happen and thus
no impairment loss is noted for the investment in Highland Natural
Water for the year ended 31 December 2018 (Note 12).

(i)  Trade and other receivables

Management assesses the impairment of trade receivables according
to the expected credit loss model. See Note 2.13 for a description
of the Group's impairment policy. Based on management’s best
estimates, trade receivables amounting to RMB1,833,000 were
impaired as at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB38,000) (Note 13).

For other receivables, management performed credit evaluations
of the financial conditions of the counter parties and considered
that these loans and cash advances will be repaid on time with
no collectability risks. Management concluded that no impairment
provision was necessary accordingly.

Where the basis of judgements and estimates is different from the
initial assessment, such differences will impact the provision for
impairment and the carrying values of the trade and other receivables
in the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive Directors that are used to make
strategic decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i)  Water segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling a
range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling bottle
preforms and caps to an associate and a third party in the PRC, and
providing lending services to third parties in Hong Kong with relevant
license.

(i)  Beer segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in
the PRC through wholesales.

The executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on review of their revenue, cost of sales and gross
profit.

(b)  Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between
both segments. The revenue from external parties reported to the
executive Directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the statement of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the executive Directors with respect of total
assets and total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with
that of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRERME
5  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 ZoHMERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
The segment information provided to the executive Directors for the BE_ZT-)\F+-HA=1+—BIL#F
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as B HTESERUNEHETZRD
follows: B HERDAT -
Inter-
Water Beer  segment
segment  segment elimination Total
KaE  EELE  oEHEME @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR%®TR AR®BTR AR®T:R
Total segment revenue DI A 4BEE 539,501 348,518 (7,362) 880,657
Cost of sales SHE AR 226,361 181,529 (7,362) 400,528
Gross profit for the year FEER 313,140 166,989 — 480,129
Share of profit from associates JE (B 2 B ) 20,436 — — 20,436
Net impairment losses on ERMAEERMBERAFE
financial assets — (1,795) — (1,795)
Adjusted EBITDA* RRENSTRITE R
AR * 252,197 189,599 — 441,79
Finance income s 12,071 19,784 — 31,855
Finance costs HisER (35,154) (6,951) — (42,105)
Depreciation and amortisation e R iy (25,694) (53,618) = (79,312)
Profit before tax BRPTIS BT FIE 203,420 148,814 — 352,234
Income tax expenses 3T &R (22,973) (11,729) — (34,702)
Profit for the year FERE 180,447 137,085 — 317,532
* Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation * FLE Bl - B E AN S AT 60 M e
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5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

5 ZoHERE)
(b) ZEERKE (&)

Water Beer
segment segment Total
KD 88 2 & gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T R ARBT R
Segment total assets DEBEE 3,389,461 2,308,455 5,697,916
Investments accounted for FREREAENEE
using the equity method 1,574,938 — 1,574,938
Unallocated ADE
FVPL URAEEAEEEZHHA
BRMeREE 190,795
FVOCI URAEEAEEEZHHA
Hipira RamnemEE 231,881
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBE E 2,838
Corporate assets PREEE 30,614
Inter-segment elimination 7> B eI 8 (1,241,853)
Total assets HWEE 4,912,191
Segment total liabilities DEEEE 1,458,808 218,992 1,677,800
Unallocated RO E
Deferred tax liabilities EREFIBEE 15,255
Corporate liabilities TEAE 465,355
Inter-segment elimination o BRI (705,555)
Total liabilities HmeE 1,452,855
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 ZoHMERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
The segment information provided to the executive Directors for the BE_ZT—+tHF+-_HA=1+—BIL#F
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2017 is as B BOESERENEHETZES
follows: B HERDAT -
Inter-
Water Beer segment
segment segment elimination Total
Ko BESE o IBEME mst
RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETET
Total segment revenue DE WA 4BEB 569,863 368,938 (6,914) 931,887
Cost of sales SHE AR 197,746 189,597 (6,914) 380,429
Gross profit for the year FEER 372,117 179,341 — 551,458
Share of profit from associates JE (B2 B ) 26,089 — — 26,089
Adjusted EBITDA RABNERINER
BHRTAE 280,275 216,384 — 496,659
Finance income s 15,745 12,212 — 27,957
Finance costs BER (28,246) (9,956) — (38,202)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (23,895)  (53,992) — (77,887)
Profit before tax BR BT 15 5% B M 243,879 164,648 — 408,527
Income tax expenses 3T &R (26,062) (14,791) — (40,853)
Profit for the year FEERH 217,817 149,857 — 367,674
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5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

NOTES TO THE CO

5

NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

TEER(E)
(b) ZEHERKEE)

Water Beer

segment segment Total

KB 12 2 FEEy

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFIT AREFIT ARET T

Segment total assets DEBEE 2,921,108 2,313,375 5,234,483

Investments accounted for FREDEARNKE

using the equity method 1,326,300 — 1,326,300
Unallocated RO

AFS AEHEEREE 241,181

Deferred tax assets RIEFHIEEE 2,895

Corporate assets TEEE 103,733

Inter-segment elimination 2 BT il 5 (1,033,252)

Total assets HEE 4,549,040

Segment total liabilities DEBEE 1,050,458 362,552 1,413,010
Unallocated RO

Deferred tax liabilities RIERTEEE 18,572

Corporate liabilities TtEEE 440,024

Inter-segment elimination 2 BB E (496,954)

Total liabilities wmeE 1,374,652

Entity-Wide information EREELSH

Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 6.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were derived in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets are all located in the PRC as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

HRAERIB 7 0 BN BR AR BRI RE 6 ©

HE_E-N\FE-_Z—+F+-A
Z+—BUFEEAEEIINBEFRUW
ANBHBIEE -

RZE-NER=-_ZT—+tF+=A
Zt—H dRPEEEMIANE
ERIBEERIN NP E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

Entity-Wide information (continued)

During the year 2018, sales of approximately RMB104,516,000
(2017: RMB102,699,000) are derived from an associate in the water
segment, shown in Note 41. Sales of approximately RMB89,757,000
(2017: RMB56,119,000) are derived from one single external
customer in the water segment.

6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 6

Revenue from external customers are derived from the sales of water
products and beer products. The Group also sells bottle preforms
and caps, leases a bottled water production line, and provides
financing services to third parties in Hong Kong with relevant license.
Breakdown of the revenue is as follows:

PEER(E)

(b) PHBEREEE)
ERaGEEH(E)

RZZE—N\F Ko HHEENARKE
104,516,000C(Z T —tF: AR
%102,699,000 7T ) 2K B A —fEHE & A
7 R A c KD PEENAR
#89,757,000L(Z B —+F: AR
#56,119,0007C ) K B A — B B —4h
HBER -

BEFARBA
SMEPEFHMARBREEKEmMR
WHEER  AKBETEERLRRE
FHB—RREKEER  LBHEME
B AImEEE = IRERERS -
AR -

Year ended 31 December

BZ+-A=t+-ALEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTFT

Sales of water products IKEmIEE 429,633 465,307
Sales of beer products 08 R H 341,156 362,024
Sales of bottle preforms and caps MAERREHEE 103,201 100,648
Rental of a bottled water production line MERRKEER(HE41)
(Note 41) 2,063 2,051
Interest income from financing Pt a8 ARG 2 £ B0 AL S A
services provided 4,604 1,857
880,657 931,887

Revenue from external customers of the Group were derived in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LAND USE RIGHTS

FEMBHRRME

+ i fE B8

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLHFE
2018 2017

—E-N\E
RMB'000 RMB‘000
ARETR ARETIT
At beginning of year F1 29,969 30,693
Amortisation charge (Note 33 & 39) BB A (33 %39) (724) (724)
At end of year FR 29,245 29,969

The Group's interests in land use rights represent operating lease
assets. All of the Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and
each has a lease period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2018, land use rights with net book value
of RMB992,000 (2017: RMB29,892,000) were pledged for bank
borrowings (Note 30).

AGRELIFERAENERIELETRE
BE - ARERELEREGUR
FE HEHRHAS0F -

W_E—-NF+-_A=+—8"  EE
FEAARE2000T(ZT—+
F 0 AR #29,892,0007T) H) L0 (F
RARERHER TRTER(HFE30) »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FENBHRRMT
8  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 8 W% BMERREME
Construction
Buildings ~ Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total
B¥ HE 1] Ry ERIE )
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETL ARETn ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETn
At 1 January 2017 R-E-tE-A-H
Cost B 156,697 706,915 3,152 53,204 57,639 977,607
Accumulated depreciation 2iNE (36,3260 (296,470) (2,158) (20,955) —  (355,90)
Impairment (a) () - 2,311) - - - (2,311)
Net book amount BHFE 120,371 408,134 994 32,249 57,639 619,387
Year ended 31 December 2017 BEZZ-tf
TZR=t-BLEE
Opening net book amount ENEmEE 1020371 408,13 99 249 51639 619387
Additions e 2,390 6,854 403 1,917 30,849 42 413
Transfer upon completion TRk 33 13,428 - - (13,760) -
Reclassification between categories Rl HERIE
- Cost -{E 30,884 - - (30,884) - -
- Accumulated depreciation -ZiE (6,354) - - 6,354 - -
Depreciation charges (Note 33 & 39) HEBR(ME33R39) (5474)  (47,866) (170) (1,567) - (55,077)
Closing net book amount EXBEFE 142,149 380,550 1227 8,069 74728 606,723
At 31 December 2017 RZF-tE+ZR=1-A
Cost iR 190,303 127197 3,555 24,237 74,728 1,020,020
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (48,154)  (344,336) (2,328) (16,168) - (410,986)
Impairment (a) () - 231) - - - 2,31)
Net book amount REFE 142,149 380,550 1,227 8,069 74,728 606,723
Year ended 31 December 2018 BEZZ-0\%
TZR=t-ALEE
Opening net book amount FNEEFE 142,149 380,550 1,227 8,069 74,728 606,723
Additions e — 5,274 182 1,218 21,470 28,744
Transfer upon completion TkEE - 12,981 - - (12,981) -
Depreciation charges (Note 33 & 39) HEBR(ME33R39) (6,354)  (48,402) (439) (1,275) - (56,470)
Closing net book amount EXEAFE 135,795 350,403 1,570 8,012 83,217 578,997
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZF=1-H
Cost R 190,303 745,452 4,337 25,455 83,217 1,048,764
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (54,508)  (392,738) 767 (17.443) —  (467,456)
Impairment (a) () - 2,311) - - - 2,311)
Net book amount REFE 135,795 350,403 1,570 8,012 83,217 578,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(@) Certain idle machineries with the cost amounting to
RMB2,978,000 (2017: RMB2,978,000) were considered obsolete
before 2012, and an impairment provision of RMB2,311,000
(2017: RMB2,311,000) had been made accordingly based on
the assets’ fair value less costs to sell.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
follows:

8

FEMBHRRME

ME - BERREE)

(@ MZT—ZFh  KARARKE
2,978,000 L(ZE—+tF : AR
#2,978,0007T ) WA T H B #
BWRIERE  URBEENA
AEBEREEXNSEEELAR
#2,311,000(ZF — £ F:
AR #2,311,0007T ) B0 {8 #
=

WE - BEER
Ba Rk -

RENMEERGA
FEOT

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+-BLEE
2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETT

Cost of sales SHE KR 52,130 50,469
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER 35 51
Administrative expenses THER 4,305 4,557
56,470 55,077

As at 31 December 2018, the Group was in the process of applying
for registration of the ownership certificates for certain of its
buildings with an aggregate net book value of approximately
RMB322,000 (2017: RMB341,000). The executive Directors are of the
opinion that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or
use these properties.

Interest of RMB3,559,000 has been capitalised in assets under
construction for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB2,611,000). Interest was capitalised at the weighted average rate
of its general borrowings of 3.40% per annum (Note 35).

RZE-NFE+ZA=+—8 K&
BIEFBEREFENARB 322,000
T(ZE—+F: AR®%341,0007T)
METEFRENEMEEEERL -
HITEERALNEBERRESEAERE
AsERZENE -

BE-ZT-\F+ZRA=1+—HLHF
B TRIBEEERNMAMBEAAR
#3,559,000 (=T —tF : AR
2,611,0007T)  F B3R — M & 5N
FHEFE3.40% EAL(FIRE3S) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2018, buildings with net book value of

RMB31,352,000 (2017: RMB101,291,000) was pledged for bank
borrowings (Note 30).

The category of machinery includes production line leased by the
Group to a related party under operating leases with the following
carrying amounts:

ME - BERREE)
R-ZE-NE+-_A=+—8" &k
HFEAARK31,352,000t (=%
—+F : AR¥101,291,0007T) i
FERKER T RITER(HE30)

BENDPEBEALSERELLHE
m— 2@ EANEESR  REF
BT :

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—-HILEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—+F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFT

Cost BN 37,145 37,145
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January R—A—HBRFHE (20,417) (18,015)
Depreciation charge for the year FETEER (2,402) (2,402)
Net book amount RESE 14,326 16,728
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

9 HBFEE

Trade Distribution Information
Name Network System Total
[ DB EEEK #mst
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000
ARETR AR%Tx AR¥Tn AR%Tx
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-Z2—tF
tTZA=t-HL#FE
Opening net book amount FORESE 47,065 85,487 — 132,552
Amortisation charge BB A (33 &%39)

(Note 33 & 39) (3,198) (18,888) — (22,086)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 43,867 66,599 — 110,466
Year ended 31 December 2018 BEZ-F-N\%

TZA=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FOEREFE 43,867 66,599 — 110,466
Acquisition of a subsidiary WK B AF — — 173 173
Amortisation charge BB A (33 &%39)

(Note 33 & 39) (3,198) (18,888) (32) (22,118)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 40,669 47,711 141 88,521

Amortisation of approximately RMB3,230,000 (2017: RMB3,198,000)
is included in the “Administrative expenses” and RMB18,888,000
(2017: RMB18,888,000) is included in “Selling and distribution costs”

in the statement of profit or loss.

#) A R #3,230,000T ) # (= F
—+ F: AR ¥3,198,0007T ) it
ABZENTRERA] MARKE
18,888,000 THI#H( =T —+HF : A
R 18,888,000 7T ) st AB R W[ 34
ERDEERA] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
188 G b: Lk

10 GOODWILL 10 EHE

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-A
2018 2017
S

RMB'000 RMB'000
elagd =rTe

Goodwill P 721,139 721,139

The goodwill of RMB721,139,000 was generated from acquisition of AR 721,139,000t EBEER
a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014. Tiandi Green was viewed —E-MERBETREENER
as one CGU within the beer segment. The recoverable amount of o R ERERTERED A
the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These —EReELEN - REELEUDN
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial AREeBENERNEREENTEE
budgets approved by management covering an eight-year period o ZEHEFATEREREM]E
when optimum market share is expected to be reached. Cash flows B BETHRERAEEZEIRETS
beyond the eight-year period are extrapolated using the estimated EMN\FHEOMEEEN AR
growth rates. EnEEA - BRENFHENRER

BB AMFHEREHRNA o

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

10  GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 10 EEE)
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2018 and “E-)\FRZE-—LFEAEEN
2017 are as follows: HEMEANEERSRMAT
2018
—E-N\F
Compound annual revenue BAFRAERE 4.7%~10.4% 1.4%~8.3%
growth rate
Long-term growth rate REEREK 4.0% 4.0%
Gross margin EFE 46.1%~47.0% 47 7%
Pre-tax discount rate BRI AL IR & 15.2% 15.4%
Government subsidy income BUT AR UA Continued Continued
government subsidy government subsidy
income from income from
2019 onwards 2018 onwards
B-ZE-hF# BT \Fi
BEBUTRERERA FEBRAABA
Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past WABRERENEDREBERR
performance and management's expectations of market development. FEBBHMSERNBSMGE -
The long term growth rates used are estimated with reference to FTANRMEREIZ2ETERAG
industry forecasts. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects e TAMBREARAIMRR R
specific risks relating to the business. BB BN TR o
The Directors are of the view that there was no impairment of EERR/N_ZE-N\FRZZ—LF
goodwill as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. TZA=T-HBBLELERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

11

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group
as at 31 December 2018:

Company name

AR
Indirectly held:
BRRE .

Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry
Co, Ltd.
RRPREEEEERARDA

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Co., Ltd.
FEKESKERAE

Beijing 5100 Management
Consulting Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as
Beijing 5100 Enterprise
Planning Club Co., Ltd.)

IRA-ZREEENARLA
(MBERL-T20E%E
BEBERAA])

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Marketing Co., Ltd.

o

BREKIBR K EHERA

Place/date of incorporation/

type of legal entities
MR/ AE/

EERRRY

PRC/1 January 2004/Limited
liability company
PE/-FENE-F-RB/
ERAA

PRC/31 October 2005/Limited
liability company

T8/ -FFRETA=T-H
/ERAT

PRC/13 July 2007 Limited
liability company

hE/_ERLELATZR/
£BLF

/;

A

=l
eall]

PRC/21 April 2010/Limited
liability company

et

hE/-F-ZEMA-+-H
/ERAR

pell]
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Issued/paid-in capital

BRf/RARE

2018
—2-N\F

USD16,000,000
16,000,000 % 7%
RMB118,000,000
N

118,000,000 70
RMB1,000,000

N
1,000,000 7

RMB3,000,000

N
3,000,000 70

11 KHBAF

RZZE-N\F+-A=1+—0 &

EERTEMBRARMNBENT :

USD16,000,000 100%
16,000,000 % 100%
RMB118,000,000 100%
AEE 100%
118,000,000
RMB1,000,000 100%
ARH 100%
1,000,007
RMB3,000,000 100%
AR 100%
3,000,000

Effective interest held

B

2017 2018
—z-1r R

2017
3-tE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

TEED

Investment holding

RERR

Water products
manufacturing and sales

RERFEAER

Water products market
operation and management

KEmmHEERER

Water products marketing,
promotion, distribution
and retailing

S5 KR HHRTEK
Em



11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Company name

S
Indirectly held’:
FERE

Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage
Development Co., Ltd.

BRAMSGERRERARAA

Wealth Keeper Ltd.

Wealth Keeper Ltd.

Tibet 5100 Water Resources
(HK) Ltd.

AESI0KER(EH)ERAA

Hong Kong Fairly Well
Capital Limited
BETEERERAA

Zhuhai Guangyuan Huijin
Equity Investment Fund
(Limited Partnership)

KEtEESREREES
(BE&%)

Place/date of incorporation/

type of legal entities
HRRLLE/ Y/

RRAEE

PRC/28 April 2009/Limited

liability company

P8/ FEAEBAZTR

/BRAT

Hong Kong/30 October 2012/
Limited liability company

&#/Z5-ZETA=TH/

ERAT

Hong Kong/6 September 2013/

Limited liahility company

&%/-F-=FnArR/
ERAA

Hong Kong/23 May 2016/
Limited liability company
&%/ZF-FRAT=H
/BRAR

PRC/12 January 2018/

Limited partnership

"8/ -F-N\§-At2B/
BRa

I8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

11 KMBARGE)

Issued/paid-in capital Effective interest held  Principal activities

BRfT/RARK RRfERE

2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\% ZE-tF EeelgtE —E2-+F

TERY

RMB200,000,000  RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Beer manufacturing
and sales
ARH ARE 100% 100% BELEREE
200,000,000 200,000,007
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
187 1T 100% 100% REZK
HKD100 HKD100 100% 100%  Investment holding and
raw material purchases
and sales
10087 10057 100% 100% REZRREERH
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Lending service
187 1ET 100% 100% HERE
RMB 182,000,000 — 98.9% —  Investment in culture,
entertainment, consumer
product, retail business and
related industries
AE# - 98.9% - X 5 EER-
182,000,000 SEXRRIEEIERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

12 ERESREARNRE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLHFE
2018 2017

—E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R AREFT
Opening net book amount FEREFE 1,326,300 1,307,508
Additions (a) NE (a) 306,930 —
Share of profits (Note 39) FEAG T (FiI3E39) 20,436 26,089
Transfer to AFS EREIHEESREE = (7,297)
Transfer to a subsidiary (b) EEE—FEINE AT (b) (46,364) —
Paid of dividend (c) ERERE () (32,364) —
Closing net book amount EREEFE 1,574,938 1,326,300

(a)

On 12 June 2018, the Group acquired 3.981% of the equity
interests of Highland Natural Water for a cash consideration
of RMB119,430,000. No significant transaction costs were
incurred in the above acquisition. Taking into consideration of
all past acquisitions, the Group held 43.981% of equity shares
in Highland Natural Water and accounted for it using the equity
method. Goodwill of RMB1,153,407,000 has been identified in
the investment in Highland Natural Water.

On 6 December 2018, the Group acquired 25% of equity
interests of Fudi Packaging for a cash consideration of
RMB187,500,000. Fudi Packaging is a company specialising in
the manufacturing of bottle preforms and caps. No significant
transaction costs were incurred in the above acquisition. Given
the equity interests the Group acquired and the articles of
association of Fudi Packaging, the Group has right to participate
in Fudi Packaging’s operational decision-making process.
As such, the Group treats the investment as an investment
accounted for using the equity method.
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RZE-—NFRAT-H A&
B LA AR ¥ 119,430,000 Y 3R
SREWESRRAK381%
Bk - EEBEY BELAS A
RGMA - BT RFTB BRI
B AEERAERRXAKD
43.981% = M 15 I {F A #E
wABEAR - RERRAKD
RER  BEBINEEAAR
#1,153,407,000 7T ° .

RZE-NF+ZAARHB ' K
SEUARE 187,500,000 LAY
ReRERBRIHEE25%RK
o mMeER—BFEINEE
MEFRER QR o LidiEYw
BELEEARHKAR - EREAE
B A IR R R B AR AR A
ERMA - AEEEELHEEN
BRMNEERERF - Bt - K
SERZEERFRAEREAR
FIRE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

(b)

In August 2018, 5100 Mineral Water purchased its own
equity shares held by China Kweichow Moutai Winery (Group)
Co., Ltd. based on the fair value of the shares at the date of
purchase. These “stock shares” were then cancelled by 5100
Mineral Water. After this action, 5100 Mineral Water became
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. As such, the related
investment in 5100 Mineral Water was recorded as investment
in a subsidiary.

In 2018, an associate, Highland Natural Water declared cash
dividends. The Group received RMB32,364,000 cash dividends
according to the percentage of the shares held by the Group.

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in

Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the investment is

determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use

pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by

management covering an eight-year period when optimum market

share is expected to be reached. Cash flows beyond the eight-year

period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate.

FEMBHRRME

12 ERESREARNRKRE (£)

(b)

RZZE—N\FENA 5100ER
KEERPEEMNFSBR(E
B)ERETRARFENAELRY
BERO(BEZSZRNNEE
ABHAREE)  ZSRH]
BE & B5100%E R K85 It
% 5100 BERKKAEAEEZ
EMBAR - Bt RW51005%
FIKH BB E WS AR — KM
BRARKIEE -

R-T-N\F BERASRX
PKERBRERE - FEERE
AKBAFEO B LIRS
BB ARH 32,364,0007T °

BEEBURBRRAKNREETH
EDH - REW AW EE 8B ERE
MEENEEE - ZFHEERT

ZER

TEEHREN BETHERAS

LEIZEMHNBENN\FHREO
BRENHAMRERER - BEN
FHENRERENERMGTEREK

HER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 12 FERAESZEARNREE)

(CONTINUED)
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2018 and TE-NEFERZE—LFEREED
2017 are as follows: SEMERNEEREZET
2018 2017
—E-N\E “T—tF
Compound annual revenue BEFRALRE 24.0%~28.1% from 19.5%~28.5% from
growth rate 2019 to 2021; 2018 to 2021;
7.3%~24.6% from 8.5%~18.5% from
2022 to 2026 2022 to 2026
“E-NEE-R--F “T-)\FE-ZT-—F
£24.0%~28.1% ; #419.5%~28.5% :
“ECCERCBCONE T _FETRF
£57.3%~24.6% £8.5%~18.5%
Long-term growth rate REERX 3.0% 3.0%
Gross margin ENE 55.4%~58.5% 49.5%~57.2%
Pre-tax discount rate PiAAEIR & 12.5% 12.6%
Government subsidy income BUF AR A Continued Continued
government subsidy government subsidy
income from income from
2019 onwards 2018 onwards
BE-Z-h& BT \Fie
FEBRFRHEBRA RHEBUR AL
Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past WABRERENEDREBERR
performance and management's expectations of market development. REBBHMSERNERAE - 7
The long term growth rates used are estimated with reference to AORPBREDSZTERAM
industry forecasts. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects o TAMUBBRESHAURE Kk
specific risks relating to the business. IR R R ) R R LR
The Directors are of the view that there was no impairment of EERBRE-\FRZE—LF
investment in Highland Natural Water as at 31 December 2018 and TZA=+—8 RaRXAKHE
2017. BYEBFRIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 12 FREREANRNIRE (&)
(CONTINUED)

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December TXEIR-_ZE-NF+_A=+—
2018. AREEZBERR -

Name of entity

ERAR

Tibet Highland Natural
Water Limited
PR RRAKER AR

Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage
Packaging Ltd.
PR R A R
KAREEAR

There is no contingent liability relating to the Group’s interest in

Place of
business/country
of incorporation
BEWY
AR S B R

The PRC

R

The PRC

R

% of
ownership
interest

G ERRE
HADL

43.981

43.981

25

25

Measurement
Principal activities method

FERE STRAE

Manufacturing and distribution Equity
of water products

BUER D HKEmR s

Manufacturing and distribution Equity
of bottle preforms and caps

BUE R SHIRE FIAR & H

hig:: 3N ETY NV =0k - NTlEo k-

above associates, and the proportion of ownership interest is the mEBANIABE BFMERERL

same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland

Natural Water

Based on the opinion of the Directors, the Group has one associate

I B2 P RAELL BIAAR

EABELNINBEERBE-FRX
RIK
BREEENER  AEEHE—HE

- Highland Natural Water that is considered as material. The tables REVEE AR —RRRAK TRE

below provide summarised the financial information of the Highland

Natural Water.

NEBRRBKZHBEEMRER

BARKEFRERLT | £ 2018




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland

Natural Water (continued)
Summarised balance sheet

12 ERESREARNRKRE (£)

EXBEQARAMBENBRE-BRX
RK(E)
EEREXRHE

As at 31 December

R+-—A=t+-H
2018 2017

—E-N\E
RMB'000 RMB‘000

ARETR ARETIT
Current E
Cash and cash equivalents Be MBS EEY 91,767 252,277
Other current assets HibRBEE 446,388 131,569
Total current assets RBEELR 538,155 383,846
Borrowings a3 (572,460) (360,000)
Other current liabilities HipmBasE (57,315) (128,912)
Total current liabilities mEBERTE (629,775) (488,912)
Total current net liabilities REFaERE (91,620) (105,066)
Non-current B
Assets BE 680,573 729,693
Other liabilities HibafE (25,948) (35,765)
Total non-current net assets ERBFEERT 654,625 693,928
Net assets FEE 563,005 588,862
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland

Natural Water (continued)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income

FEMBHRRME

12 ERESREARNRKRE (£)

EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX
RK(E)
ZEKEXE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t-BLEE
2018 2017
—g-n&

RMB'000 RMB’'000
Arerr NS

Revenue WA 460,726 460,943
Pre-tax profit from continuing operations & &% £ & KRR A0 R 8 50,629 71,433
Income tax expense PR ER (4,244) (6,578)
Post-tax profit for the year FRBRBEFE 46,385 64,855
Total comprehensive income THKBREE 46,385 64,855

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water.

N EBBRBEERRRAKE R
KPMENNFTE  CRAKEES
RRAKZEGTARENERELT

%%o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 12 EAEREARNRE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate — Highland EXBEQAAMBERBE-BRX
Natural Water (continued) RK(E)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information BBERBENE R
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented REJNMBEMPZRREERSR
to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Highland Natural RAARKERAREENHE
Water:

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t+-BLEE

2018 2017
S A = -
RMB'000 RMB'000
NSl S RnTe

Opening net assets 1 January R—B—BNEDNRFEE 588,862 524,007
Profit for the year FAF)E 46,385 64,855
Valuation adjusted from additional acquisition ZESMNKEEE(EEFE — —

Closing net assets FRIFEE 635,247 588,862
Elimination of unrealised profit from REBABHE N HHERE

inter-company sales (315) (512)
Adjusted total net assets HEENETEE 634,932 588,350
Interest in the associate REE DB ER 234,030 215,489
Goodwill SES 1,153,407 1,064,053
Carrying value REE 1,387,437 1,279,542

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

13 TRADE RECEIVABLES 13 EWESR

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-H
2018 2017
—g-n&

RMB'000 RMB’'000
Arerr NS

Trade receivables due from third parties EWE=REFHK 270,397 192,139
Loan receivables due from third parties (a) ~ FEWRE=FHEZK () 21,321 36,671
Trade receivables due from associates FEUE & A B E SR (FTEE41)
(Note 41) — 6,367
291,718 235,177
Less: Provision for impairment of trade o EWE SRR ERE
receivables (1,833) (38)
289,885 235,139
Trade receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised Wi eI R 2 - BIEHR
are written off against the provision when there is no expectation of HERENEKE ST EBEK
recovering additional cash. For the year 2018, additional impairment HeoRZTE—N\F  HREINRER
provision amounting to RMB1,795,000 were recognised. BAR1,795,0007T °
(@) This balance includes a loan to a third party amounting () ZEHRBEE-—BEETE=AfE
to HKD24,333,000 (equivalent to RMB21,321,000, 324,333,000 L(HE E N A
2017:RMB34,270,000), which represents lending principal R #21,321,000° —&—+
of HKD17,000,000 (equivalent to RMB14,895,000, 2017: & . AR34,270,0007T) « K
RMB32,600,000) and accrued interest of HKD7,333,000 & A & 17,000,000 7% 7t (48
(equivalent to RMB6,426,000, 2017: RMB1,670,000). The g R AR 14,895,000T 0 —
lending is at a fixed interest rate at 15% per annum after 23 T—tF: AR%32600,000
April 2018 and contractual repayment date is 31 December 7T ) R FE & A B 7,333,000 % 7T
2019. This loan is secured by the borrower’s property located in (HE M AK¥6,426,0007T
Beijing. —Z—+%: AR%1,670,000

L) e RZE-NFWA=T=
A& ERNEEFHNER
15% @ ANERAHR/ TN
Ft+-A=1—H - ZEFUE
VNGBl E S (22 i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 13 BREFMRE)
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's trade receivables RZE-NFERZT—tF+ZA
were all denominated in RMB. The aging analysis of trade receivables =+—B FEENEKESFHU
based on invoice dates is as follows: ARBHE REZZAHE D 2 -

W SRR -

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-A
2018 2017
S

RMB'000 RMB'000
elagd =rTe

Within 6 months 6 & AR 180,205 222,532
Over 6 months but within 1 year HBiBeEAENEBF 46,220 8,855
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB FETBBE2F 61,532 2,302
Over 2 years Bi@2F 3,761 1,488
291,718 235,177
As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables amounting to RZE-NF+ZA=+—H" 2R
RMB 1,833,000 were impaired and provided for (2017: RMB38,000). BErERGNEKEZIRAARE
1,833,000L(Z T~ % : AR¥
38,0007T) °
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is BERHNEREERRAARE
RMB291,718,000 (2017: RMB235,177,000) including amount due 291,718,000/ (= E —+ 45 : A K
from a third party of RMB21,321,000 (2017: RMB34,270,000), which %235,177,0007T) ' BREEKE=F
was secured by a property. FIEAR®21,321,00000( -2 —+
F: ANR#34,270,0007T) B A —18
MEMEEM o
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying amounts of the RZE-NFRZZT—tF+A
above trade receivables approximated their fair values. =+—H LRERESROKEE

EENEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

FEMBHRRME

14 RERHESHNESRMITE

AEEFETIIERIA

As at 31 December

R+=A=t+—-8
2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+F
Note RMB'000 RMB’'000
B & ARET R ARBT T
Financial assets * EREE*
Financial assets at amortised cost RN RN EREE
~ Trade receivables —-ERESHK 13 289,885 235,139
— Other receivables and other assets —EMEWR R EMEE 17 641,117 175,022
- Cash and cash equivalents -He RS EEY 21 277,152 830,773
FVOCI WRRBEAEEEZSHTA
Htpira Wamn e B E 20 231,881 —
FVPL WRRBEAEEEZSHTA
BRNeREE 19 190,795 —
AFS AHHESREE — 241,181
1,630,830 1,482,115
Financial liabilities tRBE
Liabilities at amortised cost REERATENEE
- Trade and notes payables -ENB ST N ENZE 28 78,721 92,841
~ Other financial liabilities —HiheRBE 111,198 279,926
- Borrowings —fBER 30 701,000 431,000
— Convertible bond — AR ES
- liability component —BEHS 31 457,673 432,340
1,348,592 1,236,107
* See note 2.3 for details about the impact from changes in accounting EHRSHEREINTENFE  F

policies.

SHIMF2.3 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15  CREDIT QUALITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 15 SHREENEEEE
(@) Financial assets neither past due nor impaired (a) ABHESFHENEHEE
The contractual credit terms based on written sales contracts BHNEERERERFHNEM@H
with customers range from 1 to 3 months. &K NF—ZE=EA -
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor RIPERBENEREENEEE
impaired can be assessed by reference to the nature of counterparties BA2ERSGHFHMNESHENL
or to historical information about counterparty default rates: KRR ERETTAE
As at 31 December
Rt+=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETFT
Trade receivables EHREZX
- Group 1 —%14 14,486 76,532
- Group 2 —224 96,460 121,337
110,946 197,869
As at 31 December
W+=A=+—-H
2018 2017
—z—nr
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Other receivables Hi R
- Group 1 %148 381,491 103,830
— Group 2 %24 259,626 71,192

641,117 175,022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

15 CREDIT QUALITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 15 SREENEEEE(H)
(@) Financial assets neither past due nor impaired (continued) (a) RBHEERENEMEESZ)

As at 31 December

Rt+t=A=+-H

2018 2017
BN\ —F—tF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®BT ARETT

Cash at bank BITER
- Group 3 — %34 276,518 829,720
As at 31 December
R+t=A=+—H
2018 2017
—B-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR% TR ARBETT
FVPL (2017: AFS) DAREESEEESH T ABR
NeEMEE(ZE—1F:
AHEESHEE)
- Group 1 —% 14 4,319 7,297
- Group 2 —24 11,517 —
- Group 3 — %348 174,959 175,884

190,795 183,181
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 CREDIT QUALITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 15 SREENEEEE(H)
(@) Financial assets neither past due nor impaired (continued) (a) RBHEERENEMEESZ)

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-8

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBFTT

FVOCI (2017: AFS) NAAREBEFEEHSHTA
HitGEWENemEE
(ZB—tF THEESREE)
- Group 1 —% 14 173,881 —
— Group 2 ~-Z24 58,000 58,000
231,881 58,000
Group 1 - new third parties/related parties FVR-FEE=H
Group 2 - existing third parties/related parties with no defaults in the F2E-PBABRENZIBNREE=S
past 7/ A
Group 3 - reputable provincial banks and financial institutions and FIH-—FHBEAENEEMNEERR
listed banks in China mainland and Hong Kong 17 - @ BME K& ETIRTT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

15 CREDIT QUALITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 15 SREENEEEE#A)
(b)  Financial assets past due but not impaired (b) EEHEERENSHEE
As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables of approximately RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H B8
RMB178,939,000 (2017: RMB37,270,000) were past due but not HEBERENEREZRNHBARK
impaired. The aging analysis of these trade receivables based on 178,939,000 L(ZE—+t % : AR¥
invoice dates is as follows: 37,270,0007T) » RIBFEHZHHEIH 2

JEAE B BRER AT T

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-A
2018 2017
S

RMB'000 RMB'000
elagd =rTe

Over credit term but within 6 months BBEEHETEB6EA 69,259 24,663
Over 6 months but within 1 year HiBeEAETERF 46,220 8,856
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB FETBB2F 61,532 2,302
Over 2 years HBih2F 1,928 1,449
178,939 37,270
()  Financial assets past due and impaired (¢ CRHERBENSREE
As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables amounting to RZE-NF+-_A=+—-H' B
RMB1,833,000 (2017: RMB38,000) were past due and impaired. BERAENEREIRBARE
1,833,000c(ZE —tF: ARK
38,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 PREPAYMENTS 16 FEMSFE

As at 31 December

BR+=—B=+-—-H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBTT

Prepayments made for purchase of BERME - R K&
raw materials, services, and equipment R AN TR 180,165 187,115
Less: A
Non-current portion - prepayments made for 3ERENIE D — BB RIEN
purchase of equipment (a) FERIFRIE (a) (38,613) (43,937)
Current portion REW D 141,552 143,178
(@) These balances represent prepayments made for the purchase () ZEHAEEEEREEMA
of equipment, the ownership of which has not been obtained at BRERAES)MBEM IR
year end. p=i)
The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are FEMGERSEMNRENREENL T
denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEE
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—-8
2018 2017
—E-N\E ZE—tF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETFT
- RMB - AR 176,771 178,752
- HKD —BT 1,197 1,392
- Usb —%7T 72 72
- EUR — BT 2,125 5,836
- GBP — R — 1,063

180,165 187,115
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

FEMBHRRME

HittBWR R EwEE

As at 31 December

RT=-A=+—~H
2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Amounts due from third parties (a) FEUEE = H 7 E (a) 576,421 140,194
Amounts due from associates (b) (Note 41)  FEUREE A RIZIB (b) (FIEE41) 22,877 30,000
Government grant receivable BRI 75 B B LR 37,800 —
Deposits ik 335 970
Others Hity 3,684 3,858

641,117 175,022
(a)  The balances include the following items: ERBIENTIER -

- Aloan to a third party company with a principal amount
of RMB110,000,000 (2017: nil) and accrued interest of
RMB10,992,000 (2017: nil). This loan is guaranteed by a
third party and bore an annual interest rate of 12% from
6 March 2018 to 5 June 2018, an annual interest rate
of 15% from 6 June 2018 to 5 September 2018, and an
annual interest rate of 10% from 6 September 2018 to
31 December 2018. The loan is matured on 31 December
2018 and the amount of RMB120,000,000 was repaid
subsequent to the financial year end.

BREF-—HBE=ZF2A
ARNEEEAARK
110,000,000 c( =& —+
F:B)2ERREFFE
A R #10,992,0007t(=
T—tF: %) ZEXA
—HE=ZFREER B
“E-NE=ZARBEZR
—E-N\FAARAALLF
MEE12% BTN\
FRAAANBRE_Z—N
FAARALFENEA
15% B-F—N\FENA
ANERE-E-N\E+=
A=Z+-BLEEMEA
10% - ZEFRZ=ZF—N
F+-A=1+—HEH-
% % A K #120,000,000
TERMBEEBEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

17 OTHERRE

CEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)  (continued)

The loan to a third party company with outstanding
principal amounts of RMB213,083,000 (2017: nil) and
accrued interest of RMB1,427,000 (2017: nil), which bore
an annual interest rate of 10%. The repayment terms of
the loan are based on the following schedule: repayments
of RMB30,000,000, RMB70,000,000 and RMB113,083,000
on 29 July 2019, 19 December 2019 and 31 December
2019 respectively. The amount of RMB170,000,000 was
repaid subsequent to the financial year end.

The loan to a third party company with outstanding
principal amounts of RMB175,880,000 (2017: nil) and
accrued interest of RMB1,764,000 (2017: nil), which bore
an annual interest rate of 10%. The repayment terms of
the loan are based on the following schedule: repayments
of RMB18,000,000, RMB5,000,000, RMB20,880,000,
RMB61,000,000 and RMB71,000,000 on 12 July 2019,
16 July 2019, 22 November 2019, 2 December 2019
and 5 December 2019 respectively. The amount of
RMB 125,000,000 was repaid subsequent to the financial
year end.
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17 EHtEWE

(a)

(%)

AR EMEE(E)

REREF-—HEEZFRAE
EBEERAELEAARE
213,083,000 T(=F —+
F:B)2ERREF
BAR1,427,0007T(=
T—+F: ) FHE
A10%  ZEFILT 55
ZgE: R-E-hAF+t
BA-+hB  ZE—A%F
+-A+tABR-Z—A
F+-_A=+—HHBIE
# AR 30,000,000 7T
AR 70,000,000 7T & A
X #113,083,0007C ° &
% A K #170,000,000 7T
ERPBELRAEERE -

RETF-HE=FRAK

BEEALEEAARE
175,880,000 L(= & — +

F:E)2ERREFF
B A R #1,764,0007T(=
T—+tF: %) FHEX
B10%° % B HIE T 7

HARE: R K
+tA+=H" —NEF
‘tﬂ"’/\a‘f?_ﬂ
F+—HAZ+=-ZH _%

—NEFE+ZAZBR=F
—hE+-_ARBDHIE
# A R #18,000,0007T *
A B #50000007C A
R #20,880,0007t * A B
#61,000,0007C & A R ¥
71,000,0007T - £FBAREE
125,000,000 7T E 7 Bf BU &
EREEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

17 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED) 17 HttBEUWRRHMEE &)
(a) (continued) (a) (#&

- Aloan to a third party company with outstanding principal - RE#F-BE=ZFRAEX
amounts of RMB53,000,000 (2017: nil) and accrued BEEACEEAARE
interest of RMB292,000 (2017: nil), which bore an annual 53,000,000 (= & — &
interest rate of 4.35%. The repayment terms of the loan F:R)2ERREFA
are based on the following schedule: repayments of BAR®292,000L(=F
RMB9,000,000, RMB5,000,000 and RMB39,000,000 on 29 —tF:T) FHER
August 2019, 13 November 2019 and 3 December 2019 4.35% ° ZE TR T 55
respectively. The amount of RMB53,000,000 was repaid ZEE: RZZE—NEFEN
subsequent to the financial year end. As at 31 December AZ+NB - ZE—hF
2018, the Group held 9% equity interests in this third +—A+=ZBR=Z—A
party and the investment was recorded as FVOCI. F+ZA=ZHHRAEZA

R #9,000,0007t * A B
#5,000,0007C & A R ¥

39,000,000t ° AR
#53,000,0007C & B 8
BEHEAEREE R=F
—-NE+-/A=+—8"
AEEREZE=ZTN
9% R - ZIRED AN
DNABEELHEH
AEMGERENSRE
Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED) 17 HttBEUWRRHMEE &)

(b)  As at 31 December 2018, the balance represents a loan to Fudi by RZE-NF+ZA=+—8H"
Packaging, with principal amount of RMB22,000,000 (2017: ERERETRMEEZER
nil) and accrued interest of RMB877,000 (2017: nil) which $ﬁ$aﬁz%/\ﬁ¢%%zz,ooo,ooo
bore an annual interest rate of 10%. The repayment terms of T(ZE—+F: T)RET
the loan are based on the following schedule: repayments of BARMKS77,000L(ZE—+
RMB2,000,000 and RMB20,000,000 on 12 July 2019 and 8 F:F) FHMERI0% - ZE
August 2019 respectively. The balance of 31 December 2017 FETIIFEEER - RZZE—1h
represents amounts due from Highland Natural Water which FLtA+ZBRZZE-NENA
was repaid in 2018. They were unsecured, non-interest bearing J\B % Rl{E& A K 2,000,000 7T
and repayable on demand. K AR #20,000,0007T © A =

Z—+F+-_A=Z+—BHER
BRESRRAKTKE 2R
T-\FEE - FRARERER
o EmAAA AR ERER -

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk from other receivables REEBBXRBASEREEMEK

and other assets at the balance sheet date is amounting to FRHEMEENRREERREAA

RMB641,117,000 (2017: RMB175,022,000) (Note 3.1). R#641,117,000L( =& ‘t$ A

R #175,022,00070) (BHEE3.1) »

The carrying amounts of other receivables are denominated in the H A YRR BRE B A T B EHE -

following currencies:

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-H

2018 2017
S25d -
RMB'000 RMB'000
sl T

- RMB — AR 640,930 174,244
- HKD - 177 768
- UsSD -%7T 10 10

641,117 175,022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

INVENTORIES 18 #&
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Raw materials R R 88,171 62,541
Finished goods - at cost EERK S — IR AR 6,652 8,458
Work in progress RS 4,337 4,614
99,160 75,613

The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense
and was included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately
RMB383,651,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB361,911,000).

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value amounted to
RMB230,000 (2017: nil). These were recognised as an expense during
the year ended 31 December 2018 and included in “cost of sales” in
profit or loss.

The costs of individual items of inventory are determined using
monthly weighted average costs.

BE2-_Z- \E+_A=+—HL#F
B HRAAREBRIFAIBEERKIH
FEMRAL A ARKE383,651,0007T
(ZE—+%: AR®361,911,000
JT) °
FEWMRZAZHEFIEARE
230,000 E(ZF—+F: T) - %
FERBE-_T-\F+ZA=1—
ALEFERRAAAY  TABRZI#H
B

EFEHE KN E R NEF K AE
E

9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19
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FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 19

URArEEFTEEHSB AER

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-ALFE
2018 2017

—E-N\E —tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETFT
At 1 January AFS restated as FVPL R—A—BAftHESREE
ERANAAEEFEER
BHTARBNEREE 183,181 —
Additions in structured financial products HEEENERAE 680,000 —
Embedded derivative asset (Note 20) Hk)\ivﬁiﬁﬁ(ﬁﬁi 20) 4,319
Net gains recognised upon disposal HE R R W F
(Note 32 & 39) (P32 &2 39) 17,591 —
Fair value changes recorded in other gains AT AEMFBHAABEES
(Note 32 & 39) (Bf3E32 k& 39) 9,179 —
Disposals in structured financial products EEUEVERLE (703,475) —
At 31 December R+=A=+—H 190,795 —
Less: non-current portion W ERBE S (11,517) —
Current portion REH2 179,278 —

All FVPL (2017: AFS) are denominated in RMB as at 31 December

2018 and 2017.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining

fair value is provided in Note 3.3.

RZE-NFRZZ—+F+H
=+—B LUAAEEIEARE
SABRNSBEE(CE—+E: T
BEESBEE) 2 HAAREHE -

FREE A BEMANITARER
HER N33



20

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 20
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEMBHRRME

URrEETEERSBH AH M
GREBRBENERMEE

As at 31 December

Rt+=B=+-H
2018 2017
S =
RMB'000 RMB’'000
Ndgd A RrTE

At 1 January AFS restated as FVOCI (a) R—A—BAftHESREE
BERAUAAEENEAR

BEITAHLMBEEKREN

ERMEE () 58,000 —
Acquisition of Shannan Yalaxiangbu (b) W B 1L HERL B A (b) 173,881 —
At 31 December R+=RA=+—8H 231,881 —

(@) Investment in CRE that were previously classified as AFS, were
reclassified to FVOCI as designated by the management. The
management did not expect any fair value change in investment
in CRE for the year ended 31 December 2018.

(b) On 10 December 2018, the Group acquired 9% of the equity
interests of Shannan Yalaxiangbu for a cash consideration of
RMB178,200,000.

FADBAAHNESREEN
RRERENREREZEEE
BHOBRNAREBEFERR
ZEAAEMGERENERE
E-BEERY BE-Z-N
FT-A=t—BILFE  RF
HRENKETEEMAAEE

R-ZF-NF+=ZA+A"
AEBKRBLEENEMI%
WD RERKEBERARE
178,200,000 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

20 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

(b)

(continued)

Based on the share purchase agreement,
Yalaxiangbu could not meet certain conditions in 2019, the
Group has the option to sell the equity shares to the original
shareholder; if such conditions are met, the Group has the

if Shannan

option to purchase additional shares of Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
These options are treated as derivative financial products by
the Group and recorded as FVPL on the balance sheet. As at
31 December 2018, the amount of FVPL in relation to the
above options was RMB4,319,000. The balance of the cash
consideration paid amounting to RMB173,881,000 was treated
as FVOCl.

Management did not expect any significant fair value change
in above options and the investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
for the year ended 31 December 2018 due to the short time
passage from the acquisition date.
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20 UAREBEFEEESHF AHEM
FEWENERMEEE)

(b)

(&)
RERNEEHZ  WRLUEE
RNEREZT-NETHERER
LRt - BIASEEENER
R HELRRE  MRFE L
MG AEEEEEE LR
HRBEMOBEINGGD - ZFER
BEASEEATESRER -
TREEBBERATHERARL
BEFEEEZHIAERZNE
REE -R-ZT—N\F+=A
=+—B BEaEREEEN
UNAREBEFEAEZEH A
BaMWemEESBEARARK
4,319,000 - EXIEIERER
EBHEAARE 173,881,000 T
HRANRABENEBEES)
FARMERE NSRS REE ©

AR BERE Y B 1R BT AT -
WERERY  REAZE-FT-N
F+-A=+—HILFE Lt
BERENN LR BN E
TEEMERRBER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 BERBREZEEY

As at 31 December

BR+=—B=+-—-H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBTT

Cash on hand FHEE® 634 1,053
Cash at bank BT 266,988 813,327
Restricted cash ZRERE 9,530 16,393
277,152 830,773
Denominated in: FHER
- RMB - AR 269,402 794,356
- USD -%£7 4,179 1,042
— HKD BT 3,309 35,115
- Others —HAfth 262 260
277,152 830,773
As at 31 December 2018, the Group's cash and cash equivalents RZFE-NFE+ZA=+—8" ' &
amounting to RMB267,693,000 (2017: RMB768,148,000) were held SENReRECEBEMARE
in the financial institutions located in the mainland of PRC. The 267,693,000 C( =& —+F : ARK
remaining balances of RMB8,825,000 (2017: RMB61,572,000) were 768,148,000 7T ) B3 7£ B K B ) &
held in major financial institutions located in the Hong Kong Special HEREE - 8 T AK¥S8,8250007T
Administrative Region. (ZZ2—+%: AR%61,572,0007T)
HEBRNTHRENEZSRMERER
ﬁ o
The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies MARETENESR LB AINEUAR
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of BINE R B REEE L - AEFHE
PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange BT 280 ) AR RE SN S Il HR Bl K 3R 5] o

control promulgated by the PRC government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 21 BRERREZE/YWH)
The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit AEERIPRITERFERRITE
rates, which range from 0.01% to 4.05% per annum for the year FEBAE  HEZT-N\F+=A
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: range from 0.01% to 4.05% per =S+ -HUEFE - BAFHNENT
annum). 0.01%E4.05% (ZF —+ 4% : F7

ENTF0.01% E4.05%) °

As at 31 December 2018, bank deposits of RMB9,530,000 RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—H XR
(2017: RMB16,393,000) are restricted as guarantee for payments HIR1TFER AR 9,530,000 0(=ZF
of imported equipment and an amount held by the Bank of —tF: AR¥16,393,00070)1EA
Communications Trustee Limited on behalf of the Company for EORBENNRERERBRITET
purchase of the Company’s own shares. BRABREARAFENEELAR
A7 & R KO FRIB o
22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 22 RERBRGGE

Equivalent

Number of nominal
ordinary Nominal value of
shares value of ordinary

(thousands) ordinary shares Share
EERYA shares LER premium Total
(TR) EEREAE KEEZE R aE i
HKD'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TEn AR®Tn AR®TR AR%TR

Balance as at 1 January and R=B-t%R
31 December 2017 and 2018 “E-NE-B-BR
TZB=T-Bf&8% 2,568,893 25,689 21,363 1,206,829 1,228,192
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The movement of shares held for share award scheme is as follows:

FEMBHRRME

RRORBFEAFTENRG
RERETESANRDEZHNT -

Number of

ordinary shares

(thousands)
EBREHE RMB’000
(TR) ARBTR

Opening balance 1 January 2018

R-Z2-\¥—-A—H

WEDEEER 60,626 158,868
Shares bought back (a) R EE [ (a) 5,000 14,169
Closing Balance 31 December 2018 R-Z2-NE+=-A=+—H

M F R ER 65,626 173,037

On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for
purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares
by the Selected Participants; (ii) encouraging and retaining certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for
the Selected Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the
rules of the scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to
eligible participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with Bank
of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Trustee”) to establish a
share award scheme trust (“Share Award Trust”), where the Trustee
may purchase or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf
of the Group from the open market, based on the instructions of
the Group. The Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a special purpose entity.

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group purchased
5,000,000 shares (2017: 60,626,000 shares) of the Company
through the Trustee for a total consideration of RMB14,169,000
(2017: RMB158,868,000). As at 31 December 2018, no share
has been granted by the Group to any parties under the above
mentioned share award scheme.

RZZE—+FNATNB FEEEK
M—IER M R E - BEG)EBNK
RELETLEEFARG (i) 5B
EHBETATRASEIE: Ki)
BRET2REEHENE SRR
By o BEFEIRA - RRAEE M
BERSRERDARABRG -

RZF—tENANBR AEEER
BRIEXTARRATREADIL
19 & DARK 32 BB A0 B2 B st 8115 SE (T R 42
ERERE]) Bt REAUTREX
%@Whﬁﬁ%K%@%@ﬁﬁ%%
EIRBARALAR - RO REIE
%Wﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%$%@%é%
BRREE AR

@ #HE-_Z-N\F+-A=1+—-H
HFE AEBEEBITAE
5,000,000 (=% —+ F:
60,626,000 f% ) A8 22 &1 % 17
REAAR 14,169,000 T(=
Z—+t%F: AR¥ 158,868,000
T)e RZE—-—NF+ A
=+—H - FEEHERE L
B 15 SE R AT &l R IR — A R A
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 OTHER RESERVES 24 HtRE

Convertible
bond-
Statutory Currency  Investment equity

Capital surplus  translation revaluation ~component

reserve reserve  differences reserve  TRRES Total
EXRE TREHORS NENEEE REEMRE -EREA @t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%Tn ARETR AR%Tn ARETR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2017 “E-t%-B-H
ki3 146,012 157,920 (48,013) 4,898 18,385 279,202
Currency translation differences NEREES — — 7,662 — - 7,662
Appropriations to statutory RIVATE R
surplus reserve (a) - (ii) PNEE (@) - (i) — 17,236 - - - 17,236
Revaluation B — — — 986 — 986
Transaction with non-controlling interest EFEIREH 2% 5 (113,165) - - - — (113,165
At 31 December 2017 R-B-t%£+Z5
=t+-H 32,847 175,156 (40,351) 5,884 18,385 191,921
Change in accounting policy (Note 2.3)  &tEBEEE(fit:2.3) - - - (5,884) - (5,884)
Restated total equity as at ERR-8-tE+=A
31 December 2017 St-ANEREE 32,847 175,156 (40,351) - 18,385 186,037
Balance at 1 January 2018 “E-\-h-H
ket 32,847 175,156 (40,351) = 18,385 186,037
Currency translation differences MNEMEER — — (18,455) — — (18,455)
Appropriations to statutory RIVATE R
surplus reserve (a) - (ii) AEL (@) - (i) — 10,342 — — — 10,342
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NE+=f
=+-H 32,847 185,498 (58,806) = 18,385 177,924
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Nature and purpose of other reserves

(i)

(ii)

Capital reserve

Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the
share capital are recorded as capital reserve. This reserve
is also used to record the differences described in Note
2.4 which may arise as a result of transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the provisions of the articles of association
of the Group's subsidiaries located in PRC (“PRC
subsidiaries”), the PRC subsidiaries shall first set aside
10% of its profit attributable to owners after tax as
indicated in their statutory financial statements for the
statutory surplus reserve (except where the reserve has
reached 50% of the entity’s registered share capital) each
year. PRC subsidiaries may also make appropriations from
its profit attributable to shareholders to a discretionary
surplus reserve, provided it is approved by a resolution
passed in a shareholders’ general meeting. These reserves
cannot be used for purposes other than those for which
they are created and are not distributable as cash
dividends without the prior approval obtained from the
shareholders in a shareholders’ general meeting under
specific circumstances.

FEMBHRRME

24 HAtif#EE)
HittEENEEREN

(a)

(i)

(i)

EX#E

BRTEBLBRAT D
RERGER - LB
P52 8% BT 5 2.4 P st o] &
RAEE BB RIT R
EIFERBR IR HTE
HHZE -

RZEBBLIES

AR5 AN R B A R B 9 B
BAR(THEKBLR])
HABERMANES  F
BEHBARASFHET
BMBREMTEER AR
R & FIEH 10% BHEE
TEBAES(ELESE
EERFMBAS0% B
Sh) o B HT B A A IR A
EEBRRRSRBHRE
RHLEB NI R B FE
ROAERABAES - B
DEEHRIMNE N Z
SRR TEBAELLA
% EREREBELTE
BRERBRRERE EEEH
BN RABRER SR

BAE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE
24  OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED) 24 Hftufdts (&)
(@) Nature and purpose of other reserves (continued) (a) HttRBEWHERBEWNE)

(i) Statutory surplus reserve (continued) (i) REEBGLEL(E)
When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to BETRBRLBEETREMN
make good for any losses of the PRC subsidiaries from FWEPEMNBRRARE
previous years, the current year profit attributable to the BEEEE AFENESR
owners shall be used to make good the losses before any AEGF B ERIUVEE
allocations are set aside for the statutory surplus reserve. BRHRABRAAERRE

B
The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus BT B A B8 A TE B R
reserve and the capital reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may RiER EERHRAESR
be converted into share capital of the PRC subsidiaries REARERUTLRER
provided it is approved by a resolution passed in a SRANRARMER
shareholders’ general meeting and meets other regulatory HEEMmEERETER
requirements with the provision that the ending balance HERA  BERMNEER
of the statutory surplus reserve does not fall below 25% BRABE TGO RE MR
of the registered share capital amount. AKE)25% °
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the directors of Hz_ZE-NF+=A
the PRC subsidiaries proposed appropriations amounting =+—BILEE - REH
to approximately RMB10,342,000 (2017: RMB17,236,000) BLARESFEZRMAE
to the statutory surplus reserve. TRBRAEENABARE
10,342,00070(= & — +
F: AR #17,236,000
JT) e

(iii) ~ Currency translation differences (iii) METEEE
Exchange differences arising from the difference between MR BEREREE
functional and presentation currency are recognised in & N Z RN H AR a
other comprehensive income as described in Note 2.8 and = MR (AN B EE 2.8 T At )
accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. Kt NHB BB RET o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@) Nature and purpose of other reserves (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Investment revaluation reserve

Changes in the fair value and exchange differences arising
on translation of investments that are classified as FVOCI
(2017: AFS) are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in a separate reserve in equity. Amounts
are reclassified to profit or loss when the associated assets
are sold or impaired, see accounting policy Note 2.13 for
details.

Convertible bond-equity component

The amount shown for equity component is the value of
conversion rights relating to the 6.0% convertible bonds,
details of which are shown in Note 31.

FEMBHRRME

24 Hftufdts (&)
(a) HttRBEHMEERBHNE)

(iv)

(v)

REEG#E

PERURAREBENER
HEFHFTALMES WS
MERMEE(—T—LF:
AHHESREE)NRE
RIFERELENAAEBE
ZHNELZENEME
Al EER LR EE TE
VRHERE - BRSEH
RIEBEEL EFRER
B BERD R

PR 213 ERTHR

TR R ES — B a7

BEHIATEER6.0%
AR ESNRREE
1B - FEEIIRHE3 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

25

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as

follows:

RS S

BERABEREERERBEOON

LN

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETIT
Deferred tax assets: EEREEE .
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered after — 12 AR BUEIFELERIBEE
12 months 2,377 2,463
- Deferred tax assets to be recovered — 128 B WU el FEEFR B E
within 12 months 461 432
2,838 2,895
Deferred tax liabilities: EERESE
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered — 12BN EMELCHIEEE
after 12 months (2,223) (15,014)
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered —12{@ AR EIRMIELEHIEEE
within 12 months (13,032) (3,558)
(15,255) (18,572)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

25 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 25 EIEFTBH (&)
The gross movement of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax ELERBEERELERBEENE
liabilities is as follows: MEEINT

Year ended 31 December

BZt-A=1+-ALEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR ARBFT

Deferred tax assets: EEREEE .
At beginning of year F1 2,895 2,818
Statement of profit or loss (charge)/credit BHERGIA) /B (57) 77
At end of year FR
2,838 2,895
Deferred tax liabilities: EERIEEE .
At beginning of year =) (18,572) (20,652)
Statement of profit or loss credit BRERER 3,317 2,080
At end of year FR (15,255) (18,572)
The credit to statement of profit or loss is as follows: BaikECHT
Year ended 31 December
BE+-H=1t—HLEE
2018 2017
= S
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBT T
Deferred tax assets RIERIAEE 57 (77)
Deferred tax liabilities BEREEE (3,317) (2,080)
Credit to statement of profit or loss Ba&REL(MEE36)
(Note 36) (3,260) (2,157)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 25

The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2018 were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities
related to income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities.
The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is
as follows:

Provisions
for Deferred Withholding

B85 (2
R=Z-\FT-A=+-8 BE
BAAERABSBLKES T
RERSEEREEERR #5 B
FEB A TRBKEBEL - £RE
EHEAERAENEDNT

Other
temporary
differences

impairment income tax Httr Total
HERE EEW R BB EREEER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETR AR¥TR AR¥Tr AR®T:
Deferred tax assets EEHEBEE
At 1 January 2017 RoE—+5—A-F 347 2,019 ~ 452 2,818
(Charged)/credited to statement of ~ B#EK(GtA)/ B
profit or loss — (11) — 88 77
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF
+-A=1t-H 347 2,008 — 540 2,895
(Charged)/credited to statement of ~ BHEX(IA) /B
profit or loss — (232) — 175 (57)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+-A=1t-H 347 1,776 = 715 2,838
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE
At 1 January 2017 W-E—tE-A-A — - — (0652 (20,652
(Charged)/credited to statement of BRRGIA)/ER
profit or loss — — — 2,080 2,080
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F
+-A=+—-H = = = (18,572) (18,572)
(Charged)/credited to statement of BRRGIA) /8]
profit or loss = = (2,500) 5817 3,317
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
+-A=1+-H — — (2,500) (12,755) (15,255)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2018, the certain Company’s subsidiaries’ future
taxable income would not be available against which their temporary
losses could be utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would
not be offset by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the
Group, as there is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the
Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of RMB9,450,000 (2017:
RMB10,263,000) in respect of losses amounting to RMB37,813,000
(2017: RMB41,064,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. Losses of RMB37,813,000 as at 31 December 2018
(2017: RMB41,064,000) will expire on the following dates to offset
the future taxable income:

25

FEMBHRRME

EEFTEB(E)
RZE—NE+-A=+—08 &2
8K 5 T 08 2 8] H R R BB SR B A
BEZRHEREEE  MZEWEB
REMEBEETTREASEEMBHER
AR ERTMBMARE  ARUTEE
ERMME AT REIITER - A
SEVE AT EBERRERTLAD
BB ARE37,813,000(ZE—+
F 0 AR 41,064,0007T ) HE R E T
TIE & E AKR®9450,00m(=F
—tF: AR¥10,263,0007T) ° 1
“EZ-\FE+ A=+ BEERK
&SRB AR A R 37,813,000
(ZZ—+tF: AR 41,064,0007T)
MEBERERB BEIWT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT

Expiring in RUATFEER
-2018 - N\F — 10,795
- 2021 ——E-—fF 14,625 14,625
- 2022 —-—ZT-—fF 15,644 15,644
-2023 ——E-=fF 7,544 —
37,813 41,064
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

26

Deferred tax liabilities of RMB235,281,000 (2017: RMB192,096,000)
had not been recognised for the withholding tax that would
be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting to
RMB2,804,906,000 (2017: RMB2,464,631,000) of the Company’s
PRC subsidiaries. For the year ended 31 December 2018, The Group
had intention to distribute retained earnings of a subsidiary of
RMB50,000,000, except for this, the Group has no intention to
distribute these retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

25

26

EEFESHR(E)
ARBWEFLFBENE RN DK
R 8% Fl A R 2,804,906,000 (=
T—t4F: AR¥2,464,631,0007T)
ERENHEREEHBEABEARE
235281,000(ZE —t&F: AR
#192,096,0007C) - HLEZZE— N\F
TZA=+—HLEFE  A5ETE
DIEME 27 AR 50,000,0007T2
BiRWE Rtz REEEAL
MMIEETRBREFBEIEANRB R
AlmIND Ik B 17 W as o

ERAE

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=t—-H
2018

2017

—E-N\E —T—t+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFTT

Sales of water cards HEKFR 14,697 —
Sales of water and beer products S ES K R M B EE 6,528 —
21,225 —

Contract liabilities for sales of water cards were previously presented
as deferred revenue. Contract liabilities for sales of water and beer
products were previously presented as advances received from
customers. As at 31 December 2018, the Group's contract liabilities
were all denominated in RMB. The impact from the adoption of IFRS
15 has been described in Note 2.3. The Group recognised revenue
amounting to RMB75,416,000 relating to contract liabilities for the
year ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

27 DEFERRED REVENUE AND ADVANCES RECEIVED 27 EEWARBEWREFR
FROM CUSTOMERS

As at 31 December

Rt+t=—A=+-8

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBFT

Non-current FFRE
Government grant BB 20,942 22,333
Current RE
Government grant BT #Bh 2,373 2,248
Sales of water cards HEKER — 14,596
Sales of water and beer products HEKERREBEER — 10,654
2,373 27,498
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's deferred revenue RZE—NFR-_ZE—+tF+-A
was all denominated in RMB. =+—B  AEEHBELEKRAZIN
ANREETHE -
28 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES 28 ERESZRRELREE
As at 31 December
R+=HA=+-—H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBTT
Trade payables ENE S 73,275 92,841
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE
28 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 28 EBNEZIRRECREE)
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the aging analysis of trade RZE-NFRZZE—tF+=HA
payables based on invoice dates is as follows: =t+—H EREZHHNENES
FHERRDITOT
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—-8
2018 2017
—EB-N\F ZE—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Within 3 months 3fEAR 56,232 69,402
Over 3 months but within 6 months B3 MEA BT EBBE6EA 9,983 4,247
Over 6 months but within 1 year HBiB6EAETBEF 2,386 6,046
Over 1 year but within 2 years B 1 FETBE2F 548 9,011
Over 2 years 2 F 4,126 4,135
73,275 92,841
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's trade payables were RZE-NFERZT—tF+ZA
all denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing. =+—B FEENENESFHNU
ARBFEBL TR -
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 90 days of ERNESTAEERE -—RIEERER
recognition. 90 HAXZ T ©
The carrying amounts of trade payables are considered to be the ENEZRNEEERRAELAR
same as their fair values. BEER -
As at 31 December
BR+=B=+-H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBFT
Notes payables ANES 5,446 —
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29 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29

FREARHMEMNK

FEMBHRRME

As at 31 December

R+=B=+-—8H

2018

2017

—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Salary payables R %< 3,278 10,025
Welfare payables eI 18 F) 7,637 9,706
Payables for value added tax and other taxes JEZUEER L EbFi18 7,579 23,109
Accrued operating expenses HEREEER 18,353 13,408
Payables for purchase of equipment BERBRNTUR 14,248 5,067
Audit fee payable [ENETE 6,060 6,060
Professional service fee payable ENEXREE 5,363 4,930
Amounts payable for acquisition of equity FER RS AR/ HEBAR
shares in an associate/a subsidiary (a) D 2 78 (a) 9,430 239,044
Amounts received from a third party E =AW EIWFIE 49,044 —
Deposits from customers BEEH 1,434 1,419
Others Hith 7,266 9,998
129,692 322,766

(@) The balance as at 31 December 2018 represents amounts
payable for the acquisition of 3.981% equity interests in
Highland Natural Water. The balance as at 31 December 2017
represented amounts payable for the acquisition of remaining
35% equity interests in Tiandi Green, which was settled in
2018.

@ RZZE-NF+-A=+—H
B &R IE R BB = R R A K
3981 % IR 2 FKIE - KT
—tF+ZA=+—BmKHE
ERFKERIGEEHRTI%H
BEsHE RZT—NFH

3=
/B °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 29 FERBARHEMEMNRGE)
The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are FERERKHEMEMNROBREEAIT
denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEHE
As at 31 December
W+=B=+—-H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBFT
- RMB — AR 123,327 316,337
- Usb —%7T 1,310 1,250
- HKD —BTT 5,055 5,179
129,692 322,766
The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their fair values. HiENFHNEEERE QA ABEME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

30 BANK BORROWINGS 30 $RITER

As at 31 December

BR+=—B=+-—-H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBTT

Non-current FRE
Long-term borrowing from a bank - RERITER - BRERER ()

Guaranteed and pledged (a) 240,000 —
Current E
Current portion of long-term borrowing from RESRITE R BIERL

a bank - Guaranteed and pledged (a) —EREREH () 50,000 —
Current portion of long-term borrowing from RESRITE R BIERL

a bank - Guaranteed and secured — BRE LA — 190,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from RESRITE R BIERL

a bank - Guaranteed (b) —B1R%E (b) 115,000 105,000
Short-term borrowing from a bank — RHRITRESR — BRERER(Q

Guaranteed and secured (c) 66,000 66,000
Short-term borrowing from a bank — RHRTER - BRERER ()

Guaranteed and pledged (d) 100,000 —
Short-term borrowings from banks — KEHRITESR - BRE ()

Guaranteed (e) 130,000 70,000

461,000 431,000

Total borrowings Eptik 701,000 431,000
All borrowings were denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2018 RZE-NFERZZFE—tF+=H
and 2017. =t+—H MEEFHUARKEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

30 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

(a)

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB290,000,000 was
guaranteed by the Company and was pledged by 35% of a
subsidiary’s share capital. The interest rate was based on the
directive interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China
Lhasa Central Sub-branch, which was 4.75% per annum as
at 31 December 2018 of which 2.00% interest is charged in
advance, which will be refunded when the relevant authority in
the Chinese Central government refund the interest allowances
to the lender. The tenure of the borrowing is from 8 November
2018 to 7 November 2021 and repayment terms are based
on the following schedule: repayments of RMB50,000,000,
RMB100,000,000 and RMB140,000,000 on 7 November 2019,
7 November 2020 and 29 October 2021 respectively. According
to the loan agreement, unpaid principal of RMB50,000,000
is required to be repaid on 7 November 2019. Accordingly,
borrowing amount of RMB50,000,000 was recorded as
current liability as at 31 December 2018 and amount of
RMB240,000,000 was recorded as non-current liability as at 31
December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB120,000,000 was
guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group. The interest rate
was based on the general interest rate in Tibet region, which
was 2.75% per annum as at 31 December 2018. During the
period of the loan, the interest rate will be adjusted according
to the directive interest rate published by the People’'s Bank
of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch every twelve months.
The tenure of the borrowing is from 28 April 2018 to 28
April 2020 and repayment terms are based on the following
schedule: repayments of RMB5,000,000, RMB5,000,000 and
RMB110,000,000 on 18 October 2018, 18 October 2019 and
28 April 2020 respectively. The first payment has been made by
the Group based on the contractual terms. Due to certain terms
of the borrowing agreement, the bank has the potential right
to request for repayment of the loan before the contractual
maturity dates. Accordingly, the outstanding borrowing
amounting to RMB115,000,000 was recorded as current liability
as at 31 December 2018.

The borrowing with principal amount of RMB66,000,000 was
guaranteed by the Company and secured by the Group’s factory
plant with net book value of RMB31,352,000 (Note 8) and land
use rights with net book value of RMB992,000 (Note 7). The
loan was repaid and reborrowed in 2018. The loan is at fixed
interest rate of 4.35% per annum. The tenure of the borrowing
is from 12 June 2018 to 11 June 2019.

FEMBHRRME
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

30 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(d) The borrowing with principal amount of RMB100,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary and was pledged by 5% of an
associate’s equity interests. The loan is at fixed interest rate
of 2.35% per annum. The tenure of the borrowing is from 3
September 2018 to 3 September 2019.

(e)  The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

(i)  The borrowing with principal amount of RMB80,000,000
was guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of the
Group. The loan was repaid and reborrowed in 2018. The
loan is at fixed interest rate of 4.35% per annum. The
tenure of the borrowing is from 29 June 2018 to 28 June
2019.

(i)  The borrowing with principal amount of RMB50,000,000
was guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of
the Group. The loan is at fixed interest rate of 4.35%
per annum. The tenure of the borrowing is from 25
September 2018 to 24 September 2019,

Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from current and non-
current borrowings are set out in Note 3.1.
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30 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's borrowings were repayable

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

30 RITERE)
RZE-NF+ZA=t—H %%

as follows: B EREERIIT
As at 31 December
R+=B=+-—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Within 1 year 15K 461,000 431,000
Between 1 and 2 years 1&E24F 100,000 —
Between 2 and 5 years 2ESF 140,000
701,000 431,000

31 CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT

31 ABRRESZ-REHD

As at 31 December

R+=—A=1—H
2018 2017

—E-N\E —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETFT

Non-current

Convertible bond - liability component

FRE
ABRES - AERD

= 432,340

Current

Convertible bond - liability component

nE
AR ES - REED

457,673 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RamMERRIE
31 CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED)

The Group issued 6.0% convertible bonds at a par value of
HKD525,000,000 on 24 June 2016. The Bonds mature three years
from the issue date at their nominal value of HKD525,000,000 or
can be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at the Bond
holder’s option at a price of HKD3.50 per share. The values of the
liability component and the equity conversion component were
determined at issuance date of the bonds. The Bonds are secured by
the entire issued shares of Wealth Keeper Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group and can be early redeemed upon certain
events at the option of the Bond holder or the issuer. The early
redemption options were closely related to the host contract of the
Bonds and as such they were not separated from the host debt. As
at 31 December 2018, the liability portion of the Bond amounting to
RMB457,673,000 was classified as current liability as it will mature
within the next twelve months (As at 31 December 2017, the liability
portion of the Bond amounting to RMB432,340,000 was classified as
non-current liability as it will mature after twelve months).
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CONVERTIBLE BOND — LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED) 31

The movement of convertible bond-liability component is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

TBRRES - BEHD (E)
AgRER-BESONESNT

RMB’000
ARBT R

Face value of convertible bond issued on 24 June 2016

RZE—R"ENAZTMNBET

Z AR ESEE 469,613
Transaction costs R (2,728)
Equity component et i) (18,385)
Fair value change between the commitment date and 7%1"@‘53)3&?5"_ B H 2 @

issuance date NABEZD 7,839

Liability component on initial recognition at 24 June 2016 ~ RNZ=Z— X FA=+WHAH

NTERRHREDD 456,339
Interest expense MEER 16,114
Interest paid ERHE (14,387)
Liability component at 31 December 2016 R-B-RE+=ZA=+—-H

HEEHS 458,066
Interest expense MEER 31,748
Interest paid BEASFIE (26,835)
Currency translation differences SNETE Z (30,639)
Liability component at 31 December 2017 R-B—tH+=A=+—-H

HEEHS 432,340
Interest expense (Note 35) .88 A (f43E35) 30,895
Interest paid BEASFIE (26,882)
Currency translation differences INETEERR 21,320
Liability component at 31 December 2018 R-B-NH+=ZA=+—-H

HEEHS 457,673
The fair value of the liability component of the convertible bond at 31 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H " #A#
December 2018 amounted to RMB457,195,000, which is calculated &5 & Fi THAREEAEARE
using cash flows discounted at the rate of 7.34% and are within level 457,195, 00075 B7.34% R BR
2 of the fair value hierarchy. EREFEITBEBRAABEEMRNSE 2

Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from convertible bond

are set out in Note 3.1.

B2r -

ABASE B AR R E 5 E
EHRRFIBENMES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 OTHER GAINS, NET

32

HiFE - B

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEE
2018 2017

—E2-N\fF —T—+F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
Government grants B i B
— Tax refund (a) —iEHi () 37,800 23,235
— Amortisation of deferred income — EFEU A B 2,907 1,908
Gain on disposal of FVPL (2017: AFS) (b) BRENRABETEEHES
SFABRNERMEENKR
(Z2—tF g
LREE )b) 17,591 19,604
Fair value changes on FVPL (c) IAREBETE B EEEH:TA
BRNEREENAAEBE
23 () 9,179 —
Others Hit 1,532 1,750
69,009 46,497

According to “Zang Zheng Ban[1997] No.24", “Zang Cai Qi
Zi[2010] No.93", “La Kai Cai Zhu Zi[2010] No.29", "La Kai Cai
Zhu Zi[2012] No.101", “La Jing Kai Cai Qi Zhuan[2015] No.01",
“La Kai Cai Qi Zhuan[2016] No0.91", “Support to enterprises
in Tibet Lhasa Economy and Technology Development Zone
(Temporary) No.8" and “Zang Zheng Fa[2018] No.25 Notice
for Several Regulations in relation to Attraction of Investment
in Tibet Autonomous Region (Trial Version)”, the Group is
eligible to receive subsidy income from the local government in
relation to the domestic subsidiaries’ fiscal contribution to the
local economic development as a major tax payer and employer
in Tibet. The Group recognised such income of approximately
RMB37,800,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB23,235,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

32 OTHER GAINS, NET (CONTINUED) 32 HEMRE FEE)

(b) The Group purchased financial products issued by a (b) ZAEEEAHEBEADBEEE
financial institution in the PRC. These financial products will THERER BEERNT
mature within one year with variable return rates indexed FopEEBREENREH
to the performance of the underlying assets. During the 0 BN —FREH FR -
year, the Group disposed these investments amounting to AEEREXSREARS
RMB680,000,000 (2017: RMB570,000,000), which resulted in a 680,000,000 T(= & — £ F :
gain amounting to RMB17,591,000 (2017: RMB19,604,000). A R #570,000,0007T ) * #75

AR#17,591,000( = —+
F: AR#19,604,0007T) 80

o

Bl

() The amounts include the following items: () SHEBENATIHAR:

- As at 31 December 2018, the Group held structured - RZZE-NHE+ZH
financial products amounting to RMB170,000,000, which =t+—HBH ' AEEEEF
is accounted as FVPL. The related fair value gains of EEESRERARE
RMB4,959,000 were recognised for the year. 170,000,0007C + A B& %1

BUARBEIEERS
PHABRNOREE -
ERIRRIAL A A4 B Bk
w AR#4,959,0007T °

- The Group recorded fair value gain of RMB4,220,000 from - REEZZT-N\F+=A
investment in GT Express for the year ended 31 December =+t-BLEFEE &%
2018 based on the fair value implied by the latest fund EEBEHENKREHR
raising of GT Express from the external investors. BRAREERRZARE

4,220,0007C © IR R F
VEREMEINREEE
BEEeHEZAREBA

| A
=T HE o
Al
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 EXPENSES BY NATURE

33

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution costs,

administrative expenses and net impairment losses on financial assets

are analysed as follows:

BEHEETNER

BREEEKRKN  HERDHER 17
BERLEMEERERRFENE

AT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2018

2017

—B-N\F —T—+F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
Raw materials and consumables used FTER IR M R R FEM 284,105 271,650
Decrease/(Increase) in the balances of EXRMERGTERES
inventories of finished goods and md /(&)
work in progress 2,083 (32)
Transportation costs BRI 72,676 75,091
Depreciation of PP&E (Note 8) W - BB REETE(HES) 56,470 55,077
Employee benefit expenses (Note 34) EERNER(ME34) 82,587 74,841
Advertising and marketing expenditure EERTinEEER 17,409 19,760
City construction tax and education surcharge #MERE RKBHMNE 16,566 16,632
Electricity and other utility expenses BHREMEEIRE R 17,834 17,651
Rental expenses HeER 2,200 3,433
Legal and other consulting services fee FEMEAM AR ER 10,517 8,192
Repair and maintenance BERRE 2,750 2,807
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 7) T Hb(E AR (P 7) 724 724
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) B EESHE (M) 22,118 22,086
Auditor’s remuneration ZEE I 2
~ Audit services — iR 6,586 6,586
- Non-audit services —IEEH IR — 800
Exploration rights expenses REEER 500 500
Office and consumption expenses MARHEER 3,988 4,982
Provision for impairment of trade receivables JEWE 5 ZURE A (K7 13)
(Note 13) 1,795 —
Provision for impairment of inventories FERERRE(HE18)
(Note 18) 230 —
Others Hith 6,480 4,921
607,618 585,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

34 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 34 EERFEHR

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEE
2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Wages and salaries TERHS 67,048 62,531
Provision for medical and BEREMES RN EE
other employee benefits 4,693 3,873
Contributions to defined contribution RERTERKREETEER ()
pension scheme (a) 6,670 4,940
Contributions to the housing scheme (b) FEREFEIEF (b) 4,176 3,497
82,587 74,841
(@) Pension scheme (a) Bk&:rE

The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension
insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual basis. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(b) Housing scheme

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the
Group is required to make contributions to the Chinese state-
sponsored housing fund at 10% of the salaries of the PRC
employees. At the same time, the employees are also required
to make a contribution at 10% of their salaries out of their
payroll. The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of

the fund under certain specified withdrawal circumstances.

(b)

AEERRES  AHEERADE
BRRARSRBETEE L -
WZEELBREHEENAAE
EERAHERATHHEARE
BIRBAAGHNEMN  ARETE
E—FEREEERETRE
HEN 2 R RER AR E RN
X BN HEREARGRLR S
FERMFBDHOBER T HERD
BE -

EE8

BEFEEIESEREER
AEBENBERPEEEF &M
10% M EHFEZNESE R
BeELER - RE - BERN
BREFSFIRMI0%EAM
H-HEETHTERBET  EBEH
BERI2ENEEAELHET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE
34 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 3 EERANERE)
(0)  Five highest paid individuals (0 IEESFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the rEEAEEREERFMAL
Group for the year include four (2017: three) directors whose BENEZ(ZE—tF:=4)&
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 45. 2 BENMe S R4S
The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2017: 2NMANTRE - REEER K
two) individuals during the year are as follows: ENTES—B(ZE—t5F:
ma)EATHMeNT
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\fF —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Basic salaries and allowances BEARE & MOEBL 1,166 2,294
Contribution to pension scheme RARESFT AR 15 16
Bonuses TE4T 93 86
1,274 2,396
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MENTIUTEE :
Number of individuals
AE
Emolument bands e E
HKD 1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 /7% 1,500,000 % 7T
(approximately RMB844,001 to (HJAR 844,001 TE
RMB1,265,000) ANE#1,265,0007T) — 2
HKD 1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 /870 % 2,000,000 %8 7T
(approximately RMB1,265,001 to (HAREE1,265,001 TE
RMB1,687,000) AR# 1,687,000 7T) 1 —
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35 FINANCE COSTS, NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35

FEMBHRRME

MBEM P8

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-HLEFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFIT

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net EH(BX), e 8 (556) 3,998
Interest costs on bank borrowings BITEFFEER (14,107) (12,861)
Interest costs on convertible bond (Note 31)  FJ#EESEMEBRA(MEE31) (30,895) (31,748)
Other finance costs Hi 8% & F (106) (202)
(45,664) (40,813)

Amount capitalised (a) B &% (a) 3,559 2,611
Finance costs MEER (42,105) (38,202)
Finance income - interest income B — FI B WA 31,855 27,957
Finance costs, net BEER BE (10,250) (10,245)

(@) Interest of RMB3,559,000 has been capitalised in assets under
construction for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB2,611,000). Interest was capitalised at the weighted
average rate of its general borrowings of 3.40% per annum

(2017: 2.44% per annum).

BE-—ZT-\+=ZA=+—H
EFE - 7B AR3,559,000
TZTE -+ F: ARK
2,611,000 0) BEERLEEET
REE o FISR—RETMETE
BEFE340% (ZT—t5F:
FREK2.44%)EARL,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 36 FIEBER
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated NTREGEBERAANMEHE
statement of profit or loss represents: FReE

Year ended 31 December

BZt-A=1+-ALEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR ARBFT

Current income tax 2 HIPER 37,962 43,010
Deferred income tax credit (Note 25) EERTEHEE (M5 25) (3,260) (2,157)
Income tax expense FTiSii & 34,702 40,853
The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the REBOBRAERAFEFTHNHIE
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as BRARNEKAZEN R ESLHNIER
follows: SR AT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t-ALFE

2018 2017
sS85l -
RMB'000 RMB'000
tagd T

Profit before income tax K BT 1S3 A1 F) 352,234 408,527
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 15% AT E 15% st EHFH 1B 52,835 61,279
Preferential tax rates on income of ETEEEROBAMESR

certain group entities (a) ME R X (a) (25,688) (28,329)
Income not subject to tax BARBBA (1,795) (2,523)
Tax losses of certain group entities for which W EHERIELEFHIBEEDN

no deferred tax assets were recognised ETSEEROBEER 1,498 2,347
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TRHNHER 5,352 8,079
Withholding tax from distribution of HEINT B AR D BB FIFTEE

profits by a PRC subsidiary EIEMH 2,500 —
Income tax expense FriEHER 34,702 40,853
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37

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The weighted average tax rate was 9.9% for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: 10.0%).

(@) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under
current laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no income,
estate, corporation, capital gains or other taxes payable by the
Company. The group entities established under the International
Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands are
exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC
enterprise income tax. Major operational entities of the Group
are located in Tibet and were entitled to preferential income
tax rate. Based on the tax ruling announced by the PRC central
tax authorities, the corporate income tax rate of Lhasa is 9%
for the years from 2015 to 2021. From 2022 onwards, the
corporate income tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no
further announcement from the PRC central tax authorities is
made. The remaining entities incorporated in the PRC were
taxed based on the income tax rate of 25% for the year ended
31 December 2018 (2017: 25%) as determined in accordance
with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations. The
relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the
expected tax rates applicable in the future. Hong Kong profits
tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, basic earnings per share is
calculated by dividing:

. the profit attributable to owners of the Company

FEMBHRRME

36 FTEBIBR(Z)
BE-_ZT-N\E+_-_A=+—H1It#F
B MEFHHREREII%(ZT—+
£:10.0%) °

(@ ARXENFSHESEMKL - 1R
BRSHERTER  AOFM
BEMRAMEH  EER 2
AR BB MR -
RERBRAHESNEREBL
AVERLH S BB BERRHN
RERUBENMENR

TR I EEE BB
MPBIREREN ARE
RAREEZLEERZXMEN
BEHE  REPEH B
BMAMOREHRN - NEND
EMBERRER_T—H1FZE
R —FARI% 8T -
FRe - R B R
E—FS DM RARMDER
BRMEBIRET15% - L&
RAEBEEMKINEBREES
- \F+_A=Z+—HLFE
BRSO B ETE TR A kAR
Bl 25% MFTBEHE(ZT—+
F 1 25%)#W o HEIEETIA
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RTUFE - EBAEHOR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 37 BRERNE)

(@) Basic earnings per share (continued) (a) BREXERRE)
e by the weighted average number of ordinary shares s RUBRFEAESZITLA

BRI NEFHE - TBIE
W15 82 B &1 2145 B MR (D
(BfzE23) »

outstanding during the financial year, excluding the shares
held for share award scheme (Note 23).

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+t-HLEE
2018

—E-N\fF
Profit attributable to owners of RABEE AEIGFE
the Company (RMB'000) (ARETTT) 317,532 315,174
Weighted average number of BEITE BRI METS
ordinary shares in issue (thousands) AT 2,503,421 2,557,839
Earnings per share (basic and diluted) BREM(EXREE)
(RMB cents per share) (BRARES) 12.68 12.32
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BREBEEAN

BREBERADERABRERITYE
AR T BUA R R BT
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The AEENENEE LT BRMET
o ARRIBEBBEL AR : B

FRAZTEAETH
ARRES - RZT—-N\F ' &

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to

Company has potential ordinary shares, from the convertible
bond issued on 24 June 2016. During the year 2018, when the
convertible bond is assumed to have converted into ordinary

[1m )

ES AN

shares since 1 January 2018, the calculated diluted earnings per
share is more than the basic earnings per share. As such, the
convertible bond is determined to be anti-dilutive and not to be
included in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share.

RABKREZFE T \F—A
—HEERSTER  FESK
BERNERNERELRRN -
Bt - AR ES R EE AR

BER - ATEBREERNEL
REtA e

38 DIVIDENDS 38 RE

ARAEENRE_Z-N\FRE(Z
T—t5F &)  FARERMERR

H o
o

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2018
(2017: nil). No dividend was paid during the year.
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39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

39 RETHEENES

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1+-HLEE

2018

2017

—E-N\E B 3
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Profit before income tax BTSRRI FIE 352,234 408,527
Adjustments for: RE
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 7) i AR (fTRE7) 724 724
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) B EEEHE(HE9) 22,118 22,086
Depreciation of PP&E (Note 8) Mm% - BERZETE(MES) 56,470 55,077
Deferred income credited to statement of BERBRRNETRA (:E32)
profit or loss (Note 32) (2,907) (1,908)
Finance cost, net (Note 35) UHER  FE(HFE3S) 10,250 10,245
Share of profit of associates (Note 12) JEIEEE & AR A (B 12) (20,436) (26,089)
Loss from acquisition of a subsidiary RE-ZXHBLARNER 282 —
Gain on disposal of FVPL (2017: AFS) RENAABENEAHEZHFA
(Note 19 & 32) E*Eﬁﬁﬂﬁ?ﬂﬁuﬁzﬁ
(Z2—t5F : THHEESREE)
(Mﬁw & 32) (17,591) (19,604)
Fair value gains of FVPL (Note 19 & 32) WARBEFEREESH ABEN
CREENALBERS
(Bi5£19 & 32) (9,179) —
Impairment of trade receivables EWE 5 RRE 1,795 -
Impairment of inventories RERE 230 —
Operating profit before working EELLRBAINCERT
capital changes 393,990 449,058
Increase in inventories FEEN (23,777) (8,097)
Increase in trade receivables FEE S 308 m (56,541) (41,213)
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments, BRFERLMEREM) R
other receivables (35,365) 61,035
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and notes payable ENE ST REGEECRD),/ BN (5,519) 14,786
(Decrease)/Increase in accruals and other payables TBIRB R L EMEMZ R ) /1210 (21,398) 30,404
(Decrease)/Increase in deferred revenue and ERRARBREERCRD),/ %0
advances received from customers (4,025) 12,788
Cash generated from operations KETHELNAS 247,365 518,761
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 39 RETHELENREE)
Significant non-cash transaction BR¥RERS
During the year ended 31 December 2018, amounts due from a HE-_ZTZ-NF+ZA=+—H
related party of RMB214,644,000 were offset against amounts LEE BREABEIFTRBARE
due to a third party for the same amount based on the settlement 214,644 000 CERERAEE - £
agreements among the Group, the third party and the related party. =HRBEMANEREBENRERKE

BENE=7FERE -

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in AERHFEHFEND T RE 25 H
net debt for each of the periods presented. RERFENEE -

Net debt 2018 2017
s —E-/\F S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT NS

Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 277,152 830,773
Borrowings — repayable within one year R — AR —FANEEZ(FFE30)

(Note 30) (461,000) (431,000)
Borrowings — repayable after one year R — AR —F & EEZ (M 30)

(Note 30) (240,000) —
Convertible bond - liability component ABkES - AEBS (HE31)

(Note 31) (457,673) (432,340)
Net debt BFE (881,521) (32,567)
Cash and liquid investments BeRRBigs 277,152 830,773
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BB — [E T &=

(Note3.1 (a)(ii)) (Fﬁ?3 1 (a)ii)) (753,673) (568,340)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BEISBEE — FE)F XK (405,000) (295,000)
Net debt BFE (881,521) (32,567)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

39 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 39 RETHEENES(E)

Other
assets  Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE MEEDELNER
Cash Borrowings Borrowings
and cash due within  due after

equivalents 1 year 1 year Convertible
RER R1ER R1E# bond Total
REEEY IENER DANEYR TERES #ct
RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB‘000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR%®TR ARETR AR¥ETR ARET:R

Net debt as at R-E-AE+ZAH

31 December 2016 =t+-ANEKFE 1,042,398 (456,000) (190,000) (458,066) (61,668)
Cash flows Bene (192,806) 227,861 — 26,835 61,890
Foreign exchange adjustments  [& 5 f1% (18,819) — — 30,639 11,820
Other non-cash movements HER 2R —  (202,861) 190,000 (31,748) (44,609)
Net debt as at R-Z-t&+=A

31 December 2017 Zt+-BNERFE 830,773 (431,000 —  (432,340)  (32,567)
Net debt as at RZE—t&+=H

31 December 2017 =t+-ANEKFE 830,773 (431,000) = (432,340) (32,567)
Cash flows Bene (555,822) (15,892) (240,000) 26,882 (784,832)
Foreign exchange adjustments  [& L f1% 2,201 — — (21,320) (19,119)
Other non-cash movements HER 2R — (14,108) — (30,895) (45,003)
Net debt as at R-ZE-N\&E+=AH

31 December 2018 =t+-BNERFE 277,152 (461,000)  (240,000)  (457,673)  (881,521)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

(9

40 AEHNHAREE

Capital commitments (a) BEARMEE
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, capital expenditures RZBE-NFRZZE—tF+=
contracted for but not yet incurred were as follows: A=+—H EEQENKEE
ZERREZMT -
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment ER B 73,109 116,904
Equity investment BHRE 197,600 13,000
270,709 129,904
Operating lease commitments (b) REHEAR
The Group leases offices and plant under non-cancellable REERBENATHUENEEHA
operating lease agreements. The future aggregate minimum MARREREE o L TRAA
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as BURRZLHEE T KRR &K
follows: T
As at 31 December
R+=-A=+—-H
2018 2017
—E-N\& —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBFTT
Within 1 year 1ELAR 578 1,079
More than 1 year but within 5 years 1854 — 528
578 1,607
Contingent liabilities (0 HAREE

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2018
and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the
other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they
are subject to common control.

(@) Transactions with related parties

FEMBHRRME

BELIRS
BRI T RIBBE IR G S — T R AL B

&

RERRBNERTENAL -

HEHRHIE 58 IR R S R

(a)

HEBLNRS

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+-ALFE
2018 2017
S8l
RMB'000 RMB'000
agd T

Revenue from RETHIFIEHBA
- Leasing of a production line to —HELER T HBZEDF()

an associate (i) 2,063 2,051
- Selling of bottle preforms and caps to —HERAFIRE T — &

an associate (i) kNN () 102,453 100,648
- Selling of mineral water products to ~ —$#HEBRKER T —HEE QA

an associate — 884
Purchase of HE
— Goods from an associate (i) —m—fEEERARREEY() = 331
Cash advance to an associate (i) B —RHBEARAIESBR() 170,000 30,000
Loan to an associate (ii) BT —RBLRBEF (i)

22,000 —

(i)  These were the transactions between the Group and
Highland Natural Water, an associate of the Group. The
transactions were based on agreed terms between both
parties.

(i)  This was the transaction between the Group and Fudi
Packaging, an associate of the Group. The transaction was
based on agreed terms between both parties.

() BLAAKERFZREXA
KAREOBERE) 2
F'EJE!’J* cRERHIE
TR KO 05 165 2 O R K
f7e

B

i3

(i) EATEEHEBHBE(R
SEMBE DR ZEHR
5 ZRHDERITNE
77 3 TE BT o

BEREKEFERAT | £/ 2018




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 4 BBMAEXRZ(E)
(b) Balances with related parties: (b) EHEAEER MYAERR
The balances with related parties are as follows: ERAME T RS ERIO T ¢

As at 31 December

R+t=—A=+-8

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR ARBFT

Trade receivables due from associates  EUWEZ R AlHEKRE HR
(Note 13) (FzE13) — 6,367

As at 31 December
R+t=—B=+-—H

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥T R AREFTT

Other receivables A e UK
- An associate - Highland Natural Water —B& A7 — = RAAKKIE17)

(Note 17) — 30,000
- An associate - Fudi Packaging —BENR R BE(ME17)

(Note 17) 22,877 —

22,877 30,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

41 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 41 BHBAIRB(E)
(b)  Balances with related parties: (continued) (b) EHEREERMAEERR (&)

As at 31 December

®t=A=+-A

2018 2017

—z- N5 [
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARBTT

Contract liabilities aRAE
- An associate - Tibet 5100 — BN A — PR 51001k AL
Cosmetic Co., Ltd. (i) BRAR() 371 371
- An associate - Highland Natural Water —Ef& A 5] — @ RAAK 63 —
434 371
() Tibet 5100 Cosmetic Co., Ltd. ("5100 Cosmetic”) is an () FEREI51001LARBRAF
entity controlled by a major individual shareholder. (I51001ctzm ) B —%
FTEFAARREHNELE
(0 Key management compensation (0 XEEBEASHRM
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown B/ BN EEEE A B KR
below: 25T
Year ended 31 December
BZE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2018 2017
—E_N\& —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFTT
Salaries and other short-term e REMBEREERET
employee benefits 11,949 11,118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RamMERRIE
42 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

43

On 16 December 2015, the Company granted 25,200,000 of share
options to China Distribution, a customer of the Group. Under
the agreement, China Distribution has the right to purchase up to
25,200,000 ordinary shares of the Company at the price of HKD3.00
per share within 10 years from 1 January 2016 if certain performance
conditions are met by China Distribution during the vesting period
from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.

The vesting of the share options is conditional, subject to the
achievement of the prescribed sale and performance targets by China
Distribution within three years commencing from 1 January 2016.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or
settle the options in cash. As at 31 December 2018, none of the
share options was exercisable.

The Company determined that the above share option scheme
was a sales incentive to its customer — China Distribution. As at
31 December 2018, China Distribution did not meet the vesting
conditions. Accordingly, no debit of revenue was recorded for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil) relating to the sales
incentive under the above share option scheme.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 18 February 2019, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water, a subsidiary of the
Group, entered into a share purchase agreement with Tibet Everest
to purchase 70% equity shares of Tibet Yuanzheng at the price of
RMB117,600,000. After the transaction, Tibet Yuanzheng became
a subsidiary of the Group. Tibet Yuanzheng is in the business of
manufacturing and distribution of packing materials, such as cartons
and paper boxes. It is a major supplier for the Group.
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42

43

BRpEESM

R-ZZE-—RE+-A+~B A2
ARPECEREERR,)RDE
25,200,000 17 B AR HE © RIR 3% - fiw
BEZZ—X"F—A—HBZZZ—N\
F+-—A=Zt+—BILMERBHEAS
ECEERTETRREE BB
- F-A—HRBHTFAR " *H
BELEEENSR300BTNERR
AN AR % 25,200,000 AL AL o

BRENBEBYTECENE-F
—RE-A-HRBRN=FREE
EHEMERB RS HRITORR

AKBYELIENETES  UHE
MEREELERE - R_F—/\F
TZA=1—R  BEELREETE

AREH ERBRETIET YA
EE-PECENHERR - N-F
—N\FE+ZA=t—0B PELEY
ERERBIGMS - Bt RBE-F
—NEt-A=t—HIEFELEHK
ABR bt B i i w81 0R T 10 35 & R
BANBAER(ZE—tF: &) -

EEEBRAHEEE
RZZE-—NFZA+N\B  XEEH
&2 B E K| B8 ROK B R e T
VERHEERE  BEABELET0%
ke B A ARM®117,600000
TLo RHTME - AREMEKARSE
BHMBEAR AREIENERES
BEMBNRENDHERE - TEA
SEMEEHES -



44 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

44 FRFEERBERRARED

As at 31 December

R+t=A=+-H

2018 2017
—E-N\F =+
Balance sheet of the Company Note RMB’000 RMB'000
ARAREEEEXR BisE ARET T ARETIT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Loans to subsidiaries ERTHEBRAR 1,503,478 1,402,160
1,503,478 1,402,160
Current assets RBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReEEY 1,310 55,375
Prepayment BRIE 444 395
Other receivables H b eI R — 38,389
1,754 94,159
Total assets MEE 1,505,232 1,496,319
Equity and liabilities EEkEaE
Equity attributable to owners EAREEAEMLESR
of the Company
Share capital (e 21,363 21,363
Share premium B m(E 1,206,829 1,206,829
Shares held for share award scheme B R EIE BN RG (173,037) (158,868)
Other reserves HifEE (a) 72,244 31,948
Accumulated deficits 2R E A (a) (85,489) (42,690)
Total equity EReE 1,041,910 1,058,582
Liabilities &
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Convertible bond-liability component  A[# & E%A — B EHH — 432,340
— 432,340
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables HibERF 5,649 5,397
Convertible bond-liability component — A[# & E%A —BEHH 457,673 —
463,322 5,397
Total liabilities BEHAE 463,322 437,737
Total equity and liabilities EnRkEeEes 1,505,232 1,496,319

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of

Directors on 22 March 2019 and was signed on its behalf.

WANG Dong £X
Director %

EEeERN_ZE-NF=ZB_-+_-H
WEARREEEBRIREET -

LIU Chen 8 &
Director E%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 44 EQAREEEBRKREEERS£Z)
(CONTINUED)

(@) Reserve movement of the Company (a) ADTREEEH

Accumulated Other
deficits reserves

Rt B4 Hitvf#
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBET R

At 1 January 2017 NZE—+%F—HA—H (5,268) 110,693
Loss for the year FEEE (37,422) -
Currency translation differences SN E =R — (78,745)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2EER) WaesE (42,690) 31,948
At 31 December 2017 R-B—-t&+=-A=+—-H (42,690) 31,948
At 1 January 2018 RZZ2—N&—HA—H (42,690) 31,948
Loss for the year FEBIE (42,799) —
Currency translation differences SNEITE R — 40,296
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(ER) WaEs (85,489) 72,244
At 31 December 2018 R=ZB-N\E+ZA=+—H (85,489) 72,244
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

45 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 45 EBEFEARER
(A) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (A) EZRTFETBAEME
The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for BEERTETHAEHE_Z
the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below: —NFE+ZA=+—HILFEH

FINESIT

Employer's
contribution
to benefit
Discretionary scheme  Allowance
Salary bonuses EEX@EF and benefits Total
Name i e B SRt RMREN st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETR AR®TR ARWTxR

Mr. Wang Dong ITHREE 1,265 — — 6 1,271
Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen BB G 1,570 — — 219 1,789
Mr. Yue Zhigiang EEREAE 1,265 — — — 1,265
Mr. Liu Chen Aska 1,063 85 15 — 1,163
Mr. Wong Hak Kun Irgkst 1,265 — 15 — 1,280
Ms. Han Linyou B L 1,063 85 15 — 1,163
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong FEI 7T 840 — - — 840
Mr. Wei Cheng, Kevin Rl 470 — — — 470
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FEERE 470 — — — 470

9,271 170 45 225 9,711
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 45 EEEAREDSE)
(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) (A) EBRFETHRAEME(Z)
The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for BEERFETHRABHEZE-Z
the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out below: —tE+ZA=T—HILFEN
RS T

Employer's
contribution
to benefit

Discretionary scheme  Allowance

Salary bonuses  EEMEF and benefits Total

Name 4 o BBt SEIfER BB RAER hy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTr ARETr ARETT ARET:

Mr. Wang Dong (i) FREA() 759 — — — 759
Mr. Fu Lin (ii) I (i) 712 — — — 712
Mr. Yue Zhigiang EEMEE 1,127 — — — 1,127
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBEI T 433 — — — 433
Mr. Liu Chen AREE 1,040 83 16 — 1,139
Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen BRREEE 1,430 — — 221 1,651
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FEERE 416 — — — 416
Mr. Wei Cheng, Kevin LA 416 — — — 416
Mr. Wong Hak Kun Ingkst 1,300 — 16 — 1316
Ms. Han Linyou (iii) B (i) 607 49 9 — 665
8,240 132 41 221 8,634
() Appointed as the director on 29 May 2017 and the chief )y RZE—tFRA-TNH
executive officer of the Company on 18 August 2017. BEZEAREER_-F
—tFNATN\BEZE
BN RITHAEE, -
(i) Resigned on 18 August 2017. iy RZTE—+ENAT+N\H
BT -
(i) Appointed on 29 May 2017. (i) PZZE—+FRB_-TAh
BEZT -
There was no remuneration, inducement fee, or compensation HE_ZE-N\EE_Z—+F
for loss of office to Directors during the year ended 31 +ZA=+—HLtEE  #ER
December 2018 and 2017. EEXfEAwee  ZEIENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(B)

©

(D)

(E)

(F)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
(2017: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director's services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor are any payable (2017: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2017: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2017: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2017: nil).

45

FEMBHRRME

EEENRERE)

(B)

(@

(D)

(E)

(F)

EERAREN
BE-Z-/\5t-A=1—H
L5E BEERIFENES
TR S AR i AN S B 2 AR IR
BN TEREERELAEHEA
ARSEMBARZEHEEN
Hit IR M EE R H RGN
(ZT—tF:8)-

ESRILERN
(2T - N\F+=-ZA=+—H
HEE BEREERBELE
BB ESIRNHER R
FIESEN - EFMEERE
FEMEEAERF(ZE—+
F:M|)o

RESREaQE=FRHENKE

BE-F-/\Ft-A=1-8
LERE - URREERBASS
BRERE - E=H TR
B-F—t% 8

ﬁﬁﬂﬁ?‘%?Zmﬁﬂ%H
FRAEERASRANER
EXRHMBRZNER
BMENES - é%Zx?ﬁi.
LBAEERAXEANEN
ERSEMRFH(ZE— ti
m)o

EENRS  THAEHNEKX
R
RERSINFEREAERE - BIE
FEANRMERFIN T BARAT
EENETHRBEAER(TH
BERSEE ) NEEEEKEH
MEARS  THEEH(ZE
—tF |
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

L EHBEHME

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t-HL#FE

2016 2015
—T-h%

Profitability data BRgE

(RMB million) (AR®BEER)
Revenue WA 881 932 868 832 773
Gross profit e 480 551 520 502 484
Operating profit e 342 393 393 363 460
Profit for the year EEME 318 368 359 323 385
Profitability data (%) BFIHE (%)
Gross profit margin EME 55% 59% 60% 60% 63%
Operating profit margin EAFIER 39% 42% 45% 44% 60%
Net profit margin NP 36% 39% 41% 39% 50%
Return on total shareholders’ equity % F i % 48 %8 [0 3 X 9% 12% 10% 10% 13%
Assets and liabilities data EEHGSEYE

(RMB million) (ARBEET)
Non-current assets FRBEE 3,278 2,907 2,880 2,635 2,215
Current assets TENEE 1,635 1,642 1,938 1,025 1,221
Current liabilities nBaE 1,177 901 631 403 327
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 276 473 693 60 158
Equity attributable to owners ARAEBA

of the Company G R 3,459 3,174 3,123 2,878 2,678
Assets and Working Capital data EEMABELEHE
Current assets ratios MEBEEL X 33% 36% 40% 28% 36%
Gearing ratios BRBRELE 25% 21% 24% 6% 6%
Note: MsE -

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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